PROGRESS

through Cooperation,

JOIN FORCES

to Excel
BHEE B EE

AR

COFCO

Chinese Olympic Committee Official Partner

TEREZSEKE

China Foods Limited
FERmARAA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REFEIMRIZERATE)

(Stock Code B A 55 : 506)

B ey
Leconle

Annual Report 2012
F I



China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) and listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 506). The primary business of the Company includes
beverage, wine, kitchen food and confectionery. The Company is committed to providing consumers with nutritious,
healthy, delicious and quality food. Currently, the Company’s product portfolio includes a number of well-known
brands, such as “Greatwall” wine, “f@E&F9” consumer-pack edible oil, “Le conté” chocolate and “EA£"” Shaoxing
rice wine. As a strategic partner of The Coca-Cola Company in China, the Company also bottles and distributes
Coca-Cola beverages.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
2012HEIBEmMAE—E

JANUARY 1 H

China Foods’ cross-product category nationwide sales and distribution platform formally commenced operation.

PERBERBRES T A EARGAERE -

In order to further analyze the flow of products within channels and formulate product strategies, a total of 488
distributors installed the Distributor Management System (DMS) in 2012, covering approximately 55% of sales
volume. In 2012, the DMS system data upload rate reached 92%, and its data accuracy rate was 72%.

RE— TN MERMARBERMGEEMRE - 2012F K F 48 REHATERINLE DMS R4 - (GIHELLEY
55% * 20124F DMS & HEXKZER|92% - BUREMEKT72% °

MARCH 3 A

China Foods’ 2012 Annual Managers’ Meeting was held to further strengthen unity and teamwork under the
new structure.

FERM2012LIEAFERERTT - E—TERBBEFNRE TOEGS R IBIE -

According to the sales statistics of the 20th Nationwide Major Large-
scale Retail Enterprises for 2011, Greatwall ranked first in terms of overall
market share in 2011, maintaining its leading position in the market for
nine consecutive years (2003-2011).

0115 E (F-tfE) 2EEHANTELXARHEERTER] B
o RBAEERNINFEAHEEATSRAGEARE L WEE
A& (2003-2011) HEBRBEMMGHREIEBRFE AL -

APRIL 4 A

Greatwall Chateau Sungod sponsored the Boao Forum for the fourth time
and became the sole designated wine brand of Boao Forum for Asia in
2012. A specialised product was launched for the Boao Forum. It was the
first time the PRC wine industry has launched a specialised product in
collaboration with the most important international event in the PRC.

ERKRTERBENEEFEETMNGRE  KAE2012FK—EER

BF XYRHNELEERESNSEBER - GRTEBEEETEE R
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
2012 EIRMAE—E

APRIL 4 A

Greatwall Terroir Special Selection Merlot / Cabernet Sauvignon
has been awarded as a Gold Prize Winner in the 5th Asian Wine
Competition.

REREEEFABEERY, FERTAGEBREENE
TMEEEEERESHE -

1506, a business reform IT project of China Foods incorporating Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP), Customer
Relationship Management (CRM) and Business Process Management (BPM), was launched to improve management
efficiency and productivity. In April 2012, 1506 was selected as the best industry practice for business reform of “New
State-owned Enterprises” by IBM Global Business Services and IBM Institute of Business Value.

"Bl R % ERP+CRM+BPM 2758 % [TIHE — 150678 B L4 - 2ERFAEIZMERAMIMEL « 20124 4 A 1506 E A
& IBM 2IREEFHARS M IBMEAXEER R RERD - KA [#HEE] EBEENTERERE -

JUNE6 H

COFCO became a partner of the Chinese Olympic Committee and the
Chinese Sports Delegation for the period from 2012 to 2019. A record
number of contracts were entered into between the parties to supply
nearly 1,000 products under 13 categories of 36 brands,including
Greatwall wines, Fortune kitchen foods, Cereal Way instant foods,
Le conté chocolates, Merveille candies and Lohas honey and cereal
products.

RSB A2012-2019F P RIRE® - MEBAERREAER
e RRFASREREEFAEE  REMABERR - ARES
BRM - &FHRI  XBERR - HUERERZERERR - F
REBET 1I3EARRER - 36 AR MmmERT 1,000 EEm °

Greatwall wine received the 4th annual “China’s Industry Iconic
Brand” award, which further consolidated Greatwall wine's
leading position in the industry.

AR

N A
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
20124 BRMAE—E

JUNE 6 A

Foundation laying ceremony of the COFCO Greatwall Winery
(Xinjiang) Co., Ltd.

PREENEEE (8) ARAREREAFIEE -

Greatwall Terroir Art Journey themed "Arts, Design and Life"
program was launched in Beijing, Shanghai, Suzhou, Wuhan and
Shenzhen. Mr. Tao Dongdong, a renowned artist, was invited to
design the "Terroir ® Impression" label for the limited edition of
Greatwall Terroir Dry Red Wine.

RRABBEEILR - £E &M - U RYISHESEHED
[EMRETAE] 2BEMRED - YEFIBFERBMRHELILE
£ BRERARBABERERERFAERTAAEERET CRE o
EIg) iR

AUGUST 8 A

Greatwall Cup Wine Tasting Competition was held in collaboration
with Beijing Federation of Trade Unions (At 2T 42 T &). More than
400 practitioners from the wine industry rivaled against wine fans,
and three winners will represent China at RVF European Cup Wine
Taster Championship, contending against their counterparts from
France, Spain and other traditional wine-producing countries. The
Greatwall Cup Wine Tasting Competition successfully became a
platform for competition among expert wine tasters in the PRC
and was the first contest for wine tasters in the PRC.

REAEEHAILRmATERN [ REAFEN | RBMAE -
A0 NAEETEREAERBBDEEFER BB » 3B
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
2012F B EmMAE—8

SEPTEMBER 9 A

Greatwall wine won various important awards including the
Hua Zun Cup “No. 1 Brand Value in the Grape Wine Category”, the
“Top 10 Most Competitive Chinese Liquor and Wine Brand” and the
“Top 10 Philanthropic Chinese Liquor and Wine Brand”, maintaining
its position as the indisputable leader in the PRC wine industry.

RpAeBREEEN (AR EEREEES ] [PEESRT
AREEEHBEFNRE] R [HEER+AZREE M TEE
RIE - BEAETFENEDERTERBEETE -

Greatwall’'s chief winemaker Mr. Michel Rolland’s signature wine
series were launched.

R ERERERRBRN R R R ER LT -

OCTOBER 10 A

Greatwall Chateau Huaxia Red Wine 2009 of the Greatwall
International Chateau Alliance's Chief Winemaker Wine Series
won the gold prize of 2012 China Competition for Good Value
International Wines from Famous Regions.

R EREHE G B E SR R E BB 2009470 T
AL RE (201 2BREmERBEE (TE) SEXE| 8-
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
2012FBIRBAE—B

OCTOBER 10 A

In October 2012, the Mobile Customer Management (MCM) promoter monitoring module has been put into trial
operation in the Beijing sales region. The launch of MCM marked a breakthrough in points-of-sales data management
and a new era for promoter management, retail execution and information feedback.

2012410 A - MCM BB EGRIBAIL RHE - MCM RGN LR - BEREH T AAEEREBERTERETA
HZRAY - BB REIE - EHATIEERBEEA —E2HEL -

The beverage business unit launched its ESSS project, which enabled automatic loading, electronic receipt
confirmation, automatic settlement and electronic signature management, in an effort to reduce cash transactions,
improve management efficiency and lower business risk exposure.

I EEEPESSSIAR L4 - BBETRRHERODEE TR ADHENEFHRERE - BLRERS
RAEENE  EXEBRR -

NOVEMBER 11 H

To improve business management under the new organizational structure, four regional management centers (Eastern,
Southern, Western and Northern), were established to improve the speed of decision-making and ability to serve
customers better.

TRERMEANBESRNEHARERES  RUEEHER  BORRBMEMEA TR - RILE
Mo dEmEEERL

DECEMBER 12 H

“Fortune” was nominated as one of the “Top 50 Most Valuable Chinese
Brands” by BrandZ for three consecutive years.

[1EERFT ] EEE =F N3& [BrandZ X EBEFEME 50548 ]
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
2012F B EmAE—

DECEMBER 12 A

“Fortune” brand was granted “China Food Safety Tenth Annual Conference Outstanding Contribution Award” by the
eight ministries, including the Ministry of Agriculture.

[tEiRFT] MRS T REME \ANBEZEE [FHETERAREFEREAERME] -

China Foods won the Channel Advancement Award ((RiE1&# 4) at the “Golden Bell Awards” sponsored by Horizon
China for its success in responding to market needs by transforming its single category business unit model into a
cross-product category and multi-brand channel structure.

TRRMETHMAHASEINNTHRE (K8 - RIBEMSEFER  BURBKRAREINEE RS
mif - TmEERRRBERSDHRERE  RERBIFEE]-

China Foods’ “Win the Future Together” Partners Summit was held
to strengthen the cooperation with distributors and build a successful
future together.

FERMIAL BT BAK] AEBHEASER  REEHEBEAR
A AR - BEHEBHARAKE -

The Product Life Cycle Management (PLM) System was launched into trial operation. This is a breakthrough in
research and development management system of China Foods. Phase one of PLM R&D project management will
be implemented in the confectionery business. If proven successful, it will be deployed to other product categories
in 2013.

PLM (EmEmBERERE) %%FE’JJ:%?“U:?? ERTERBMETEER RS EDBHRE - PLM 5 —HifH %
B ERERBEERERMEBTRAT - ERTEINESN 2013 FHRIEMBERER
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MAJOR EVENTS OF CHINA FOODS IN 2012
201240 EBRMAE—E

DECEMBER 12 H

Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) announced its semi-annual adjustment to incorporate
China Foods (506) into its MSCI China Index with effect from the close of business on 30 November
2012, which enabled China Foods to receive further attention from the capital market. China Foods
(506) was also included in Hang Seng China Affliated Corporate Index (“HSCCI”) with effect from
10 December 2012.

BERTAFERBERABMSC)AMFFREABER - PEIRMG06)EMAMSCIHEEE - K20129F11
A0 RWMELERN  E—FHETEAMLER - PERM (506) EMABLEFTETECLEEH ([ABHEHK
HSCCI]) - &)L 20124 12 A 10 HRBAERL

Fortune's “Grandpa Happiness” image made its world debut. Nearly 2.3 million
people participated in the image selection, and more than 2,000 designs were
submitted. Hence, the long-anticipated image of Grandpa Happiness was unveiled.

BEFI [HERRH| 2RV REREAEERT - WAV RKBELZPAL
B0BAERZSE  RAFEXEMAFMTHIE - Bt ERMFHTFREUE
M —PERGHFELHIE -
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China Foods aims

to become a leading
branded consumer
foods conglomerate of
International standard

FElRmA [ ABEIFR K ZE
NmERmEx] ARE

Chi Jingtao B5UE
Chairman EJ&




Dear Shareholders,

| am deeply honored to be the chairman of the board of China Foods
Limited (“China Foods”) in the last year.

My mission is to lead China Foods to become a large scale
downstream sales and distribution platform under COFCO Group’s
fully integrated value chain strategy, with a view to create demand
pull for the entire upstream value chain. On the basis of sustainable
future development, | will lead continuous improvements in overall
corporate governance standards, operational standards, system
capabilities and competitiveness to enable China Foods to gradually
become a leading branded consumer foods conglomerate of
international standard.

EVERYTHING WE DO FOCUSES ON ACHIEVING
SALES

| would like to make reference to remark from David Ogilvy, the
founder of Ogilvy & Mather: “We sell — or else.” | believe this
preaches the need for each member within the organization to have
a sales oriented mindset, regardless of whether your post ranges
from product research and development to production or marketing.
Each part of our operation should be guided by the common task
and objective of ultimately achieving sales.

| would like each member of our team in different parts of the
organization to be mindful of market capitalization and market share
as our two key performance indicators. Operational issues identified
should be resolved in a systematic manner and in line with the
overall strategic direction of the company.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CAPABILITIES
DECIDE THE FUTURE

Global corporate development history reveals that all sustainable
evergreen enterprises have effectively maintained vitality through
research and development and technological innovations. From the
perspective of overall corporate operating environment in China,
a number of enterprises have become experts in their sectors
through research and development, and achieved on-going market
expansion and sustainable growth. China Foods is placing an
unprecedented level of attention to our products, not only because of
food safety requirements, but also because of market and consumer
demands. We believe this determines whether our company will be
able to compete vigorously and develop sustainably.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ER R

Through research and development, we will improve our
products’ gross margin, technological contents and overall market
competitiveness. This will enable us to achieve greater sales
contribution from new products with an improved product mix,
and to ensure new products introduced will be accepted by the
customers. As a branded consumer foods company, we must
convince the market, the customers, the consumers, as well as the
competitors that our products’ quality is continuously improving and
that our company is continuously progressing.

For China Foods to achieve international standards, we need to
establish effective internal operational systems which enable the
accumulation of knowledge within the organization. Besides the
emphasis on product research and development, we also need to
make ongoing adjustments to the portfolio of brands and products in
order to find the right balance between long-term development and
short-term profitability. A mechanism of continuous and sustainable
improvements needs to be formulated.

MANAGEMENT IMPROVEMENTS AND
BENCHMARKING

Relevant benchmarks can be found for each product category of
China Foods, and we need to learn from our competitors as well as
the leaders in the industry. Benchmarking is not simply a process
of comparison and evaluation, it is a learning process in which gaps
in product quality, price, channel, customer service and customer
feedback can be identified and acted upon. Purely comparing with
internal budget or prior year’s results cannot accurately reflect our
market position. It is essential to compare our development with
the industry and competitors. The only way to win in the market
is to outperform the industry and the competitors. Therefore,
benchmarking must be implemented.

BUILDING AN EFFICIENT, LARGE-SCALE SALES
AND DISTRIBUTION NETWORK

We fully understand the importance of sales and distribution in
every industry. In accordance with our strategic positioning, we are
determined to build an efficient large-scale sales and distribution
network via our distributors. China Foods needs to have close
cooperation with its distributors and must ensure effective two-
way communication. We need to establish a sustainable win-win
distributor model to ensure our products can reach consumers via
efficient and standardized distribution channels.

12 CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012
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FULFILLING CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES

A Chinese saying “food is a top priority for the people, safety is the
top priority in food.” Each member of China Foods bears in mind our
mission to safeguard national food safety, and takes responsibilities
for ensuring food safety for the general public. We have established
a comprehensive food safety tracing system and monitored key
segments of the value chain. To ensure our staff understand the
critical importance of food safety, our corporate conviction strongly
reiterates the principle that “life is of utmost importance,” together
with a corporate culture which emphasizes integrity. We are
establishing a new image of integrity, reliability and trustworthiness
in large state-owned food enterprise within our society.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In 2012, the Group recorded an increase in the overall sales
turnover, with revenue growth of our key product categories
higher than our competitors. However, in light of the downturn in
China’s macro-economy and the increase in costs, overall results
performance was unsatisfactory. Shareholders’ return in 2012 was
below 2011, and did not meet expectation. Nevertheless, | believe
that the management will continue to strive for better results of
China Foods in the future in accordance with the medium and long-
term development objectives and strategies in order to repay our
shareholders for their support.

Lastly, | would like to announce a change in board members and
their respective responsibilities within the board of China Foods.
With effect from March 26, 2013, Mr. Yu Xubo has been appointed
as a non-executive director and the chairman of the board, while my
role has been re-designated as a non-executive director. Accordingly,
changes have also been made to my role as the chairman and
member of respective board committees. | believe that under
the leadership of Mr. Yu Xubo, China Foods will have greater
development in 2013. On behalf of the board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders
for their support of and trust in the management team. My gratitude
also extends to my fellow members of the board for their support
and contribution. | would also like to thank our staff for fulfilling
their duties, and for their unremitting efforts made in developing the
business of the Group.

Chi Jingtao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2013

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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2013 Prospects:

“Perform our Dutles
with Passion,
Take Actions to Win”
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

Dear Shareholders,

2012 REVIEW: IMPLEMENTATION OF
CROSS-PRODUCT CATEGORY SALES AND
DISTRIBUTION PLATFORM

2012 was the year of integration for China Foods. Apart from the
Beverage Business Division, China Foods officially started to operate
under a new organizational structure in which a cross-product
category sales and distribution platform has effectively replaced the
single-product category business unit structure.

In 2012, we have completed the design of the strategic product
lines of the Wine Business, with on-going improvements in essential
elements of product competitiveness such as flavor profiles
and value chain. We have made improvements in distributor
management and completed our route-to-market distribution plan in
which we have started to gradually implement. Our pace of business
development is faster than competitive products. Greatwall Wine was
honored to receive the 4th annual “China Industry Iconic Brand”
award (FFETTEAZ SR SA2) and the Hua Zun Cup “No. 1 Brand
Value in the Grape Wine Category” (8% BB MM E{ESE—), which
further strengthened our leading position in the industry.

In 2012, we were committed to seizing market share of consumer-
pack edible oil. Through increase in points-of-sale coverage, and
alignment of above-the-line and below-the-line marketing activities,
the growth of consumer-pack edible oil business exceeded our key
competitors with a sales volume share increase of 1.9 percentage
points. In particular, the gap between the market share of “Fortune
Corn Oil” and our key competitor has narrowed from 12.9
percentage points last year to merely 5.4 percentage points this year.
“Fortune” brand had been nominated as one of the “Top 50 Most
Valuable Chinese Brands” (BrandZ & & & & T & & £ 5058) for
three consecutive years with progressively higher ranking.

In 2012, we have devoted further efforts to improving the product
competitiveness of the Confectionery business. Comprehensive
improvements in taste and packaging were made, as well as
standardization of visual identity design to further enhance brand
image. The growth rate of core product, Merveille jelly candies,
exceeded the industry level. Losses in the Confectionery business
were significantly reduced.

In 2012, our Beverage business continued to be the leader in growth
rate within Coca-Cola’s China bottling system, ranking first in sales
volume growth for eight consecutive years.

EEAKERY

BURE AR
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

EEAKE R

In 2012, the downturn of China’s macro-economy led to the lowest
GDP growth since 1999. Slowdown in economic growth has affected
the development of the food and beverage industry. The increase
in bulk wine costs and the volatility of the soy bean price in the
global market have adversely impacted our core wine and edible oil
businesses. Despite substantial efforts made by the management
team, the financial results of 2012 were considerably below those of
2011.

With regard to the internal operations of the cross-product category
platform, the integration of product categories has achieved
considerable results, with improvements in operational efficiency,
as well as reductions in administration costs and effective income
tax rate. However, the overall restructuring process requires time
for the team, the systems, the process flows and the organization to
gradually integrate. The problems encountered during the integration
process have, to an extent, affected the current period’s financial
results. In light of the problems encountered, we have made
further refinements to the organization and systems. Four regional
management centers were established to oversee the nine sales
regions to enhance management response time. Category specific
market research and development departments were established
to strengthen the management of product category development
planning. With reference to the management experience of
international FMCG enterprises, we have optimized the structure and
responsibilities of the finance department in line with the operational
and management needs of a cross-product category business.
We believe that in 2013, our improvement initiatives will further
safeguard the smooth and efficient operation of our cross-product
category sales and distribution platform.

2013 PROSPECTS: PERFORM OUR DUTIES
WITH PASSION, TAKE ACTIONS TO WIN

In the fourth quarter of 2012, GDP growth rate has started to
improve. We expect that the economic environment in 2013 will be
more favorable compared to 2012.

In order to capture the growth opportunity of our product categories
in 2013, we have made preparation as follows:

° Beverage business: Launch new products into the market.
Lock in purchasing cost of key raw materials at a level lower
than 2012.

° Wine business: Launch new product line in March to complete

the overall strategic product lines of the “Greatwall” brand,
and benchmark with the key products of our competitors.
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

° Kitchen Food business: The key is to balance market share
growth and profitability. In the pursuit of continuous increase
in business scale, we need to ensure appropriate pricing
for our products, as well as better product mix to effectively
improve profitability.

° Confectionery business: Through product consolidation,
enhancement, and improved packaging, overall product
competitiveness has increased. In 2013, we will further
strengthen retail coverage and execution to expand business
scale and to realize a profit.

In terms of establishing a nationwide sales and distribution network,
there is still ample room for improvement:

° A gap exists between our existing retail coverage and that of
our competitors. We aim to increase coverage in both city and
retail levels through ongoing improvements in our sales and
distribution network in 2013;

° Execution at points-of-sales has not completely met the
requirements of our picture of success. Through further
training of sales team and promoters, closer cooperation with
distributors, and increase in market audit coverage, we will
further drive the implementation of our picture of success in
2013;

° The effectiveness of selling and promotional expenses usage
can be further improved. We aim to achieve a higher level of
usage effectiveness through better management, control and
analysis in 2013.

The four regional management centers will soon be launched into
operation in 2013. Our management will be closer to the market,
response time will be enhanced, and communication with key
customers will be improved. Our sales staff will be able to place more
focus on daily sales execution to ensure proper pricing management
of our products, as well as to ensure each element of our market
execution program is performed according to our design in order to
better serve our customers. Our nationwide sales and distribution
platform will be further developed and improved.

In conclusion, on behalf of the Company, | would like to thank
each of our shareholders for their support of and confidence in the
management team. | would also like to thank each of our business
partners for their support and cooperation, and | express my
gratitude to each of our staff for their unremitting efforts to make
even greater contribution to the future development of the Company.

Luan Xiuju
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2013
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2012 was the year in which the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) began operating under its new
organizational structure.

Since 1 January 2012, the Group has been operating in accordance
with the new organizational structure adopted in 2011 with
nine-sales regions across the country, managed via a central
headquarters, each operating an integrated sales and distribution
system across our range of products. Systems and procedures have
been set up based upon the new organizational structure and are
being regularly assessed and improved.

During the year, we added four regional management centers
between the central headquarters and the nine regions with the
objective of enhancing management response time. In order to
further strengthen our product strategy and execution, we recruited
additional talent and established a centralized brand management
department and product specific management departments for each
product category.

These changes were successfully completed, albeit with room for
further improvement. By the end of 2012, an improvement plan had
been formulated and is now being implemented.

2012 was a challenging year for the Group, particularly during the
second half, with the downturn in the macroeconomic environment
giving rise to a marked fall in consumer demand for our products.
Further significant challenges were the volatility of bulk edible oil
prices, together with additional marketing and promotional expenses
under keen competition. These had a severe adverse impact on our
Kitchen Food business. These challenges gave rise to disappointing
results for the year but, importantly, we generally performed well
in terms of revenue growth relative to the industries in which we
operate, and against key competitors.

REVIEW OF 2012 ANNUAL RESULTS

The principal features of our results for 2012 as compared with
2011 were:

° Revenue was HK$30,878 million, up 10.2%.

o Operating profit* amounted to HK$707 million, down 36.4%.

EBITDAAN was HK$1,264 million, down 20.8%.

Bottom Line* was HK$382 million, down 40.8%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

° Earnings per share HK13.67 cents, down HK9.45 cents.

The Group’s operating profit represents the aggregation of
segment results less corporate and other unallocated expenses.

N EBITDA represents earnings before finance costs, income tax
expense, depreciation, amortization of other intangible assets,
recognition of prepaid land premiums and share of profits of
associates.

# Bottom Line represents the profit attributable to owners of the
parent company.

Overall, our results for 2012 recorded a substantial decline
compared with those for 2011, mainly due to the following principal
factors:

o Despite the fact that sales revenue growth of the Kitchen Food
business was substantially higher than our key competitors,
and the market share of our star product “Fortune Corn Oil”
increased significantly, the performance of the Kitchen Food
business was unsatisfactory and a loss was incurred due to
our inability to pass on raw material cost increases, together
with additional marketing and promotional expenses under
keen competition. In addition, performance was affected by an
adverse change in product mix as consumers traded down.

° Due to the unfavourable macroeconomic environment, the
demand for middle-end and high-end wine products declined,
giving rise to fierce price competition in the wine industry, and
consequential margin erosion. This, coupled with increased
bulk wine costs and higher promotional expenses, resulted in
reduced profitability for our Wine business.

o During the initial stages of the introduction of our new
organizational structure, our staff took time to adapt and
the management system needed further fine tuning, which
had a short-term impact on the efficiency of daily business
operations.

In 2012, our Beverage and Confectionery businesses performed
satisfactorily. With respect to our Beverage business, notwithstanding
the significant impact of the downturn in the macroeconomic
environment, and changes in consumer preferences, we achieved
growth in our core products. This, coupled with effective expense
control, resulted in the delivery of stable growth in our operating
results. Our Confectionery business delivered a substantial reduction
in its operating loss, and improved gross profit margin through
effective raw material procurement, improved product mix, and price
increases of some popular products in the second half of 2012.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEVERAGE BUSINESS

Our revenue amounted to approximately HK$11,110 million in 2012,
representing an increase of 5.6% compared to 2011. Overall sales
volume increased by 7.4% compared to 2011. As mentioned above,
despite an unfavourable change in product mix, the continuing growth
of our core products, coupled with effective expense control, delivered
segment profit of approximately HK$579.4 million, up by 9.0%.

The key initiatives in product innovation and development included
the following:

° We improved the taste, packaging, cost management and
concept of some products;

° We launched environmental friendly lightweight bottled water
and expanded the contract-pack production capacity;

° We launched a 300 ml PET bottle package in both sparkling
and juice in order to recruit new drinkers, thus driving single-
serve volume;

° We introduced new juice and tea products in various flavors,
such as “Minute Maid Guogingxin” which targeted the non-
pulp juice market share, and “Yuanye New Green Tea”, which
further promoted the “Yuanye” green tea brand.

The key brand building activities included the following:

° We continued to invest in the consumer marketing of core
brands such as Coca-Cola, Sprite, and Minute Maid;

° In order to boost market share and brand presence, we
promoted the brands through employee participation in the
Coca-Cola Ambassador campaign, and through marketing
activities such as Olympic Games China Beat, Sprite basketball
competition and the Minute Maid “Everyone Loves Pulp”
marketing events;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

o We successfully implemented an “Under the Cap” bonus-
drink award promotional campaign to promote our star
products.

According to market research conducted by ACNielsen at the end of
December 2012, our market share by volume of sparkling beverages
was higher than that in the previous year and continued to outperform
the competition. While market share by volume in the juice category
in 2012 fell, “Minute Maid” brand products gradually rebounded on a
month by month basis during the second half of 2012 and recorded
half-to-half growth compared to the second half of 2011.

WINE BUSINESS

Our revenue amounted to approximately HK$3,886 million in 2012,
representing an increase of 5.2% compared to 2011. Overall sales
outperformed our key competitors. As mentioned above, due to the
unfavourable macroeconomic environment, the demand for middle-
end and high-end wine products declined, giving rise to fierce price
competition in the wine industry, and consequential margin erosion.
This, coupled with increased bulk wine costs and higher promotional
expenses, resulted in reduced profitability for our Wine business.
Segment profit was approximately HK$535.7 million, down by
15.4%.

The principal innovation and development initiatives included the
following:

o We undertook further rationalization of our product range
by structuring it in an orderly way according to grade and
price point and discontinuing products that were making
an inadequate contribution. In addition, we improved the
packaging graphics of our products in order to achieve easier
recognition and clear differentiation of the product portfolio
from high-end to low-end wine, and introduced visual identity
standards for our product lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We successfully launched a number of new products,
including the “Michel Rolland Chief Winemaker Series”
and “Greatwall Huaxia Chateau Series” under the premium
high-end product range of “Greatwall International Chateau
Alliance.” We further reinforced the image of “Greatwall
Chateau Sungod”, as a star product line under “Greatwall
International Chateau Alliance” in order to satisfy consumer
demand for high-end chateau wine that has been honored by
being the wine of choice for state banquets, and launched new
products such as “Chateau Sungod Greatwall, Boao Premium
Series”, “Chateau Sungod Greatwall, Long Yan Dry White Wine
Reserve” and “Chateau Sungod Greatwall, Gewurztraminer
Sweet White Wine Reserve”; We further reinforced the image
of another star product line, “Greatwall Terroir”, with the
adoption of a specially designed artist label to strengthen the
brand link to a premium lifestyle, by launching the limited
edition “Greatwall Terroir, Arts Impression” product, as well
as new products from France and Chile under the “Greatwall
Terroir” product line.

The key work of brand building included the following:

We reinforced the international brand image of Greatwall
and elevated consumer awareness through advertising and
promotion during the National People’s Congress of the PRC
and the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
March, the 18th National Congress of the Communist Party
of the PRC in November, the Boao Forum in Asia, the London
Olympic Games and by organizing promotional events such as
“Greatwall Cup Wine Tasting Competition”, “Greatwall Terroir
Art Journey 2012”, opening ceremony of the Junding Huayue
Club, prize award at the International Wine Fair in Paris,
France and Michel Rolland’s China Tour.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE WA

° We also explored more channels for our brand communication °

with consumers by using new marketing media such as Weibo,
web search engine and web group sharing. We capitalised
on promotional opportunities during the Mid-Autumn festival,
National Day, and the London Olympic Games. We also
launched 360-degree new media promotional campaigns
for “Cheer for Greatwall Terroir in the Year of Dragon” and
“Greatwall Cheer for London Olympic Games”;

o Through promotional events at chateaux with wine tasting, °
new wine launch campaigns, and free gifts, we effectively
communicated with target high-end consumers. Through the
Greatwall Terroir Wine Label DIY promotional campaign, we
managed to promote its brand image of “Quality Wine selected
from the Finest Wine Regions in the World” to our targeted
consumers. We also promoted the new products of “Greatwall
Cabernet” series with the brand proposition of “Better
Cabernet Incorporating the Essence of Cabernet Sauvignon,
Cabernet Franc and Cabernet Gemischt” by impressive point
of sale displays, and through sampling.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KITCHEN FOOD BUSINESS

Kitchen Food revenue amounted to approximately HK$14,975
million in 2012, representing an increase of 14.0% compared to
2011. As mentioned above, despite the fact that sales revenue
growth was substantially higher than our key competitor, the
performance of the Kitchen Food business was unsatisfactory and
a loss of HK$229.7 million was reported due to our inability to pass
on raw material cost increases, together with additional marketing
and promotional expenses incurred under conditions of keen
competition. In addition, performance was affected by an adverse
change in product mix as consumers traded down.

The key work of product innovation and development included the
following:

° “Fortune Golden Origin Corn Qil”, with its emphasis on
premium and high quality ingredients, performed exceptionally
well, achieving a 66% volume increase;

° “Natural Grain Blended Oil” was reformulated so as to increase
the high-end oil content, and was renamed as “Daily Five-
Grain Blended Qil” with enhanced product competitiveness.
The formulation for DHA Algal Oil Grain Blended Oil was
upgraded to use non-genetically modified soy bean oil content.
The formulation of “Balanced Fatty Acid Blended Qil” was
optimized and then renamed as “Jiu Tiao (J1#) Balanced
Blended Oil” with a lower unit cost with the objective of driving
sales volume growth and improving margins.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

The brand building activities included the following:

o We continued to pursue the brand strategy of “Safe Quality,
Happy Life” and conducted marketing and promotional
activities for our three core oil types that further reinforced the
“Fortune” brand concept;

° We undertook a series of event marketing activities, including
“Fortune Corn Oil Olympic Marketing”, “Fortune Scholarship
& Charity Marketing”, “Aerospace Quality of Fortune Blended
Edible Oil & Successful Aerospace Flight Shenzhou-9
Marketing” and “China Fortune Grandpa’s Fortune Cultural

Marketing” under “Fortune” brand;

° Meanwhile, we undertook a series of national and regional
promotions to drive sales volume. The national activities
included the “Take Fortune Home” during the Spring Festival,
the “Healthy Corn Oil from Golden Corn Origin” during
Labour Day and the Dragon Boat Festival, and “Bring Fortune
Blended Oil Back Home” during the Mid-Autumn Festival
and National Day. We promoted our Fortune Rapeseed Oil
through “Fortune Rapeseed Qil, Your Home Flavour” regional
promotional activities.

° With the effective implementation of the above activities,
“Fortune” brand was granted the “China Food Safety Tenth
Annual Conference Outstanding Contribution Award” by the
eight ministries including the Ministry of Agriculture. After
assessment and verification by Millward Brown, “Fortune”
brand received a prestigious award as one of the “Top 50 Most
Valuable Chinese Brands” with progressively higher ranking
in each of the past three years. Moreover, “Fortune” brand
was also awarded more than ten honors by various industry
publications.

According to market research conducted by ACNielsen at the end
of December 2012, “Fortune” brand consumer-pack edible oil had
secured No. 2 position in the market and continued to narrow the
gap with the market leader. The market share of “Fortune Corn QOil”
in terms of sales value increased significantly compared with 2011,
thus securing its position as a strong challenger in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CONFECTIONERY BUSINESS

Confectionery revenue amounted to approximately HK$726 million
in 2012, representing an increase of 10.0% compared to 2011.
We endeavored to optimize the product mix and started to raise
the prices of some popular products in the second half of the
year. This, coupled with on-going raw material cost control, and
effective spending and control of marketing expenses, gave rise to
a significant reduction in the segment operating loss by 40.2% to
approximately HK$56.6 million, and established a good foundation
for further improvement in 2013.

The key product innovation and development work included the
following:

° We upgraded the packaging for the majority of “Le conté”
chocolate products and Merveille jelly candies by adding the
Olympic Games logo, and also launched the green apple
flavoured Merveille jelly candy during 2012.

° By upgrading the formula for the classic series of milk
chocolate and dark chocolate, our products have exceeded
or maintained comparable quality when benchmarked with
competitive products. Also, Vitamin C was added to Merveille
jelly candies. Overall sales were boosted;

° We have developed and launched the innovative true love
photo-frame gift box into the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE W

The key brand building work included the following:

We continued to implement our dual-brand: “Le conté” and
“Merveille” strategy. Consolidation of various product series
under the “Le conté” brand was completed. The positioning
and visual identity of various product series was clarified and
improved. The “Merveille” brand continued to adhere to the
brand positioning of “Tasty” and “Happy” throughout the
various brand communication and promotional activities;

During the Olympic Games, we launched Olympic Games
marketing and promotional campaigns including Weibo
marketing, below-the-line marketing, Beijing Metro advertising,
and interactive sampling activities with “Le conté” brand gold
medal chocolate;

Throughout the year, the basic communication theme of
“Rich flavor and emotion, only for the people you truly love”
was maintained. Important festival events were opportunities
for sales promotion and brand communication. For
Chinese Valentine’s Day and Western Valentine’'s Day, the
communication emphasis was on expressing love. The theme
promoting family love was applied to the Mid-Autumn Festival,
Christmas and Spring Festival. The true love gift box and the
newly introduced jelly candy were mainly promoted in major
cities, shops and offices nation-wide by means of LED display,
coupled with consumer sampling.

REVIEW OF SALES NETWORK BUILDING

We have formulated a sustainable overall Route-To-Market (“RTM”)
strategy. Under this RTM plan, we improved the distribution network
by converting individual single product type distributors into multiple
product type distributors, and individual single product type
multi-channel distributors into channel focused multiple product
type distributors. We see these moves as leading to improved
coordination with distributors, an ability to develop previously
untapped opportunities, and an increase in outlet coverage and the
number of points of sale for our products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of channel consolidation, we have actively promoted the
development of core capabilities of distributors by assessing network
profitability, network distribution coverage and network controllability
in our sales network building process. We have begun to establish a
special distributor system targeting specific large corporations and
organizations, by recruiting distributors at trade fairs in the nine-
sales regions across China. For our beverage business, we have
gradually enhanced our relationships with customers by promoting a
business partner relationship management program.

We continued to work with our distributors who have installed
our Distributor Management System in order to improve data
accuracy and timeliness of transmission, so as to provide enhanced
management information in relation to inventory levels in the
distribution system, and retail prices.

In addition, our Mobile Customer Management System, which is a
tool designed to enhance the performance of frontline promoters
through standardised procedures and information feedback, has
been put into operation in the Beijing sales region. This system will
be further deployed to the key cities of the nine-sales regions.

Since the establishment of the integrated sales and distribution
system across our range of products, we have successively carried
out a series of themed promotional activities at major cities across
the nine-sales regions during Labour Day, the Dragon Boat Festival,
the Olympic Games, the Mid-autumn Festival and National Day,
under the “COFCO Island” concept characterised by “combined
showcasing at point of sales + free tasting + free gifts with
purchase.” In addition, we organized cross-product category stacks/
specific display shelves in medium-and small-sized supermarkets
to further enhance effectiveness of cross product category sales
promotion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE W

REVIEW OF SYSTEM

(1)

(2)

30

Supply Chain System

We passed all the food quality and production safety audits,
and 100% of the product sample tests, conducted during
the year by the various regulatory and inspection authorities.
We also achieved the highest quality scores among the Coca-
Cola bottling groups in China as measured by the Coca-Cola
product quality system. We further improved the product
tracking system and overall quality management of our plants.
No quality, safety or environmental incidents were reported in
2012.

Our plants continued to make progress in improving
production efficiency, manufacturing cost control, and overall
productivity through enhanced management processes and
equipment upgrades. Meanwhile, in terms of energy saving,
and efficiency, our plants recorded improvements, coupled
with decreased levels of emissions of Sulfur Dioxide, and
improved standards in relation to waste water discharges.

In respect of long-term production capacity planning,
construction of the new beverage plant in Hebei was
completed during the year. A project to expand the Chateau
Sungod winery has recently been completed, and wineries
are under construction in each of Ningxia and Xinjiang, both
of which are already partially operational. Furthermore, we
have submitted proposals to upstream suppliers of consumer-
pack edible oil regarding production capacity planning and
expansion with the objective of raising the order fulfilment rate
of our Kitchen Food business.

Information System

The Company’s Project 1506, an integrated enterprise-wide
information technology system, was launched as scheduled
at the beginning of 2012 to handle the new organisational
structure, the change in business requirements and the
necessary adjustments to internal approval processes. Project
1506 was selected as a best case study by IBM Institute for
Business Value because of its six prominent features including
“difficulty, urgency, large scope, changes, numerous workflows
and a large number of users”. Thus, it was also marked as the
best industry practice for business reform of “new state-owned
enterprises”. This project was also recognized as a best case
study of SAP Business Transformation Study given that this
project facilitated the business transformation of the Company.
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3)

(4)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Internal Control, Compliance and Legal System

The Company consolidated various systems and workflows
after the restructuring. We continued to ensure the efficient
and orderly completion of all operational activities. In
addition, we adjusted the organizational structure of the audit
department by establishing a market audit department which is
responsible for the audit of marketing activities and marketing
expense with the aim of improving cost management.

In terms of compliance and legal matters, a contract approval
system was launched in 2012. Moreover, we formulated
and modified legal policies, established a contract database,
provided legal training and analyzed litigation and arbitration
cases on a regular basis. Improvements were made to address
the problems identified with a view to avoiding undue risk
exposure.

Organisation and Talent Management System

The Company has established a unified human resources
policy and system following the organisational restructuring,
and established a standardised electronic workflow within
human resources management system. We further optimised
our performance appraisal P2W system. We have completed
the assessment of job positions in accordance with unified
principles and established labour cost and productivity
management systems. Overall sales revenue per capita has
increased significantly when compared to 2011.

With regard to our talent training, we have implemented a
talent development plan, established a channel for staff career
development, formulated a position qualification system, set
up a talent development committee, defined key positions
in the Company, set up the China Foods Business School
with the objective of developing professional skills in the fast-
moving consumer goods industries.

With respect to corporate cultural development, we organised
team integration and corporate cultural activities with the
theme of “You are always here”, and established an in-house
sharing platform.

(3)

(4)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

In terms of incentive and retention programs, on top of
the existing share option inventive scheme, we formulated
the “Incentive Program based on Benchmarking Market
Capitalisation with Benchmark Enterprises” (52T 1B £ 4517 £2
FRDZEHERAEIETE), the “Above-Target Profit Sharing
Program” for sales teams (‘& #8 BB HBEMES =512]) and
the “New Product Development Incentive Scheme (¥ fnf
BT E) for the research and development team.

(5) Financial Management System

To cope with new organisational structure, the Company
has established and continuously improved the financial
information platform. With respect to financing, we continued
to improve funds management by way of allocating internal
funds through a centralized treasury function, taking advantage
of lower financing costs. We also continued to promote supply
chain financing for distributors and then further support
business growth. As a result of the changed organization
structure, our effective income tax rate significantly declined
through the utilisation of headquarters expenses as a tax
credit.

PREPARATION FOR FUTURE EXTERNAL
EXPANSION

In 2012, we continued to carry out our plan of securing high-quality
wine resources overseas. We are in the process of researching and
selecting potential acquisition targets in Australia and the United
States. We have identified and preliminarily investigated potential
acquisitions by engaging investment banks.

With respect to expansion into other product types, priority will
be given to categories such as Chinese liquors and seasonings
in accordance with the Company’s selection criteria. We have
conducted negotiations with several potential working partners.

In consideration of future expansion into other product types
and potential acquisition of strong regional brands of consumer-
pack edible oil, we will continue to conduct feasibility studies and
investigations.

CONCLUSION

Our 2012 result was impacted by the downturn in the macro-
economy of China in 2012 and the operating environment remained
full of challenges. Going forward, we will continue to improve our
organisational structure and enhance our professionalism in our
business management, and our management team will endeavour
to capture opportunities to deliver a reasonable return to our
shareholders in 2013.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEE W

FINANCIAL REVIEW B ¥ o R

Supplemental information of segment results of the Group for the AEEHZE2012F 12 A31 HILFEDERE
year ended 31 December 2012 with comparative figures, are set out BENETERELERETEHIIOT ¢
below:

For the year ended
31 December
BZE12A31ALLFE

Growth of revenue by segment:

BoRE D 2 WMAIEE

2012
2012
%

2011
20114
%

— Beverage — BB 5.6 328
— Wine ik 5.2 18.6
— Kitchen Food - BEERmMm 14.0 57.5
— Confectionery - KER M 10.0 14.4
— Others - Hfth N/A FiE A N/A “NiE A
Segment results to revenue ratio: DEPHEEE WAL E ¢
— Beverage — BB 5.2 5.1
— Wine - B8 13.8 17.1
— Kitchen Food - BHERE® -1.5 1.2
— Confectionery - KER M -7.8 -14.4
— Others - Hfth 2.1 N/A 7~ A
REVENUE A

The Group’s total revenue for the year grew by approximately
10.2% over the previous year. The revenue growth contributors
were the Kitchen Food and Beverage segments, with aggregate
contribution of 84.5% to the Group’s total revenue and with
growth rates of 14.0% and 5.6% respectively.

The revenue growth rate of the Wine segment was 5.2%,
higher than the revenue growth rate of the key benchmarking
competitor during the year.

The revenue growth of the Confectionery segment reflects an
improvement in product mix and price increases in relation to
some popular products during the second half of 2012.

Revenue of the Others segment was related to the sales and
distribution of certain consumer food and beverage products
under the master framework agreement of the Company with
COFCO (after the implementation of the centralized sale of
different products in sales regions).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

GROSS PROFIT PERCENTAGE

Overall the gross profit percentage dropped from 23.8% to 21.0%
mainly due to the decrease in gross profit percentage of the Kitchen
Food segment during 2012 as Kitchen Food accounts for 48.5% of
the Group’s total revenue.

The decline in the gross profit percentage of the Kitchen Food
segment was due to the incomplete pass through of raw material
price increase of bulk edible oil, coupled with the effect of product
mix changes.

For the Wine segment, the gross profit percentage dropped because
the sales demand for the middle-end and high-end wine products
declined given the downturn in the macroeconomic environment,
together with higher raw material cost. As a result, the contribution
from high margin wine declined.

For the Beverage segment, there was an increase in water sales
relative to other products during 2012, which gave rise to an
unfavourable change in the product mix. In addition, there were
certain effects caused by the rising costs of raw materials.

For the Confectionery segment, gross profit percentage improved
mainly due to good raw material procurement, improved product
mix and price increase for some popular products during the second
half of 2012.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS/
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Increased marketing and promotional expenses were spent in a
highly competitive market but the implementation of the integrated
sales and distribution system delivered scale benefits in terms of
cost savings and, as a result of this, and rigorous expense control,
aggregate selling and distribution costs grew by 8.0% and aggregate
administrative expenses declined by 6.9% when the total revenue of
the Group was up by 10.2%.

The selling and distribution costs to revenue ratio improved by
0.3 percentage points to 16.7% while the ratio of administrative
expenses to revenue ratio improved by 0.5 percentage points to
2.8%.

FINANCE COSTS

Overall finance costs increased by 89.6% which was mainly due
to an increase in outstanding loan balances. The weighted average
borrowing interest rate also increased as a result of higher rates in
relation to RMB denominated loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SHARE OF PROFITS OF ASSOCIATES

Share of profits of associates increased slightly by 2.9%.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The effective income tax rate decreased to 26.8% during 2012, a 3
percentage point improvement. (The calculation of the effective tax
rate of the Group is based on tax divided by adjusted profit before
tax after excluding the share of profits of associates)

The organisational restructuring made it possible to better utilize the
Group’s headquarters expenses to reduce the overall tax rate.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function formulated financial risk
management procedures, which are also subject to periodic review
by the senior management of the Company. The treasury function
operates as a centralized service for managing financial risks,
including interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks, reallocating
surplus financial resources within the Group, procuring cost-efficient
funding and targeting yield enhancement opportunities. The treasury
function regularly and closely monitors its overall cash and debt
positions, proactively reviews its funding costs and maturity profiles
to facilitate timely refinancing, if appropriate.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s unpledged cash and cash
equivalents totalled approximately HK$1,901 million (31 December
2011: approximately HK$1,790 million), and the Group’s net current
assets were approximately HK$1,916 million (31 December 2011:
approximately HK$1,830 million).

During the year, due to working capital changes prior to the Chinese
New Year peak season, coupled with the income tax paid, the net
cash inflow from operating activities was approximately HK$371
million (2011: approximately HK$666 million) whereas the EBITDA
amounted to approximately HK$1,264 million (2011: approximately
HK$1,596 million).

Having considered the normalized cash flow from operating
activities, existing financial gearing and banking facilities available
to the Group, the management believes that the Group’s financial
resources are sufficient to fund its debt payments, day-to-
day operations, capital expenditures and prospective business
development projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BHEE W

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The management is of the view that the exchange rate
downside risk exposure of the Group is limited.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, the total number of issued shares of the Company
increased by 4,299,640 shares as certain employees of the Group
exercised their share options granted in 2007. As at 31 December
2012, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
2,797,191,396.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had certain interest-bearing
bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,854 million (31 December
2011: approximately HK$1,761 million) and other borrowing of
approximately HK$247 million (31 December 2011: approximately
HK$56 million).

Bank borrowings carried annual interest rates ranging between
0.66% and 6% (31 December 2011: between 0.61% and 4.63%).
Other borrowing carried an annual interest rate of 5.04% (31
December 2011: 6.1%).

As at 31 December 2012, net assets attributable to owners of the
parent were approximately HK$6,805 million (31 December 2011:
approximately HK$6,670 million) and the net borrowing position
of the Group (unpledged cash and cash equivalents less interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings) was approximately HK$1,199
million (31 December 2011: approximately HK$27 million) and the
net gearing ratio (the ratio of net borrowing to net assets attributable
to owners of the parent) was approximately 17.6% (31 December
2011: approximately 0.4%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2012, certain bank borrowings of the Group
were secured by charges over certain buildings, land use rights
and time deposits of the Group with aggregate net book value of
approximately HK$325 million (31 December 2011: approximately
HK$118 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2012, the Group employed 17,288 staff in
Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December 2011: 17,546).
Employees are paid according to their positions, performance,
experience and prevailing market practices, and are provided with
management and professional training.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits,
either under a Mandatory Provident Fund exempted ORSO scheme
or under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life
insurance and medical insurance. Employees in Mainland China
are provided with basic social insurance and housing fund in
compliance with the requirements of the laws of China. Details of
these benefit schemes are set out in the “Other employee benefits”
under note 2.4 “Summary of significant accounting policies” to the
financial statements in this annual report.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”) was
adopted on 21 November 2006 for a term of ten years for the
purpose of rewarding eligible employees of the Group (including
executive directors and non-executive directors of the Company)
based on individual merit.

As at 1 January 2012, a total of 45,524,500 share options of the
Company remained outstanding. During the year, a total of 2,849,380
share options lapsed and a total of 4,299,640 shares were issued
and allotted by the Company upon the exercises of share options
of the Company. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2012, a total of
38,375,480 share options of the Company remained outstanding.
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
EEEIENYTES

MR. CHI JINGTAO

Mr. Chi, 50, was appointed as an executive director and the executive vice-chairman of the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) in February 2011 and became the chairman of
the Board in March 2012. Mr. Chi is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chi joined COFCO Corporation in August 2003 and is currently a vice president of COFCO
Corporation and a director of certain subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation. Currently, Mr. Chi is
the general manager of China Grain and Logistics Corporation and an independent director
of China Hainan Rubber Industry Group Co., Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai. Mr. Chi was
a non-executive director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong
Kong, from March 2007 to March 2011 and also the director of human resources department of
CHI JINGTAO COFCO Corporation from October 2004 to February 2011. Prior to joining COFCO Corporation,
BRE Mr. Chi held various positions in China Minmetals Corporation, including the general manager of
human resources department.

Mr. Chi holds a Bachelor’'s degree in engineering from the Academy of Armored Forces
Engineering in Beijing and an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of International Business and Economics.

Since the conclusion of the Board meeting held on 26 March 2013, Mr. Chi has ceased to
be the chairman of the Board and has been re-designated as a non-executive director of the
Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HITES

MS. LUAN XIUJU

Ms. Luan, 48, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in March 2007 and the
managing director in February 2011. Ms. Luan is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Ms. Luan was the chief executive officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited
from September 2003 to August 2012. Ms. Luan joined COFCO Corporation in 1989 and is
currently a senior industry executive of COFCO Corporation and a director of certain subsidiaries
of COFCO Corporation. Ms. Luan has extensive experience in food and beverage production,
marketing and general management.

Ms. Luan graduated from Renmin University of China with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
economics and a Master of Arts degree in economics.
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MR. NING GAONING

Mr. Ning, 54, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in January 2005 and
was the chairman of the Board from January 2005 to March 2012. Mr. Ning joined COFCO
Corporation in December 2004 and is currently the chairman of each of COFCO Corporation,
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited and Top Glory International Holdings Limited, as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation. Currently, Mr. Ning is a non-executive director
of each of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited and CPMC Holdings Limited, both of which
are listed in Hong Kong; and the chairman and a non-executive director of China Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Ning is also an independent non-
executive director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong;
an independent director of Huayuan Property Co. Ltd, a company listed in Shanghai; an
independent non-executive director of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited and a director of BOC
International Holdings Limited. Mr. Ning was a non-executive director of Lippo China Resources
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until August 2009; and a director of Smithfield Foods,
Inc., a company listed in New York, until March 2011. Mr. Ning has over 20 years of experience
in corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business restructurings and
governmental relations.

Mr. Ning graduated from Shandong University in China with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
economics and from the University of Pittsburgh in the United States with a Master of Business
Administration degree in finance.
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MR. MAK CHI WING, WILLIAM

Mr. Mak, 51, was appointed as an executive director and a deputy general manager of the
Company in October 2006 and is currently in charge of investor relations function of the
Company. Mr. Mak is also a director of Global Lander Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Mak joined COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited in May 2006, he is currently the chief
financial officer of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited and a director of certain subsidiaries of COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited. Prior to joining COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Mr. Mak had worked with
Philips Electronics for over 15 years.

Mr. Mak graduated from the University of British Columbia in Canada with a Bachelor of
MAK CHI WING, Commerce degree in finance. Mr. Mak is a member of each of the Institute of Management

WILLIAM Accountants, Institute of Internal Auditors, Association of Certified Fraud Examiners, ISACA
BEL (formerly known as Information Systems Audit and Control Association) and an international
affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FHTES

MR. YU XUBO

Mr. Yu, 47, was appointed as the chairman of the Board and a non-executive director of the
Company after the conclusion of the Board meeting held on 26 March 2013. Mr. Yu is also the
chairman of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited. Mr. Yu joined COFCO Corporation in 1988
and is currently the president of COFCO Corporation and a director of certain subsidiaries of
COFCO Corporation. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of COFCO Meat Investment Company Limited
and a director of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited. Currently, he is the chairman and an executive
director of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited and a vice-chairman and a non-executive
director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, both companies are listed in Hong Kong, and

a director of Glory River Holdings Limited, convertible bonds of which are listed and quoted in
YU XUBO Singapore.

Fram

Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor’s degree in economics from University of International Business and
Economics in Beijing and an Executive Master of Business Administration from China Europe
International Business School.
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MS. LIU DING

Ms. Liu, 58, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in March 2011.
Ms. Liu joined COFCO Corporation in April 2005 and is currently a director and the
head of the Communist Party Discipline and Inspection Team of COFCO Corporation.
Ms. Liu is also a vice-chairwoman and a non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. She was a director of COFCO Property (Group)
Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen, until July 2011. Prior to joining COFCO Corporation, she
was a deputy director of the Propaganda and Education Bureau of the Propaganda Department
of the Communist Party of China. Ms. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in legal affairs,
general management, government relations, public relations, corporate culture development,
organization development and propaganda and education.

Ms. Liu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor’s degree in history and holds
an Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business.
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MR. MA JIANPING

Mr. Ma, 49, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in March 2007 and was re-
designated as a non-executive director in March 2008. Mr. Ma was a deputy general manager of
the Company from June 2003 to February 2008. Mr. Ma joined COFCO Corporation in 1986 and
is currently a vice president and the director of the strategy department of COFCO Corporation
and a director of certain subsidiaries of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Ma is the chairman and an
executive director of The Hong Kong Parkview Group Limited and a non-executive director of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, both companies are listed in Hong Kong; and a director
of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shenzhen. Mr. Ma has extensive
experience in corporate finance, investment, strategic planning and management and worked in
Japan for over five years.

Mr. Ma graduated from University of International Business and Economics in Beijing with a
degree of Executive Master of Business Administration.
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MS. WU WENTING

Ms. Wu , 49, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in March 2007. Ms.
Wu joined COFCO Corporation in 1992 and is currently the director of the audit and discipline
department of COFCO Corporation. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in auditing and financial
management.

Ms. Wu graduated from Beijing Technology and Business University with a Bachelor of Arts
degree in economics and from Central University of Finance and Economics with a Master of
Arts degree in professional accounting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BAFHITES

MR. STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK

Mr. Clark , 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in
January 2005. Mr. Clark is a joint managing director of The Anglo Chinese Investment Company,
Limited, the chairman of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel and a member of the Takeovers
Appeal Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission, a former director of Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute (formerly known as Hong Kong Securities Institute) and has
served as an alternate member of the Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Clark has extensive experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Clark holds a joint honors degree of Bachelor in history and history of art from the University
EE&VF;\I-I{EDNCLARK of Nottingham in England and a degree of Master in Business Administration from the University
of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.
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MR. PAUL KENNETH ETCHELLS

Mr. Etchells , 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company
in August 2012. Mr. Etchells is an independent non-executive director of each of Samsonite
International S.A. and Swire Properties Limited, both of which are listed in Hong Kong. Mr.
Etchells was employed by The Coca-Cola Company from July 1998 to June 2010, and worked
in the U.S.A., Mainland China and Hong Kong. Mr. Etchells has held various positions at The
Coca-Cola Company, including the deputy group president of Pacific Group of The Coca-Cola
Company from 2007 to 2010 and the president of China Division of The Coca-Cola Company from
2002 to 2007. Prior to joining The Coca-Cola Company, Mr. Etchells was employed by the Swire
Group in Hong Kong from 1976 to 1998.

PAUL KENNETH
Mr. Etchells graduated from the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom with a Bachelor ETCHELLS
of Arts degree in political studies, and is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in BRI
England and Wales and of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

Mr. Li , 60, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company in
November 2008. Mr. Li is the chairman of HM Corporate Advisory Limited. Mr. Li was a director
of My Top Home (China) Holdings Limited, until January 2012 and he was a member of each
of the Takeovers and Mergers Panel of Securities and Futures Commission and the Listing
Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and an expert member of the Finance
Committee of the Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation and an executive director and the chief
finance officer of Hang Lung Group Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has more
than 30 years of experience in finance and accounting.

LI HUNG KWAN,
Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in economics and sociology from The ALFRED
University of Hong Kong, and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 28§

Accountants and a member of Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland.
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MR. YUEN TIN FAN, FRANCIS

Mr. Yuen , 60, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 1993. Mr.
Yuen is also the deputy chairman of Pacific Century Regional Developments Limited, a company
listed in Singapore; an independent non-executive director of each of China Pacific Insurance
(Group) Co., Ltd., and Agricultural Bank of China Limited, both of which are listed in Shanghai
and Hong Kong; and an independent non-executive director of each of China Chengxin
International Credit Rating Co., Ltd. and China Cinda Asset Management Company Limited.
Mr. Yuen was a chief executive of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited from 1988 to 1991
and a non-executive director of Kee Shing (Holdings) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong,
until November 2010.

YUEN TIN FAN,
FRANCIS Mr. Yuen holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in economics from the University of Chicago and is

=RAMN currently a member of the university’s board of trustees. Mr. Yuen is also the chairman of the
board of trustees of Hong Kong Centre for Economic Research, a member of Shanghai People’s
Political Consultative Conference and a member of the board of trustees of Fudan University in
Shanghai.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

ERESEMEEHES

China Foods Limited (the “Company” or “China Foods”) has
always regarded corporate social responsibilities as inherent in the
sustainable development of its business and the society to which
it belongs. We fulfill our corporate mission and responsibilities by
“offering nutritious, healthy, delicious and quality foods and realizing
maximum value for our customers, shareholders and employees”.

From the perspective of four important domains: food safety,
environmental protection, personnel development and social welfare,
this report, summarizes the various social responsibility programs
proactively performed by the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) in 2012. Through this report, you will understand the
concept we have practiced and the unremitting efforts we have taken
and the improvement we have made during the year.

I. FOOD SAFETY
a) Sustainable Quality Management System

i Establish quality safety risk control foundation
system in the value chain:

1. Self-controlled production bases
implemented Good Agricultural Practices
(GAP) certification.

2. FSSC22000 Food Safety Certification
and 1SO9001 Quality Control Certification
implemented in processing enterprises.

ii. Established quality and safety admission standards
for suppliers and OEM factories. Through
continuous qualitative assessments, eliminated
those who do not meet the requirements in order
to prevent quality safety risk.
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c)

d)

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

iii. In 2012, there were no incidents of non-compliance
arising from agriculture base pollution, illegal use
of additives, and quality and integrity issues of the
suppliers and factories.

Audit and Supervision through Spot Checks with
Rewards and Penalties

i. Implementated a quality safety performance
appraisal system where all employees participated.

ii. Four types of audits: Third party audit conducted by
Det Norske Veritas (DNV), unannounced inspection
audit, operation centre audit and internal audit.

iii.  During the year, we have planned five regional key
laboratories to facilitate the monitoring and testing
of food safety indexes for additives, heavy metals
and pesticide residue in raw materials and finished
products from 2013 onwards.

iv.  In 2012, external spot checks on product quality
were 100% passed. No product quality non-
conformances or integrity issues were noted.

Establishment of a Nationwide Consumer
Services Hotline (4008-506-506)

i. Provide services and consultation for quality
complaints or feedbacks. Make regular analysis
and specific improvements. Effectively helps
advance warning and emergency response.

External Commendation

i In June 2012, China Association for Quality
granted COFCO Le Conté Food (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd. the awards of “National Quality inspection
Certificates of Qualified Products” and “National
Model Enterprises in Quality, Integrity, and
Commitment”.
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As PAAY E
PEGEEERS
II. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION — RIEHRE
a) Save Energy and Reduce Emission a) EigERBE
1. Automatic drip irrigation system was installed 1. mEHEEEEY - 5lE
in the vineyards of our chateau to achieve zero FEAYRERS BN
emission of wastewater. BEREHEDN »
Taking Chateau Sungod as an example, L BB ETEHA
the comparison of benefits between drip B - 200 WA & & i #E
irrigation and traditional irrigation for 200 Mu BR{EGE R Rt
of vineyard is as follows: LU

Implementation of

Economic Project Traditional Irrigation Drip Irrigation Benefits
&mIFHE Bk Bt M
Water Consumption 80,000 Tonnes 41,360 Tonnes Approximate
for the Year saving of 48.3%
FERKE 80,000 M8 41,360MF EN%)48.3%
Labour for Irrigation 90 working hours 6 working hours Efficiency improved
by 15 times

AT 90 T B 6 LHF REME15F

Huaxia Sewage Treatment Station
FEB SRR
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b)

c)

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

ii. As at the end of 2012, the comprehensive
energy consumption for the year was 0.0163
tonne standard coal/tonne of product and
the comprehensive energy consumption for
product value of RMB10,000 was 0.0332
tonnes standard coal/RMB10,000. Year-on-
year figures reduced significantly. Emission
of all pollutants met standards. There was no
incident of environmental pollution for the
year.

Reduce Material Consumption via Research and
Development

Through research and development, new light
weight bottles were used for consumer-pack edible
oil. PET usage for each bottle was reduced by
7gm.

External Recognition

In August 2012, COFCO Le Conté Food
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. was granted the honorable
title of “Pengcheng Waste Reduction Advance
Enterprises” in Shenzhen for two consecutive
years.

In September 2012, COFCO Greatwall Winery
(Yantai) Co., Ltd. was granted the honorable title of
“Model Enterprise of Reducing Water Consumption
in the Wine-Making Industry of the Nation”.

I1l. PERSONNEL DEVELOPMENT

a)

Personnel Training:

In 2012, China Foods provided a total of 575,000 hours
of staff training. The training time per employee was 28
hours.

E.]
Chna Foods Business School Training
B R i 26|

TREGEARE

i. AEIE2012F K &
FEMERGAER
£0.0163MF 1Z & /
WAFE S BILEEL
& Be #0.03321F 1=
B/ B RLEF
HEKE T - FTE
SSRYPEZEER 2
FREARESLSE
MURZEAF o

b) {EFFEFEEFEM

BB OFE N
ERRHERMEEL
5 {8 7 1 8 7 52 PET 8
¥ o

c) SMEREER

20124F8 - FIREFTR
an CRY) BRARIEES
—FESEFRIIT B
RESTEDER | BT -

2012F9A - FiEgRE (&
8) BRBARARERS
[2BERBTTRE ORI D
ESR LA

= -BI%R

a) BIEI:

20125 BB mEFIRHET
K57 58\ - AIETIREE
28/J\H%:. o
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b)

c)

SEEKRS

Staff Development and Incentive

Talent Development Committee was established to
proactively promote the talent development system
of the Company.

Proactively launched the employment qualification
standards project.

Different incentive schemes including share
options and long-term incentives linked to
market capitalization were formulated to reward
employees’ contributions at different levels.

Annual awards such as “Character of the Year”
and “Top 10 Most Touching Characters” were
created to assess, commend and reward individual
employees or teams for their great efforts and
outstanding results.

Care for Employees:

In addition to the basic care for the employee, the
Company has also launched various specific measures:

In 2012, team activities such as “Harmonious
Activities in Spring” (ERE&ED) and “You Are with
Us All the Way” (—E&HBR) were organized in the
headquarters and sales regions of China Foods.
More than 4,000 employees from headquarters
office and sales regions joined these activities.
The communication among cross-department
employees was enhanced. Furthermore, the
Company showed care for its employees as well as
those having special circumstances by providing
festival benefits, birthday blessings and care for
the hospitalized.

b)

c)

ETEREHR

RIATERERE - 78
BREATATHREER
g -

BRFAREBRERIZER
ZIAH -

HERBEABREREY
& - AR R HTE
BESE BEUEFR
REFDHEEMDEIE -

REITFEADE] [+
REBAYE] FZHF
[EEIH - & - R¥ - &
BETFERHHESTS
N BGRERENET
SHEFX -

EBTEE

BREANEIRIE QREFE
TEZEBETHE BSHEE

2012F B R M-
REZRET [FR/EE)] -
[—BBR] EEBES
BB 35 E KE4,000%

ASHEHER - 1258 AP
BTRE - s REE
BETABA - EBRIE -
ERBRERESIAHEESR
IMEFRBERE TETT

’ﬂi{\"{‘h;;.:w

510 AN SN ¢
ol "ta' ALK B l--.l.u, :

Team Activity of “You Are with Us All the Way"
[—HAR] EEEBES)
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

The Company clearly emphasize its management
duties to protect employees’ occupational health
and safety through implementation of relevant
systems and work flows, launching pre-job
training, specific training, regular occupational
health checks, regular safety checks with prompt
rectification, and regular emergency rehearsals to
enhance emergency handling capabilities.

COFCO Coca Cola Bottling system conducted
third party professional audit on the social
responsibilities of Coca Cola bottlers and achieved
full marks.

IV. SOCIAL WELFARE

a)

On 28 March 2012, Ms. Luan Xiuju, Managing Director
of China Foods encouraged all personnel to proactively

take part in the public welfare activity of “One Hour on

Earth”. During the campaign, the nine sales regions of
China Foods turned off all lights in the offices, factories,
outdoor advertising signs, advertising light boxes, as well
as the lights at employees’ homes. Meanwhile, China
Foods actively encouraged its customers, suppliers,
distributors and consumers to join the campaign of “One
Hour on Earth”.

TREGEARE

i. HEREEIBRFREEZ
2HHE - ARBEBARE
BEAL - HIEARESEAN
THERE - FREAE
MEtEEF - IR B
BT2mBEEFEER -
ERBFLEEREY N
B EHETRSORR
RIS ELEET o

ji. PSR ORI RGN
BE-AEEQREHT
A& MAMmT e & T
it B T2 eE
D BIBALTAA -

CHEQE

a)

201243 F28H FEAME
BREEERFE L TRAEEET
BEREGSEH [ Ik — /] &
@EEEE o AR - R
G fE 2 B A 9 R §5 & K& A B8
FTERAREE BEEE - P
INEERRRE - BEEMUARE
IXREEE - RS PRAERE
MEPF - HERE - Ky BB
ETEIRHES) [ HbIR—/ )\ | JEED o

One Hour on Earth Activity
IR —/NEEED
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ERESEMEEHES

b)  The public welfare campaign of Fortune Bursary Fund
which will last for 13 years was officially launched
in 2012. Through subsidies in tuition, it will provide
professional training and job practicing opportunities to
over 12,000 undergraduates in more than ten provinces
and cities all over China, including Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou and Shenzhen. Students will benefit from
this extensive growth platform.

c) China Foods donated cereals, edible oils, daily
necessities, learning materials and other materials
to socially vulnerable groups including poor families,
aged widows, elderly people living alone, and children
left-behind at home in Chao Yang Men Wai Avenue
(Beijing), Fenghuang (Hunan), Shaoshan (Guangdong)
etc. districts during Spring Festival, Dragon Boat Festival,
and Mid-Autumn Festival in 2012 to care for people with
difficulties. Moreover, China Foods donated supplies
worth RMB400,000 to the victims of the 7.21 disastrous
storm in Liulihezhen and the victims of the earthquake
in Xinyuan supporting their post-disaster reconstruction
and fulfilling corporate social responsibilities.

In 2012, while generating values for society in the course of
developing its business, China Foods took food safety protection as a
key responsibility, proactively responded to the need for low-carbon
environment, and made contributions to social welfare. During
the year, China Foods made contributed over RMB5,000,000 to
effectively carry out its corporate social responsibilities.

Launching of Forture Bursary Fund

b) 2012% - AHII3FH P RER
FBE e AeEBIE S - &
BESEER - REFXFIIM
EERE#EE LN BRI
®obE s BN ORYIEREA
ZEA™  H#iH12,000 A K
ERARSE - BERETRHE
REFHKERSES -

c) 2012%FFH - imF - RINEE
BHRE - PERAAIERESEM
SMETIE - HEERS - ERE
FHHMERERRE - IFE
A BTREFHDBEE KL
Bm- HlAm 2FRRE
B RECEHRMEFRNELY]
ZE PERMERILRT « 21
RENEXEFUERETHE
BRFEFTRENENRS - 1B
WMEEBEAIOET  XFHLE
B BiThEdeRE-

R2FFHRRBEXRRE FEBRITEE]
EEENRE  RRERELZER/CHE B
BEREHRERE - BOREERE - R
FA- PERMBAEIMEEIHBEAR
®o00&ETT - MERTHRITEXLEEME -

Public Welfare Campaign Donation
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is committed to achieve
achieving high standards of corporate governance. The board of
directors of the Company (the “Board”) recognizes the importance
of maintaining a good corporate governance standard and practices
for the growth of the Company and for safeguarding the interests of
our shareholders, investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Code of Corporate Governance Practices (the “Former
CG Code” which was subsequently revised as the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Revised CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and came
into full effect on 1 April 2012.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions of the Former
CG Code for the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 March 2012
and of the Revised CG Code for the period from 1 April 2012 to
31 December 2012, except that certain directors of the Company
were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 1 June 2012 as required under Code Provision A.6.7 due
to their unavoidable business engagements and there was a delay
in complying with the requirement under Code Provision C.1.2
in respect of the provision of monthly updates to members of the
Board, but this has been rectified and the Company is now in
compliance with the requirement.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Following
specific enquiries by the Company, all directors of the Company
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities transactions
by relevant employees (the “Employees Trading Code”) based on
the Model Code concerning dealings by relevant employees in the
securities of the Company. Relevant employees who are likely to be
in possession of unpublished inside information of the Group are
required to comply with the Employees Trading Code in respect of
their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms of the
Employees Trading Code are no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and experience
necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its business
needs.

Subsequent to the Board changes took effect from the conclusion
of the Board meeting held on 26 March 2013, the Board currently
comprises three executive Directors and nine non-executive
Directors of whom four are independent as defined under the
Listing Rules. Independent non-executive Directors constitute
more than one-third of the Board. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On 30 November 2012, the
Nomination Committee of the Board has conducted an annual
review of the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors. Taking into account the independence criteria as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules in assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, the nomination committee
concluded that all the independent non-executive Directors satisfied
the Listing Rules requirement of independence.

The biographies of the Board members are set out in Directors’
Profile on pages 38 to 44 of this annual report. To the best
knowledge of the Board, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another. The Company has also maintained on its
website (www.chinafoodsltd.com) and the HKExnews website of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of its Directors identifying
their roles and functions. Composition of the Board, by category
of Directors, is explicitly identified in all the Company’s corporate
communications.

Board Meeting and General Meeting

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with additional Board meetings as
and when required.

Notices for regular Board meetings or Board committee meetings
are sent to Directors or Board committee members at least fourteen
days prior to such meetings and Directors or Board committee
members can include matters for discussion in the agenda for such
meetings if the need arises. For ad hoc meetings, shorter notice may
be given.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meeting and General Meeting (continued)

The company secretary assists the chairman of the Board or other
committees of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all relevant rules and regulations for meeting
proceedings are followed. Board papers were sent to the Directors
at least three days before Board meetings or Board committee
meetings.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings have
recorded in sufficient detail matters considered by the Board and
Board committees, decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of Board meetings and/or Board committee
meetings are sent to Directors or committee members (as the case
may be) for their comment and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after the meetings. The decision of the
Board can be made by written resolutions.

All minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
kept by the company secretary and are available to all Directors for
inspection. Every Board member has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the company secretary to enable them to
discharge their duties effectively, and has the liberty to seek external
professional advice if so required. The cost of procuring these
professional services will be borne by the Company.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a substantial
shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed through
an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will
be present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.
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ERERRE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meeting and General Meeting (continued)

During the year, a total of four Board meetings and the annual
general meeting of 2012 (the “2012 AGM") at which the external
auditors attended were held and the attendance of such meetings
by each Director is set out below:

Exg (&)
ESENRBRRAE (&)

REER HBETUREZTESZ MBI
BREMEEZ2012FERREFAE
(2012 WRAEAFARE]) BUEENZ
FeRILREBERAETIIT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEEEAE

2012 AGM

Notes Board Meetings 2012 %

Name of Directors EEEER BRAFEA®
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chi Jingtao (Chairman) BRURRE (F/F) 4/(4) /(1)
Ms. Luan Xiuju BEHT L 4/(4) 1/(1)
Mr. Ning Gaoning EREiLE 1/(4) 0/(1)
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BEREE 4/(4) 1/(1)
Mr. Zhang Zhentao RIRBAEE 1/(2) 0/(1)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Liu Ding WT &+t 3/(4) 0/(1)
Mr. Ma Jianping BE¥EE 4/(4) 0/(1)
Ms. Wu Wenting RXfE 4 4/(4) 0/(1)
Independent Non-executive Directors BV IFEHITES
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark rizfEsftE 3/(4) /(1)
Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells BRI A 2/(2) 0/(0)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TRPE 4/(4) 1/(1)
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANLAE 4/(4) 0/(1)

Notes: Bt -

1. Mr. Zhang Zhentao resigned as an executive Director with effect from 1. ?Eﬁ%f‘ﬁﬂi%%‘%?i%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ% 1 pR2012

9 August 2012. F8A9RER
2. Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells was appointed as an independent non- 2. BRIKSELE (Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells) B

executive Director with effect from 9 August 2012.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the leadership
and control of the Company, and be collectively responsible for
formulating the Company’s overall strategies and policies, reviewing
and monitoring financial and operating performance, reviewing
the effectiveness of the internal control system, supervising and
managing management’s performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), and approval of matters or
transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Responsibilities of the Board (continued)

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board to the management under the leadership of
the managing director.

Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
function such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management and the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the
Company’s compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and disclosure in the
corporate governance report contained in the annual report of the
Company.

During the year, the Board approved the terms of reference of the
nomination committee, shareholder communication policy and
the revised terms of reference of the audit committee and the
remuneration committee and the handbook for the Directors.

Appointment and Re-election/Election of Directors

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for specific terms of three years. Pursuant
to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), each Director
(including those appointed for specific terms) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and the retiring
Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Director who is appointed
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director to the Board
shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after
the appointment and be subject to election at such meeting.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as directors and of the business and activities of
the Group. Each newly appointed Director would receive from the
chairman or executive Directors’ briefings on the operations and
business of the Group and an induction package to ensure that he
has a proper understanding on his responsibilities under the relevant
statues, laws, rules and regulations.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Continuous Professional Development (continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. From
time to time, the company secretary disseminates information on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to the Directors to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. The Company also organizes seminars on specific topics
of significance or interest for Directors and management staff and
sponsors Directors to attend professional development seminars or
other programmes where necessary.

During the year, an in-house training session on the topic of the
disclosure of inside information was organized for the Directors. The
relevant materials were also sent to the Directors who were unable to
attend the training session for their information.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors during the year is set out below:

Name of Director

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chi Jingtao (Chairman) BRUBSLE(FE)
Ms. Luan Xiuju AT

Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William BERTE
Non-executive Directors FEITES

Ms. Liu Ding WT 2+

Mr. Ma Jianping BEYRAE

Ms. Wu Wenting RXIEZ T+
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark MBS

Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells BRI A

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred kel

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANTE

Exg (&)
FEEEZR (&)
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EREEREMB MG - ARWETRRA
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Bl ARAMAEENEEABEBAE
EUNRESRINEERE WARE
ARRNEENEFHFEFRERBERH
flERE

REER > ARAREELF—EABERE
ARBBHIAEE - HEER DX T
REEHEARREI 2 EEARKRESE -

REZRHMCE  EERNAFEMERE
Az BRI

Type of continuous
professional development
programmes
BEEXRRARNER
(Notes)

(FfHsE)

OO0

W >

> >
W W W
00O

> >
>Ww >
'eXeXele)

Notes:
A: Attending internal training

B: Attending workshops/seminars/conference/continuing development
programme

C: Reading relevant materials of workshops/internal training/updates on
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulations
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company arranged appropriate insurance for
Directors and officers of the Group.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The roles of chairman and managing director are segregate and
discharged by different individuals. Currently, the chairman of the
Board is Mr. Yu Xubo, who was appointed to replace Mr. Chi Jingtao
as the chairman of the Board with effect from the conclusion of the
Board meeting held on 26 March 2013, while Ms. Luan Xiuju acts
as the managing director of the Company.

The chairman of Board is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring all significant and key
issues are discussed and where required, resolved by the Board in a
timely manner.

The managing director of the Company is delegated with the
authority and responsibility to manage the businesses of the Group
in all aspects effectively, implement major strategies, make day-to-
day decision and coordinate overall business operation and regularly
report to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the executive
committee, the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee, to oversee corresponding aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company have
defined terms of reference.

Executive Committee

Subsequent to the Board changes took effect on 26 March 2013, the
executive committee currently consists of three executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Luan Xiuju who is the chairman of this committee,
Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William. The primary
responsibility of the executive committee is to deal with and
supervise the day-to-day business operations, management
and administration of the Group. There is no minimum meeting
requirements and this committee shall meet as and when necessary
for proper discharge of its duties.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee

The audit committee currently consists of four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Stephen Edward Clark who is the
chairman of this committee, Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells, Mr. Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred and Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis.

In order to comply with the Revised CG Code, the Board adopted a
revised terms of reference of the audit committee on 30 March 2012.
The revised terms of reference of the audit committee are available
on the website of the Company (www.chinafoodsltd.com) and the
HKExnews website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

The duties of the audit committee are mainly to review the financial
information and reporting process, internal control procedures and
risk management system, audit plan and relationship with external
auditors and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

There were two meetings held during the year and the attendance
by each committee member is set out below:
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BREES
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S/ f®4E A4 (Mr. Stephen Edward Clark) (&34
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Attendance/

Note Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member i HEEERE

Mr. Stephen Edward Clark (Chairman) M BEAE(FF) 2/(2)

Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells BRI E 1 1/(1)

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred = A 2/(2)

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANSEE 2/(2)

Note: BiE -

1. A meeting of the audit committee was held prior to the appointment 1. BRZESERBERMNEEML Paul
of Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells as a member of the audit committee on Kenneth Etchells) 2201248 O BEZ (T

9 August 2012.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the audit
committee during the year:

—  reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2011;

— reviewed matters relating to the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

—  reviewed continuing connected transactions for the year 2011;

— reviewed external auditor's management letter;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

—  reviewed and approved the appointment of external auditors
for providing non-audit services to the Group;

— made recommendation to the Board a proposal to the
shareholders to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the Company’s
external auditors for the year 2012;

— reviewed the internal audit results, the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management systems framework;

—  approved the internal audit plan for the year 2012;

— reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs
and reported to the Board;

—  reviewed the Group’s unaudited interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2012, with a recommendation
to the Board for approval;

—  reviewed the audit fee proposal for the Group for the year
2012; and

— met with the external auditors to discuss the general scope
of their audit work for the financial year ended 31 December
2012.

Remuneration Committee

Subsequent to the change of composition of the remuneration
committee took effect on 26 March 2013, the remuneration
committee currently consists of five members, including three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yuen Tin Fan,
Francis who is the chairman of this committee, Mr. Stephen
Edward Clark and Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells and two non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Yu Xubo and Mr. Chi Jingtao.

In order to comply with the Revised CG Code, the Board adopted
a revised terms of reference of the remuneration committee on
30 March 2012. The revised terms of reference of the remuneration
committee are available on the website of the Company
(www.chinafoodsltd.com) and the HKExnews website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

The duties of the remuneration committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual non-executive Directors.

There were two meetings held during the year and the attendance
by each committee member is set out below:

EXZEE (&)
FHESE (8)

FHEZE G T BRE/IARRIEELS
REEEBZHFHBRMRBRESTSRMHE
Bk - R TRBUATEFRIARE
EENEAFNGE  SfFEFSENE R
REBALBESRE (BREMERRKIK
IR SR EMRRE) - AR BRIERTT
EENFIFEAESTSRDES

AEERBITTMAER  SURBEKE
ZHFEEREIAT

Attendance/

Notes Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member B aE HE EERE

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis (Chairman) RANTE () 2/(2)

Mr. Chi Jingtao BRELE 2/(2)

Mr. Stephen Edward Clark W fESE 1/(2)

Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells BIRTN S & 1 0/(0)

Note: P EE -

1. The two meetings of the remuneration committee were held prior to L FHZBGMMREHRHIRBERNTE

the appointment of Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells as a member of the
remuneration committee on 9 August 2012.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the
remuneration committee during the year:

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of all Directors;

— reviewed the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
all Directors and senior management; and

— made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration

package of a new independent non-executive Director who
was appointed on 9 August 2012.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee

Subsequent to the change of composition of the nomination
committee took effect on 26 March 2013, the nomination committee
currently consists of three members, including a non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Yu Xubo who is the chairman of this committee
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Hung
Kwan, Alfred and Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis.

The nomination committee was established on 30 March 2012
with specific terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
nomination committee are available on the website of the Company
(www.chinafoodsltd.com) and the HKExnews website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

The duties of nomination committee are mainly to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify suitable
candidates for appointment as directors; make recommendations
to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors; and assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors and review whether non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are spending enough time to fulfill their duties annually.

There were two meetings held during the year and the attendance
by each committee member is set out below:

Name of Committee Member
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Attendance/
Notes Number of Meetings

B aE HFEEERRE

Mr. Chi Jingtao (Chairman) BRUSSRE (EF)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred ey
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RANTEE

2/(2)
2/(2)
2/(2)

The following is a summary of the work performed by the nomination
committee during the year:

—  made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of an
additional independent non-executive Director;

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; and

— assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and reviewed whether non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) were
spending enough time to fulfill their duties.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The board is committed to presenting a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Company’s affairs to its
shareholders and the public in accordance with all statutory
requirements.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the consolidated financial statements of the
Company on a going-concern basis.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the year, the fees paid or to be payable to the Company’s
external auditors are set out below:

Services rendered

FERZH
B I R
HELE N RBAAEIAT - AR

EBARRRARSHLE - EWRIRE
BREDRPA o

EXUTHEABEAEHFRIBERANEAT
MR RHARRERLENENELE
RERE - At EFERRIFBLLELR
SNRAMEREMBERE -

BB B &

AEER - ARKGETENEBAE S E
SHEREFIAT

Fees paid/payable

Fri2 ALY AR 3% e EENER
HK$'000

THETT

Audit services EETARTS 2,652
Non-audit services* IEEAT RS * 863
Total =18 3,515

*

Such services included interim review and compliance review relating
to continuing connected transactions.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for ensuring the Company to maintain
a sound and effective internal control system to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets.

By reference to the framework recommended by COSO, the
Company conducts regular review of the Group’s internal control
systems. Management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls, with
the Board and the audit committee overseeing the actions of
management and monitoring the effectiveness of the internal
controls that have been put in place.

The audit and supervision department of the Company conducts
regular and independent reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control systems of the Group and risk-based audits on the business
operations of the Group in accordance with the annual audit plan
approved by the audit committee. The audit committee reviews the
findings and opinion of the audit and supervision department on the
review of effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system semi-
annually and report to the Board on such review.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal Controls (continued)

The audit committee, as delegated by the Board, reviews the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programs and budget on an annual basis.

The Board reviewed, through the audit committee, the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems and, while it is not aware
of any significant defects in these systems, the Board accepts and
will act upon the audit committee’s recommendation that, given the
organizational restructuring that the Group has undergone, it would
be prudent to commission an independent external review of the
Group’s internal control and financial reporting systems, and the
effectiveness of its accounting and financial reporting function.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda has been the company secretary of the
Company since 2004. During the year, Ms. Liu undertook not less
than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition by
Shareholders

Shareholders shall have a right to request the Board to convene a
special general meeting of the Company (“SGM"). Shareholders
holding in aggregate of not less than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up
capital of the Company may send a written requisition to the Board
of the Company to request for convene a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the registered office of the Company. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting,
but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
three months from the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by Directors.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company:

(a) any member(s) representing not less than one-twentieth (5%)
of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company; or

(b)  not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.

The requisition specifying the proposal desired to be put forward
at the general meeting, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like from each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office of
the Company, together with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto, not less than six
weeks before the general meeting (in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution) or not less than one week before the general
meeting (in case of any other requisition). The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangement once a valid
requisition is received.

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the
shareholder should lodge at the head office of the Company at 33/F.,
Top Glory Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong,
(a) a written notice signed by such shareholder (other than the
proposed person) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
of his/her intention to propose such person for election and (b) a
written notice by the proposed person indicating his/her willingness
to be elected together with the personal information of the proposed
person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and
consent of publication of his/her personal information.

The period during which the aforesaid notice may be given shall be
seven days (or such other period as determined and announced
by the Board). Such period will commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company
would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
once valid notice is received.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Communication with Shareholders

The Company attaches great importance to communicate with
shareholders, both individual and institutional, and the Shareholders
Communication Policy was adopted by the Company on 30 March
2012 to ensure the shareholders and potential investors are provided
with the Company’s information in a timely and effective manner.

The means to communicate with the shareholders and the
investment community used by the Company including the following:

i. corporate communications such as annual reports,
interim reports and circulars are issued in printed form
and are available on the HKExnews website of the Stock

Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website
(www.chinafoodsltd.com)

ii. corporate announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the HKExnews website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company’s website;

iii.  corporate information is made available on the Company’s
website;

iv.  annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and management executives; and

V. Tricor Progressive Limited, the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment
and related matters.

Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and
concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles, together with
his/her contact details, such as postal address, email address or
fax number, via the company secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary
China Foods Limited

33/F., Top Glory Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2833 0388
Fax: (852) 2833 0380
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and Bye-Laws during the financial year 2012. A copy of the latest
consolidated version of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-
Laws is available on the website of the Company and the HKExnews
website of the Stock Exchange.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The mission and strategic objectives of investor relations function
have been clearly defined as follows:

Mission:

Through transparent and fair disclosure to facilitate mutual
understanding between investors and the Company with a view to
realize the full value of the Company.

Strategic objectives:

1)  to raise the profile of the Company as a leading participant
in the branded consumer foods industry in China in line with
our strategic direction and our strategic positioning within the
COFCO group;

2) 1o build a long-term and trusting shareholder base that is
willing to grow with us; and

3)  to understand the key concerns of the investment community
and provide timely feedback to management.

Besides effectively bridging the Company and the investment
community through regular communications such as results
announcements, post-results roadshows, site visits, corporate days,
conference calls, one-on-one meetings and e-mails, we have also
made continuous quality improvements in the underlying day-to-day
internal management processes in 2012.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2012, which were approved by the Board on
26 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries and associated
companies operates four principal businesses involving beverage,
wine, kitchen food and confectionery.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 91 to 220.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend
(31 December 2011: HK4.25 cents per share) for the year ended 31
December 2012. An interim dividend of HK6.11 cents per share was
paid on Friday, 19 October 2012 (30 June 2011: HK4.07 cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed for
determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting from Monday, 3 June 2013
to Tuesday, 4 June 2013, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 31 May 2013.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on
page 221. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 21 November
2006 (the “Option Scheme”). Pursuant to the resolution passed
on 28 March 2011 at the Board meeting, the vesting and exercise
periods for the options granted under the Option Scheme have
been modified. The following are the principal terms of the Option
Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Option Scheme

Attracting, retaining and motivating senior management
personnel and key employees of the Company, and providing
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage eligible participants
to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

2. Participants of the Option Scheme

Participants of the Option Scheme include (i) any executive or
non-executive directors (excluding independent non-executive
directors) of any members of the Group; (i) any senior
executives, key technical staff, professional staff, managers
and employees of any members of the Group; or (iii) any other
individuals as may be proposed by the Board.

3. Total number of shares available for issue under the
Option Scheme

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options granted under the Option Scheme and
all other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue from time to
time. As at 31 December 2012 and at the date of this report, a
total of 38,375,480 shares (representing approximately 1.37%
of the issued share capital of the Company) may be issued
by the Company if all options which were granted under the
Option Scheme have been exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) B RESTE ()

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 4. BRETEETESESHEZRS
Option Scheme PREE
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon MR A ARRARD 2 BRE (B2F2
exercise of the options granted to any grantee (including both ITERARITE 2 B E1THEEM
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period BOIRKBEET I RNDBEEEM
must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue TZEABEATSBRARFR
(the “Individual Limit”) at the relevant time. Any further grant BRI 2 1T D A9 1% ([ & R BR
of options in excess of the Individual Limit shall be subject to F]) o i — R E (T R E B PR 28
shareholders’ approval with such grantee and his associates 2B RS IR AL E - A AR
abstaining from voting. AREBEAGERERSE -

5. Period within which an option must be exercised 5. BREETITEZHR
The directors may in their absolute discretion determine the EXNEENBEETFEBERECH
period during which an option may be exercised, save that IR EEEMERT - ZERTEE
in any event such period of time shall not exceed a period of BREMERES BB EF TR
seven years commencing on the date of acceptance of the +TFHREE—BE®  EREER
option and expiring on the last date of such seven-year period, T EIME BRI R R I BCER
subject to early termination thereof as provided in the Option BRAN o
Scheme.

6. Minimum period for which an option must be held 6. BRETEINLARTEZRERR
before it can be exercised

An option must be held for a minimum period of two years BRENTEIEBR L AERRAE
from the date of grant before it can be exercised. S STk I

The options granted on 27 September 2007 are subject to the #2007 F9 B 27 AR HWEREAES
following vesting schedule: TN SBERERRS

Maximum percentage
of options which

may be exercised

Periods RZATHE

HirE BRE2EIL

— Upon and after the second anniversary of the grant - B BHIEstE —AF R EE 33%
until the third anniversary of the grant ZE=AF

— Upon and after the third anniversary of the grant - BRI BB E=AFREE 67%
until the fourth anniversary of the grant EEMEF

— Upon and after the fourth anniversary of the grant - BRI BB ENATREE 100%
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

6. Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised (continued)

The options granted after 28 March 2011 are subject to the
following new vesting schedule:

BRETE (&)

6.

BRETENLEFEZREHR
(&)

72011 4 3 A 28 R AR % H eV BB A4
ABRIA T R EREF I RR )

Maximum percentage
of options which

may be exercised

Periods BZ AT
Hir BREZESL
- Upon and after the second anniversary of the grant - BRHEHETE - AFERE% 20%
until the third anniversary of the grant EE=RAF
— Upon and after the third anniversary of the grant - BRI BRRTE AT RER 40%
until the fourth anniversary of the grant EEMNEF
— Upon and after the fourth anniversary of the grant - BERHBBEA BN AT AR 60%
until the fifth anniversary of the grant EFRAF
— Upon and after the fifth anniversary of the grant until - B4 BEIEst SR AF R EE 80%
the sixth anniversary of the grant EENAF
— Upon and after the sixth anniversary of the grant - BRI BRI ESET R ER 100%
until the seventh anniversary of the grant EELRAF
7. Time of acceptance and the amount payable on 7. IZHEREZHREENSTRIE
acceptance of the option
The offer of an option made pursuant to the Option Scheme BIEBERETSRLERECZNY
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer and BAREBHBHEF T N RKAEE
the amount payable on acceptance of the option is HK$1. o Tk AN R IR FE T IR R 1B
7TE, o
8. Basis for determining the exercise price 8. HEETHEEZEZE
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board and shall TEEREESE T WAANUT=
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated HrmmE : @QRENEBBRBHA
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of RGFERAR ([HFT]) FHRE
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the KITERHETE OREEZEELA
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in AR AEE XA RIAMEERERM
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for AR 2 FHUWTE - sk(c) IR 2 E
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the (ERE
offer; or (c) the nominal value of a share.
9. Duration of the Option Scheme 9. BRETEIZEMH

The Option Scheme is valid until 20 November 2016.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRAERTE (&)
10. Movement of share options 10. BREZZE
Details of the movements in the share options during the year HE2012F12A31HILFE - BR
ended 31 December 2012 are as follows: 2 FEFEEWT
Number of share options
BRENHE
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise Exercise
Name or category 01.01.2012 during during during 31.12.2012 grant of period of price of
of participants R2012% the year the year the year R2012 share options share options share options
SEEML RS 1A1R ERR ERfTE EREH 128318 REEKERS  BREGES BREGREE
HKS
BT
Directors
3
Mr. Chi Jingtao 740,000 - - - 740,000 29.03.2011 29032013 4910
ERELE 2032018
Ms. Luan Xiuju 560,000 - - - 560,000 27.09.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
2FHL 26.00.2014
740,000 - - - 740,000 29.03.2011 29032013 4910
2032018
Mr. Ning Gaoning 880,000 - - - 880,000 27.09.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
S 26092014
740,000 - - - 740,000 29.03.2011 29032013 4910
2032018
Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William 800,000 - - - 800,000 27.09.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
BEREE 26.09.2014
600,000 - - - 600,000 29.03.2011 29032013 4910
28032018
Ms. Liu Ding 600,000 - - - 600,000 2.03.2011 29032013 4910
WTxt 2032018
Mr. Ma Jianping 800,000 - (480,000) - 320,000 27.09.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
SETEE (Note 1) 26.09.2014
(D)
600,000 - - - 600,000 29.03.2011 29.032013- 4910
2032018
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRAERTE (&)
10. Movement of share options (continued) 10. BREZEE (&)
Number of share options
RRENZA
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise Exercise
Name or category 01.01.2012 during during during 31.12.2012 grant of period of price of
of participants R2012% the year the year the year R2012% share options share options share options
SRENL RSN 1818 FREL FRfE Q&N 128318 REERERS  BREGES  BREGRE
HKS
BT
Ms. Wu Wenting 700,000 - (420,000 - 280,000 2709.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
KXELT (Note 2) 26.09.2014
(3E2)
600,000 - - - 600,000 29.03.2011 29.03.2013- 4910
28032018
Mr. Zhang Zhentao (Note 3) 700,000 - (280,000) - 420,000 2109.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
FRELE (M) (Note 4) 26092014
(MzE4)
600,000 - - - 600,000 29.03.2011 29.03.2013- 4910
28032018
Other employees 10,604,500 - (3,119,640) (949,380) 6,535,480 2709.2007 27.09.2009- 4,952
AthEE (Note 5) (Note 6) 26002014

(Ht0) (ft6)

25,260,000 - - (1,900,000) 23,360,000 29.03.2011 29032013 4910
(Note 7) 28.03.2018
(HIE7)
Total 45,524,500 - (4,299,640) (2,849,380) 38,375,480

ae
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
10. Movement of share options (continued)

Notes:

1. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the options
were exercised was HK$8.28.

2. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the options
were exercised was HK$8.04.

3. Mr. Zhang Zhentao resigned as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 9 August 2012.

4. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the options
were exercised was HK$7.98.

5. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the
Company immediately before the dates on which the options
were exercised was HK$8.11.

6. The vested options lapsed during the year upon the expiry of
stipulated period in accordance with the terms of the Option
Scheme.

7. The unvested options lapsed during the year upon the
resignations of certain employees of the Company in
accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 33 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2012, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, amounted to approximately HK$4,757,783,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, less than 5% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers. Approximately
63.10% of the Group’s total purchases were attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers, with the largest supplier accounting
for approximately 46.61%.

Apart from the Company’s ultimate holding company, COFCO
Corporation, which is one of the Group’s five largest suppliers,
none of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the other four largest suppliers or the five
largest customers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Luan Xiuju

Mr. Ning Gaoning

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, William
Mr. Zhang Zhentao Mt D

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Yu Xubo MNete 2)

Mr. Chi Jingtag MNete3)

Ms. Liu Ding

Mr. Ma Jianping

Ms. Wu Wenting

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells (Nete4

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

Notes:

1. Mr. Zhang Zhentao resigned as an executive Director with effect from
9 August 2012.

2. Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed as a non-executive Director and the

chairman of the Board with effect from the conclusion of the Board
meeting held on 26 March 2013.

3. Mr. Chi Jingtao has ceased to be the chairman of the Board and
was re-designated as a non-executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the Board meeting held on 26 March 2013.

4. Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 9 August 2012.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are appointed with specific terms.

Each Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years as required by bye-law 111(A) of the Company’s
bye-laws. Accordingly, Ms. Luan Xiuju, Mr. Ma Jianping and Ms. Wu
Wenting will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

According to bye-law 94 of the Company’s bye-laws, any director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional director to the Board shall hold office only until the
first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
be subject to election at such meeting. In this regard, Mr. Paul
Kenneth Etchells and Mr. Yu Xubo will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considered all of them to be independent.
The Nomination Committee also reviewed their independence at a
meeting held in November 2012.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors are set out on pages
38 to 44 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election or election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the Group’s business to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board is authorized by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The directors’ emoluments are
determined by the Board based on the recommendation by the
remuneration committee with reference to their job complexity,
workload and responsibilities and the Company’s remuneration

policy.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management or administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”) as recorded in the register of interests of the Company
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) (collectively the “Discloseable
Interests”) were as follows:

(@) Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company
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EERRORABRG > ERR
RE

MR2012F 12318 BEERFEECBHEA
RARBREEMAEREE (FER (F
MEIEEG) (TEHREEED]) EXVED)
2B HERNSESFTHEB ERK
KB TR H &R G A2 352 At 8
KARIFAGFE 2 BT EMA  iREES
FEAEIEMEXVERE 7 M 8D ER (@%TF
I PR VES EVEREB 2 R AR ) 3k
RIECES ‘é’ﬁé?&%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ%ﬁ#tﬁ?%ﬁ
By (T LA FrEid EMEITAESE
TRAER ZMEESPRD ([R5 g
AARI R (58 [ AR GEER]) 28

RO

(@) RADRAZKRHRAEBERED AR
BEs

Total
number of

shares and Approximate

Number of underlying percentage of

Number of underlying  shares held issued shares

Capacity/ shares held  shares held Fris B4 HBE BT

Name of Director Nature of Interest P FrisEEs 1R B 17 B9 8RS

EEpE 51/ mtE ivgid 4= igil 4= B% 17 4R 24 Bk

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)

(MIzE1) (fF3E2) (FFEE3)

Mr. Chi Jingtao Beneficial Owner - 740,000 740,000 0.03%
BRUEEE E=HAA

Ms. Luan Xiuju Beneficial Owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.05%
RER L BE=HAA

Mr. Ning Gaoning Beneficial Owner - 1,620,000 1,620,000 0.06%
EoESLE EnHEEA

Mr. Mak Chi Wing, Beneficial Owner - 1,400,000 1,400,000 0.05%

William

BEREE E=EAA

Ms. Liu Ding Beneficial Owner - 600,000 600,000 0.02%
WT &+ EnEEA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

(a)

Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continued)

/AF'

E%FF)@&*EBEH“@Z*E%E&

(@) RARTzZKRHREBERD AR
BEEs (&)

Total
number of
shares and Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
Number of underlying  shares held issued shares
Capacity/ shares held  shares held Fris R4 HBE BT
Name of Director Nature of Interest Fris FristEE RiHEA v Evid: ok |
EENR 54/ EnkE gl 4= B3 EE B% 17 48 21 Bk
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
(FFEED) (FfzE2) (PfFzE3)
Mr. Ma Jianping Beneficial Owner - 920,000 920,000 0.03%
BEELEE EnEAA
Ms. Wu Wenting Beneficial Owner - 880,000 880,000 0.03%
KRBT EnHEEA
Mr. Paul Kenneth Beneficial Owner 200,000 - 290,000 0.01%
Etchells BB A
BRI A
Interest of Spouse 90,000 -
A S
Notes: FisE
1. Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity 1. $’Aﬁjﬁxfﬁ2ﬂﬁ (BASTHET AL
derivatives such as share options, warrants or convertible MR - RREE KT RRESRR
bonds. HN) °
2. Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company under 2. BEEREEHNEESEDOER
share options granted to Directors pursuant to the Option BIE T AR RHEERGHETE -
Scheme.
3. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of 3. BAOLBRERRER2012F

128318 2 B #17 B 1n 42 & (A
2,797,191 396 %A% 17) 5HE -

shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2012, i.e.
2,797,191,396 shares.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

(b)

Discloseable Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of an associated corporation, China Agri-
Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWRE

EERROREERN 2 ERR
wKeE (&)

(b) R—FMEEZE (PEEHZERE
BRATR ([hEEMm])) 2BRH kA
B 2 AR BEERS

Total
number of
shares and Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
Number of underlying  shares held issued shares
Capacity/ shares held  shares held JZiE=3: ) HBE BT
Name of Director Nature of Interest Frig Fris1EEs X 1EE8 iR 17 AR A
EENE 17/ RmitE RO #E BB R 17 48 21 Aotk
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
(PMtEEL) (s 2) (B 3)
Mr. Chi Jingtao Beneficial Owner - 480,000 480,000 0.01%
BRBEE E=AA
Mr. Ning Gaoning Beneficial Owner - 1,300,000 1,300,000 0.02%
EREiE EnEEA
Notes: BIRE -

1. Long positions in the shares of China Agri, other than equity
derivatives such as share options, warrants or convertible
bonds.

2. Long positions in the underlying shares of China Agri under
share options granted to Directors pursuant to a share option
scheme of China Agri.

3. The percentages were calculated based on the total number
of shares of China Agri in issue as at 31 December 2012, i.e.,
5,249,880,788 shares.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2012, none of
the Directors nor their associates had any other Discloseable
Interests.

1. EP%?EEJM%Z&?F (BEALTETA
BRI - RIER TR ES
BroN) o

2. BRI EIEABEATENEEE
B B 1640 T o R AR AR 1D
2138 -

3. EBEOLWTRESEREHN2012F
12A31A z B &7 &8 (A
5,249,880,788 ki tn ) 5t -

BRAER A BB S - A 20124F 12 A
318 BEREMEAMEL AR
B -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER EFRERREEMA LT REROR
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS #tHERGZERREAXE

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

M2012F12 A 31 B - RIBEEF MHEED
EXVERFE 2 REIDEMAMEART + AR
1BRRE 7 K EE 5D 5 336 IRACER N AN A RI PR
FEZERZEREMA  TERRNARFR

As at 31 December 2012, the interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests of the

Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, were as

follows:

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company

Number of shares held (Note 1)
iR A (FsEl)

0 RARRER D 2 s R BRI T

RAERBRG REFARD 2 FRAH

Approximate

Through percentage of

Directly controlled issued shares

Name of beneficially corporations BT

substantial shareholder owned &R B 17 AR A

TERFEER BEEERESR ZiEEE BAL

(Note 2)

(FfFzE2)

Wide Smart Holdings Limited 1,922,550,331 - 1,922,550,331 68.73%

COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited 140,000,000 - 140,000,000 5.01%

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited 10,138,000 2,062,550,331 2,072,688,331 74.10%
FREEE (B%) BRAT (Note 3)
(FFEE3)

COFCO Corporation - 2,072,688,331 2,072,688,331 74.10%
FREEEARRAR (Note 4)
(fF5E4)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity
derivatives such as share options, warrants or convertible bonds.

2. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2012, i.e. 2,797,191,396
shares.

3. COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") was deemed to be
interested in 2,062,550,331 shares in aggregate held by Wide Smart
Holdings Limited (“Wide Smart”) and COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited
(“COFCO (BVI) 108”) which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO
(HK).

4. COFCO Corporation was deemed to be interested in 2,072,688,331
shares in aggregate held by Wide Smart, COFCO (BVI) 108 and
COFCO (HK) which were wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO
Corporation.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2012, the Directors
of the Company were not aware of substantial shareholders and
other persons who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of
this report.
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2. BOTIYREARRN2012412/31H
2 BT 8 (B12,797,191,396 AL A%
m)EE -

3. TREEES) ARAR(FEEL]) W

B A&7 Wide Smart Holdings Limited ([Wide
Smart]) X COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited
([COFCO (BVI) 108]) (A AHEEENE
EWBAR]) ATiF4E $£2,062,550,331 8 8%
DA ER -

4. PR EE AR QAR A Wide Smart »

COFCO (BVI) 108 i@ & # (AP RE
EBARARNEZEWERR) A
2,072,688,331 [k o R RS -

BRASREWEEIN - 2012412 A31H -
AABEFUTMBEERRMEMA LR
AR E WD KRR D P A 2 Sk
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E o
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group, in the ordinary and usual course of
business, conducted various transactions with certain connected
persons of the Company including COFCO Corporation (“COFCQ"),
the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, and its
subsidiaries (for the purpose of this section, excluding the Group,
collectively the “COFCO Group”) and associates of COFCO.

1. Beverage Base Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Tianjin Jin Mei
Beverage Company Limited (“Tianjin Jin Mei”), a connected
person of the Company, entered into a beverage base
purchase agreement for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2012 and expiring on 31 December 2014
(the “Beverage Base Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Beverage Base Purchase Agreement, members of the Group
with prior written approval from Tianjin Jin Mei shall purchase
beverage bases from Tianjin Jin Mei at prices determined
by Coca-Cola Beverages (Shanghai) Company Limited
(“Coca-Cola (Shanghai)”). Details of the Beverage Base
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in an announcement
of the Company dated 21 November 2011 (the “2011
Announcement”).

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to Tianjin Jin Mei for the purchase of
beverage bases was approximately RMB25 million.

2. Concentrate Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a concentrate purchase agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2012 and expiring on 31
December 2014 (the “Concentrate Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Concentrate Purchase Agreement, members
of the Group with prior written approval from Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) shall purchase concentrates from Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-Cola (Shanghai).
Details of the Concentrate Purchase Agreement were disclosed
in the 2011 Announcement and a circular of the Company
dated 12 December 2011 (the “2011 Circular”).

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to Coca-Cola (Shanghai) for the
purchase of concentrates was approximately RMB1,030
million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

3.

Still Beverages Purchase Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing (Dongguan) Co. Ltd. (“Coca-Cola
(Dongguan)”), a connected person of the Company, entered
into a still beverages purchase agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2012 and expiring on 31
December 2014 (the “Still Beverages Purchase Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement, members
of the Group with prior written approval from The Coca-Cola
Company shall purchase still beverages from the Coca-Cola
(Dongguan) and its associates (the “Coca-Cola (Dongguan)
Group”) for distribution and resale within designated areas in
the PRC. Details of the Still Beverages Purchase Agreement
were disclosed in the 2011 Announcement and the 2011
Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola (Dongguan) Group for
the purchase of still beverages was approximately RMB1,732
million.

Zijiang Provision of Packaging Materials and Services
Agreement

On 21 November 2011, Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages Co., Ltd.
(the “Tianjin Bottler”), a deemed subsidiary of the Company,
and Tianjin Shifa Zijiang Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Zijiang”), a
connected person of the Company, entered into a provision of
packaging materials and services agreement for a term of three
years commencing from 1 January 2012 and expiring on 31
December 2014 (the “Zijiang Provision of Packaging Materials
and Services Agreement”). Pursuant to the Zijiang Provision
of Packaging Materials and Services Agreement, Zijiang shall
supply packaging materials and provide conversion services
to Tianjin Bottler. Details of the Zijiang Provision of Packaging
Materials and Services Agreement were disclosed in the 2011
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount
paid/payable by the Tianjin Bottler to Zijiang for the purchase
of packaging materials and conversion services was
approximately RMB37 million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

5.

86

COFCO Mutual Provision of Products and Services
Agreement

On 21 November 2011, the Company and COFCO entered
into a mutual provision of products and services agreement
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2012
and expiring on 31 December 2014 (the “COFCO Mutual
Provision of Products and Services Agreement”). Pursuant
to the COFCO Mutual Provision of Products and Services
Agreement, the COFCO Group and associates of COFCO shall
supply certain oil products and other raw materials, consumer
products, packaging materials and other products owned,
manufactured, or resold by the COFCO Group and associates
of COFCO and provide property leasing and other services to
the Group while the Group shall supply certain bulk edible oils
and other raw materials and consumer products and other
products owned, manufactured, or resold by the Group and
provide information technology services and other services
to the COFCO Group and associates of COFCO. In addition,
the COFCO Group and associates of COFCO shall reimburse
the Group for the expenses (the “Promotion and Sales and
Distribution Expenses”) in connection with the promotion
or sale and distribution of the certain products supplied by
the COFCO Group and associates of COFCO. The Promotion
and Sales and Distribution Expenses shall first be paid by
the Group and then reimbursed by the COFCO Group and
associates of COFCO. Details of the COFCO Mutual Provision
of Products and Services Agreement were disclosed in the
2011 Announcement and the 2011 Circular.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to COFCO Group and associates of
COFCO for the purchase of raw materials, products, services
and others was approximately RMB9,404 million; the total
amount paid/payable by COFCO Group and associates of
COFCO to the Group for the purchase of raw materials,
products, services and others was approximately RMB169
million; No Promotion and Sales and Distribution Expenses
were incurred.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 5 disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 5 for the year
ended 31 December 2012 and the report of the Company’s auditors,
and confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements
governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors of the Company are considered to
have interests in any business which is likely to compete directly or
indirectly with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. Information on the Company’s corporate
governance practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 53 to 68 of this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately RMB5.05 million.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the auditors of the Company
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012 and has also discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the accounting practices
and principles adopted by the Group.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LUAN Xiuju
Managing Director

Hong Kong
26 March 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= ik

To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 220, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2012, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
B2 AR E

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31 December 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
mEBAREK

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F 12 A31 BILFE

2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FBT
REVENUE LN 5 30,878,390 28,010,761
Cost of sales SHE AR (24,388,576) (21,348,376)
Gross profit EF 6,489,814 6,662,385
Other income and gains H U A s 5 338,387 238,524
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R DT (5,148,884) (4,767,225)
Administrative expenses T (874,443) (939,583)
Other expenses and losses HEm B REE (17,930) (14,393)
Finance costs BE AR 7 (70,241) (37,043)
Share of profits of associates JE(RE & R E) R T 67,319 65,437
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RREE AR 6 784,022 1,208,102
Income tax expense i 10 (191,864) (340,811)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERR 592,158 867,291
Attributable to: FE(E T
Owners of the parent ISYNSIEZFSPN 11 381,931 645,609
Non-controlling interests ESu g T 210,227 221,682
592,158 867,291
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREERER 13
ATTRIBUTABLE TO BEEANELGERER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT
Basic AR HK13.67 cents  HK23.12 cents
AL AL
Diluted e HK13.61 cents  HK23.10 cents

p=A 1]

Al

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

FARMNKEZZBEFHBRERMH RE
MizE12 -

2012%F3k PEERREERAT

91



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AREEHERARRE

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F12A31 BILFE

2012 2011
20125 2011 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERRN 592,158 867,291
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hitz2mEUWA
Share of other comprehensive FELEE = A A
income of associates Ef2mmlA - (1,357)
Exchange differences on translation MBS INETESRE
of foreign operations ZIER =5 9,569 331,395
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEHMZ2EBA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (S HRBiE) 9,569 330,038
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZEKA
FOR THE YEAR B 601,727 1,197,329
Attributable to: FE(ET
Owners of the parent ISYNCJEZF PN 391,615 913,544
Non-controlling interests FEERR 210,112 283,785
601,727 1,197,329
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mERBRRR

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2012 2011
2012 F 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB MR E 14 4,574,405 3,889,400
Investment properties HEME 15 86,637 82,361
Prepaid land premiums E L 16 348,629 308,078
Deposits for purchase of items of BEWME - BEX
property, plant and equipment FEIEE e 34,881 52,802
Goodwill Bk 17 1,727,752 1,727,793
Other intangible assets HEmEpEE 18 50,382 60,389
Investments in associates REtE AR ZI8E 20 637,013 567,934
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 21 203,103 203,104
Deferred tax assets FEFRTEE = 30 229,853 46,893
Biological assets EMEE 23 184,427 165,833
Total non-current assets JEmBEERE 8,077,082 7,104,587
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 24 5,075,015 5,701,744
Accounts and bills receivables JEUBR T N ik 25 2,516,325 1,944,607
Prepayments, deposits TEFIE - ek
and other receivables Hth FEUFRIA 1,700,894 1,446,782
Due from fellow subsidiaries BELNENGIVES 38 588,635 69,390
Due from the ultimate holding company — FRAMEAR R AR 38 78,961 22,056
Due from the immediate holding company B Z&ZER 2 AR 38 165 165
Due from related companies P ENSIDE 38 = 4,076
Due from non-controlling shareholders M8 A A2 3R
of subsidiaries &GN 38 19,687 9,510
Due from associates NIV 20 4,411 1,551
Prepaid tax TETIA 71,846 23,653
Held-to-maturity investments BEZIERE 22 = 58,044
Equity investments at fair value through R AFETIAER 2
profit or loss IR E 26 18,746 15,016
Restricted bank balances ZIR BRI TAERR 27 22,199 -
Pledged deposits BT 27 136,921 139,005
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEIAR 27 1,901,294 1,789,797
Total current assets MEVEEMLE 12,135,099 11,225,396
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
RERBRRLE (R)

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Accounts and bills payables FER BRI 5 \ 28 1,791,806 1,558,708
Other payables and accruals HibEt B R ERraE 3,149,028 3,939,495
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGES NENGIE 38 2,093,245 1,057,344
Due to the ultimate holding company REBAYERR A B 5RIE 38 58,211 41,031
Due to related companies NG EEUNSIE e 38 769,944 884,130
Due to non-controlling shareholders USGIENGIPE E 2

of subsidiaries %ﬁ%’f\lﬁ 38 37,728 30,818
Due to associates $H§ﬁ%’%ﬁ%§(ﬁ 20 256,618 292,150
Interest-bearing bank FPERITER R

and other borrowings /H‘rﬁz%%“i 29 2,000,720 1,516,936
Tax payable FERTTRIR 61,736 75,230
Total current liabilities mEBERE 10,219,036 9,395,842
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 1,916,063 1,829,554
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEAER

LIABILITIES REAE 9,993,145 8,934,141
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3'535,53%%
Interest-bearing bank AFEIRITER K

and other borrowings HEMER 29 1,100,000 300,000
Due to non-controlling shareholders KRB R 2 IR

of subsidiaries R FRIB 38 27,675 27,680
Deferred income zﬁﬁuﬂz]\ 71,378 42,532
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBAE 30 96,106 50,132
Total non-current liabilities JEMBBERE 1,295,159 420,344
Net assets BEFE 8,697,986 8,513,797
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners BAREEA

of the parent PEAR BRAS
Issued capital BEITIA 31 279,719 279,289
Reserves fei 1F 33(a) 6,525,416 6,271,636
Proposed final dividend FR R EBAAR B 12 = 118,698

6,805,135 6,669,623

Non-controlling interests FEiERR R 1,892,851 1,844,174
Total equity IR 4B 8,697,986 8,513,797

Luan Xiuju Mak Chi Wing, William
Director Director
BF BF
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Notes
i3

Issued
capital
BB
e
HK$000
TERL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SRERTBE®K

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F12A31 BIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

B/

Employee
share-based
Share: compensation Exchange Asset Proposed Non-
premium N i fluctuation  revaluation  Reteined final controling
t f

Reserve reserve : profs ~ dividend EESY
funds k8 AEE! R Ik FHERR
Hs ‘ A
HK$000 HK$ 000 i HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Tin TR TR 7 Tan TR AR
(note 33)
(H3E33)

At 1 January 2011 RO1EF1R1R 219,246 6,879 B3 3247591 206217 673104 6910 1413366 89638 594680 1602516 7549410
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - - - 645609 - 64b609 21682 87291
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ £EEM2ERA
Exchange differences on ranslafionof ~ EENERE
foreign operations JERER - - - - - 268817 - - - 68817 62578 3313%
Share of other comprehensive income.~ JE(REE ]
of associates E2ERA - - - (882) - - - - - (882) (7 (1.357)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EE2EMALE - - - (882) - 8817 - 645600 - 913544 283785 1,197,309
Exercise of share options fEERE 31 Ig] 2771 (675) - - - - - - 2139 - 2139
Fquitysettled share option amangements ~ RALEERERS 32 - - 1037 - - - - - - 1037 - 10397
Final 2010 dividend paid BRN0FRHRE - - - - - - - - (89638 (89639) - (8963
Interim 2011 dividend paid BRI FRHRE 12 - - - - - - - (113673 - (113673 - (113673
Proposed 2011 final dividend BEOUERSIRE 12 - - - - - - - (1186%) 118698 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling BLEARE
shareholders of subsidiaries REZARE - - - - - - - - - - W12 @12
Transfer from retained profts BRBENES - - - - 1336 - - (133%) - - - -
At 31 December 2011 RO1E125318 279289 9650¢  33625* 3246709* 219573 %1%l 6910* 1813248 118698 6669623 1844174 8513797
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
RERT2BHE (H)

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F12A31 BILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARERARS

Employee
share-based
Share compensation Exchange Asset Proposed Non-
Issued ~ premium reseve  Capital fluctuation revaluation  Retained final controlling Total

capital  account k& resee  Reseve  reserve  reservet profits  dividend interests equity
GE) Rkt RAKE -0 funds EXR® BEEf R 94 Total  FER kA
Rx  EERE EMEE i Bk i R wH RHRE st i e
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén Tz TEx TRz TEn TExr TER TEn TEx  TEx  TEr  TEn
(note 33)  (note 33)
(H&33)  (WiE33)

At1 January 2012 RA12F1A18 279,289 9650 33625 3,246,709 219,573 941921 6,910 1813248 118,698 6,669,623 1,844,174 8513797
Proftfor he year EEEA = = 5 . - - - 381931 - 31931 210227 592,158
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ £EEM2EHRA

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEFSNEHKE

foreign operations JERER - - - - - 9,684 = = - 9684 (115) 9,569
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ £E2ENALHE - - - - - 9684 - 381,931 - 391615 210,112 601727
Exercise of share options ifEERE 31 430 27,521 (6719) - - - - - - AW - 2232
Fquity-settled share option arrangements ~ BALEERERE 32 - - 1 - - - - - - 12 - a2
Transfer of employee share-based TR U5

compensation reserve upon the B sl

forfeiture or expiry of share options HHGE - - (243 - - - - M - - - -
Final 2011 dividend paid BROIERSEE 12 - - - - - - = (79) (118,698) (118,777) - (118777
Interim 2012 dividend paid BRARERERE 12 - - - - - = - (170,769) - (170,769 - (170,769
Transfer from retained profts BREEHER - - - - 138 - - (13,148 = = = =
Contribution from non-controlling BAREER

shareholders of a subsidiary R - - - - - - - - - - 51,191 51,191
Dividends paid to non-controling AHBARFEER

shareholders of subsidiaries BRE MRS = = = = = = = = = - (212,626) (212,626)
At 31 December 2012 RA12E12A317 279719 37,171*  36,680* 3,246,709 232,721* 951,605*  6,910* 2,013,620* - 6,805,135 1,892,851 8,697,986

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEEBREAMBRAERFH

HK$6,525,416,000 (2011: HK$6,271,636,000) in the consolidated 4 A f# $#6,525,416,00078 7T (20114 :
statement of financial position. 6,271,636,00087T) °

W The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from owner- # REBZE2010F12A31BILFEAR " B
occupied properties to investment properties carried at fair value MEEE LN EMEEENEEEGFHB
during the year ended 31 December 2010. BATFEHE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
GEEIRER

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F 12 A31 BIEFE

2012 2011
2012 % 2011 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
CASH FLOWS FROM REERIRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FR A& 784,022 1,208,102

Adjustments for: FLTYEE BT

Finance costs BE KA 70,241 37,043
Share of profits of associates FE(RE & N E ) (67,319) (65,437)
Interest income FBUA (30,861) (30,397)
Dividend income from AHNERE

available-for-sale investments Z B BHA (48,807) (36,926)
Dividend income from equity BAFEIAEBR

investments at fair value through ZHERIRE Y

profit or loss f& B Uz A (234) (343)
Fair value losses/(gains) on BEAFEIIABRZ

equity investments at fair value EmRE 2 A THE

through profit or loss &8 () 5,6 (3,730) 4,183
Fair value gains on biological assets EYEEZ ATFEWE 6 (5,741) (33,510)
Impairment of receivables W FBRE 6 7,029 2,616
Equity-settled share option expense A EE ERRERS 6 12,211 10,357
Amortisation of other intangible assets EfERE EE 6 11,777 10,585
Depreciation e 6 457,031 397,672
Fair value gains on investment BEMEZ

properties N EWE (4,292) (4,610)
Loss on disposal of items of HEYE - BEK

property, plant and equipment REIEE 2 EE 10,901 7,272
Loss on disposal of biological assets EYEERBERX 6 265 14,073
Impairment of an available-for-sale —IEAHHEIRE

investment ZRE 6 = 322
Recognition of prepaid land premiums B TS 6 7,893 7,580
Provision against inventories FERE 6 11,039 27,325
Government grants BT B 5 (106,318) (62,240)

1,105,107 1,493,667

2012%F 3k PEERREERAHE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
GRRTRER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZ2012F 12 A31 BIEFE

2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FiBTT

Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERd, (Ehm) 615,690 (2,001,576)
Increase in accounts and bills receivables JEUBR X 2 Z #5120 (579,928) (244,610)
Increase in prepayments, deposits AR - e

and other receivables T E i JlE W SR IEE N (252,179) (110,522)
Increase in amounts due from fellow EE ) =INCIVE S

subsidiaries N (519,245) (38,604)
Increase in an amount due from the BRI A TR IR

ultimate holding company 0 (56,905) (10,211)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due BAE N E)R R

from related companies S (3 hn) 4,076 (3,977)
Increase in amounts due from BB A B FEIE R

non-controlling shareholders ESEN

of subsidiaries 0 (10,177) (9,280)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due BN BIR R

from associates S (3 hn) (2,860) 207
Increase in accounts and bills payables &R 70 K Z2454% 1) 233,098 496,376
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HAth 3R IE K ERT

and accruals a&EEm Cad) (645,266) 1,317,362
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due RAZRWBRARIFKIEA

to fellow subsidiaries #m, Gl 1,035,901 (84,499)
Increase in an amount due to the REBEESER A BIFRIA

ultimate holding company b2yl 17,180 7,942
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due G =UNSIE N

to related companies = Cid) (114,186) 153,907
Increase in amounts due to KB A RIFEIERR

non-controlling shareholders R FIE

of subsidiaries 10 6,905 20,930
Increase/(decrease) in amounts RE N FIFRIE

due to associates = Gid) (35,532) 45,794
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EXREF &

net Pt 8 -
Cash generated from operations MEEFB2IRE 801,687 1,032,906
Interest received B UF B 30,861 30,397
Interest paid ERHE (70,241) (37,043)
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid) RE/ (BA) BBFIER 866 (335)
Mainland China income tax paid BT BIRREERTSHE (391,771) (359,543)
Net cash flows from operating activities =~ #&&EEL 2R REE 371,402 666,382
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

REZBHZHER

=
==)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GERTRER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZE2012F 12 A31 BIEFE

2012
2012 %

2011
20114
HK$'000
FAT

HK$’000
FER

Increase in restricted bank balances IR BRI TAERRIZ N (22,199) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits &I 1FFOR A~ (1€ Hn0) 2,084 (11,298)
Dividends received from associates BUEEE AR E 54,873 45,160
Dividends received from BUAMHEERE

available-for-sale investments ) ¥\ 48,807 36,926
Dividends received from equity B AT A ABE

investments at fair value ZERNE

through profit or loss ) ¥\ 234 343
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEME  BMEK

property, plant and equipment HBETEE TSR 24,502 14,941
Redemption of held-to-maturity BEERERE

investments WA 58,044 24,960
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE—FN B AT 34 — (84,914)
Additional investment in R—EEE A F)

an associate ZEEIMNGE (56,633) (3,813)
Purchases of items of property, BEWME BEX

plant and equipment BGEELE 14 (1,168,077) (546,396)
Additions to other intangible assets HEHEMBEEE 18 (1,032) (1,544)
Additions to prepaid land premiums TEfF LHb 380 16 (49,258) (55,664)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits EEME  BEX

for purchase of items of REBEE2ERERL /

property, plant and equipment (3gm) 17,921 (21,019)
Additions to biological assets HEYEEIE NN 23 (12,992) (12,953)
Receipt of government grants W B BT B) 132,916 62,240
Proceeds from disposal of HE—EAHHE

an available-for-sale investment &S F0E = 6,415
Net cash flows used in KB EEFTH

investing activities 2R e mFRE (970,810) (546,616)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GRRTRER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2012
HZ2012F 12 A31 BIEFE

2012 2011
20124 20114
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FHxT FiBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TSRO 31 21,232 2,139
New bank borrowings HIBRITE R 2,017,307 1,263,124
New other borrowings g H M EK 1,726,743 84,255
Repayments of bank borrowings ERBIRTTER (925,593) (988,240)
Repayments of other borrowings EEEMER (1,535,568) (60,182)
Contribution from non-controlling RPN B2 S
shareholders of a subsidiary BEFE 51,191 -
Dividends paid AR E (260,620) (182,980)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BILIENGIE RS
shareholders of subsidiaries ESINEEN (212,626) (42,127)
Decrease in other payables HAb I FRIBER (171,879) (209,115)
Decrease in amounts due to KB A R FEIERS
non-controlling shareholders IR FRIA
of subsidiaries o - (12,036)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEFRESEL (FTH)
financing activities ZIRBRFEE 710,187 (145,162)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeRALEHEBEREM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Om4) =8 110,779 (25,396)
Cash and cash equivalents FUzHe Rk
at beginning of year BeEEIER 1,789,797 1,741,203
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EREBHE 2
net REE 718 73,990
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZRAER
AT END OF YEAR BE&EEER 1,901,294 1,789,797
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRREEE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 B & e
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHER 27 1,900,961 1,770,983
Non-pledged time deposits with original ~ TFAERER=EA R
maturity of less than three months B HA 2 R
when acquired TEEBfF SR 27 333 18,814
Cash and cash equivalents as stated Rz Rk
in the statement of financial position BERERMH
and the statement of cash flows ZHe MRS EAR 1,901,294 1,789,797
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BB

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Plant and equipment B 14 330 578
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIEE 19 2,106,711 2,106,711
Total non-current assets B EELE 2,107,041 2,107,289
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, deposits TEFIA - B

and other receivables T B b e W FR I8 6,308 8,414
Due from subsidiaries IEPNEIVSE 19 4,639,273 4,407,291
Due from the immediate BRERAT]

holding company R5R 38 165 165
Equity investments at fair value through R AFEHIAIBZFHZ

profit or loss HEmIRE 26 13,696 10,283
Held-to-maturity investments BEERERE 22 = 58,044
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeE@EAR 27 25,665 12,489
Total current assets MENEEMRE 4,685,107 4,496,686
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Other payables and Efth T 5RIE

accruals LEETEaE 92,284 64,713
Due to subsidiaries NN ENEIE S 19 369,511 87,511
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITER 29 519,000 745,000
Total current liabilities mEBERE 980,795 897,224
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZE 3,704,312 3,599,462
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRE

LIABILITIES aE 5,811,353 5,706,751
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHEIRITER 29 700,000 300,000
Total non-current liabilities ERBEFEEE 700,000 300,000
Net assets BEFE 5,111,353 5,406,751
EQUITY [N
Issued capital BEITIRAR 31 279,719 279,289
Reserves e 33(b) 4,831,634 5,008,764
Proposed final dividend 00 R B AR B 12 = 118,698
Total equity IR 4aE 5,111,353 5,406,751

Luan Xiuju

L Sk

Director

EF

Mak Chi Wing, William

Director

EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.1

102

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities:

o processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling
beverage and distribution of still beverage;

° production, sale and trading of grape wine and other
wine products;

o distribution of retail packaged cooking oil and seasoning
products;

° production and distribution of chocolate and other
related products; and

° distribution of other consumer food and beverage
products that are not categorised under the
aforementioned activities.

The Company is a subsidiary of COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Based on the
confirmation of the Board, the ultimate holding company of the
Company is COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”), which is a state-
owned enterprise registered in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
biological assets and equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements have been presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1

2.2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2012. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if it results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Severe Hyperinflation
and Removal of Fixed Dates
for First-time Adopters

HKFRS 1 Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets

HKFRS 7 Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income
Taxes — Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets

HKAS 12 Amendments

2.1

2.2

IR M=t

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 12, the adoption of
the revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures
about financial assets that have been transferred but not
derecognised to enable users of the Group’s financial
statements to understand the relationship of those assets
that have not been derecognised with their associated
liabilities. In addition, the amendments require disclosures
about the entity’s continuing involvement in derecognised
assets to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, such involvement. The Group has adopted
the amendments in the current year. Apart from the additional
disclosures for transactions involving the transfer of financial
assets in order to provide greater transparency of risk
exposures when financial assets are transferred, the adoption
of the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of
deferred tax for investment property measured at fair value
and introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax
on investment property measured at fair value should be
determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be
recovered through sale. Furthermore, the amendments
incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21
Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets, measured
using the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should always be
measured on a sale basis. The presumption that deferred
tax on investment property measured at fair value should
be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be
recovered through sale has been rebutted by the Group as
the Group’s investment properties are held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Accordingly deferred tax has
been determined on the basis of recovery through use. The
adoption of the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.
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HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

Amendments to HKFRS 1
First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Government Loans ?

Amendments to HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities 2

Financial Instruments #

Consolidated Financial Statements 2
Joint Arrangements 2

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities ?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12
— Transition Guidance ?

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
— Investment Entities 3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)

HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

¥ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to

Fair Value Measurement?

Amendments to HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive
Income !

Employee Benefits °

Separate Financial Statements 2

Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures @

Amendments to HKAS 32
Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities 3

Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine ?

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs issued in June 2012 2

be applicable to the Group is as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose
information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide
users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also
apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to an
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement,
irrespective of whether they are set off in accordance with
HKAS 32. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from
1 January 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase
1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
This phase focuses on the classification and measurement
of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets
into four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets
as subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair
value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to improve and
simplify the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS
9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and
incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles
of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions
were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while
changes were made to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount
of change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable
to changes in credit risk must be presented in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the change
in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation
of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. However, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts which have been designated under the FVO are
scoped out of the Additions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39
on hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets
continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9
from 1 January 2015. The Group will quantify the effect
in conjunction with other phases, when the final standard
including all phases is issued.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to
all entities including special purpose entities or structured
entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used
to determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group
to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities
are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 27
and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting
for consolidated financial statements. It also addresses the
issues raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary
analyses performed, HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any
impact on the currently held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for
joint arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two
forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint
ventures, and removes the option to account for joint ventures
using proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also
introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for these
entities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the transition guidance
in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full retrospective
application of these standards, limiting the requirement
to provide adjusted comparative information to only the
preceding comparative period. The amendments clarify that
retrospective adjustments are only required if the consolidation
conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the Group is
different between HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27 or HK(SIC)-Int 12
at the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 10 is
applied for the first time. Furthermore, for disclosures related
to unconsolidated structured entities, the amendments will
remove the requirement to present comparative information
for periods before HKFRS 12 is first applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide
an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities
that meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather than
consolidate them. Consequential amendments were made to
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments to HKFRS
12 also set out the disclosure requirements for investment
entities. The Group expects that these amendments will not
have any impact on the Group as the Company is not an
investment entity as defined in HKFRS 10.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and
HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011),
and the subsequent amendments to these standards issued in
July and December 2012 from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not
change the circumstances in which the Group is required to
use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair value should
be applied where its use is already required or permitted
under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13
prospectively from 1 January 2013.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B
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2012412 A31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. ltems that could be reclassified (or recycled)
to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, net
gain on hedge of a net investment, exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow
hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale financial
assets) would be presented separately from items which
will never be reclassified (for example, actuarial gains and
losses on defined benefit plans and revaluation of land and
buildings). The amendments will affect presentation only and
have no impact on the financial position or performance. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial
gains and losses. Other changes include modifications to the
timing of recognition for termination benefits, the classification
of short-term employee benefits and disclosures of defined
benefit plans. The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011)
from 1 January 2013.

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to setoff” for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities. The amendments also clarify the
application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply
gross settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption
on 1 January 2014.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from
1 January 2013. There are separate transitional provisions for
each standard. While the adoption of some of the amendments
may result in changes in accounting policies, none of these
amendments are expected to have a significant financial
impact on the Group. Those amendments that are expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s policies are as
follows:

(a)

(b)

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional comparative
information and the minimum required comparative
information. Generally, the minimum required
comparative period is the previous period. An entity
must include comparative information in the related
notes to the financial statements when it voluntarily
provides comparative information beyond the previous
period. The additional comparative information does not
need to contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of
the preceding period must be presented when an entity
changes its accounting policies; makes retrospective
restatements or makes reclassifications, and that change
has a material effect on the statement of financial
position. However, the related notes to the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the
preceding period are not required to be presented.

HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation — Clarifies
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity
holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing income
tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires entities to
apply the requirements in HKAS 12 to any income tax
arising from distributions to equity holders.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries that are
not classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in
which the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the
duration of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets
are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses
from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of
surplus assets are shared by the ventures, either in proportion
to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with
the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly
or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally
not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital
and is in a position to exercise significant influence over
the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and
has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39,
it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the disposed operation and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, biological assets, financial
assets, investment properties, and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the income statement in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property,
plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the
deficit is charged to the income statement. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement to the
extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer
from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made
for the difference between the depreciation based on the
revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 2% 10 18%
Plant, machinery and equipment 6% t0 33.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction or machinery not yet put into operation is stated
at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and machinery
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If
a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Computer software

Purchased computer software is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of five or eight years.

Water rights

Water rights are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of forty years.

Biological assets

The fair value of the grape vines is estimated by reference
to independent professional valuations using the discounted
cash flows of the underlying biological assets. The expected
cash flows from the whole life cycle of the grape vines are
determined using the market price of the estimated yield of
the agricultural produce, being grapes, net of maintenance
and harvesting costs and any costs required to bring grape
vines to maturity. The estimated yield of the grape vines is
affected by the age of the grape vines, the location, soil type
and infrastructure. The market price of the grapes is largely
dependent on the prevailing market price of the processed
products after harvest, being crude grape wine.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases, net of any
incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale
financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as other
expenses and losses in the income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of
initial recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to
sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial investments or held-
to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets.
This evaluation does not affect any financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option at
designation, as these instruments cannot be reclassified after
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the income statement. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in other expenses and losses in the
income statement.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to maturity
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to
hold them to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in other
expenses and losses in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response
to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement in other
income and gains, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
income statement in other expenses and losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively, and are recognised in the income
statement as other income in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced
by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value,
less any impairment loss previously recognised in the income
statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the income statement. Increases in their
fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or
loans and borrowings. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices
or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask
price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction
costs. For financial instruments where there is no active
market, the fair value is determined using an appropriate
valuation technique. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing

models.

Inventories

Inventories, other than the agricultural products which are
measured in accordance with the accounting policy for
“Biological assets” above, are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to

be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form

an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,

including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the income statement over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b)  from the rendering of services, in the period in which the
services are rendered;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest rate method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
external valuer using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing
model or a binomial option pricing model, further details of
which are given in note 32 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the income statement for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as
if they were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

Retirement benefits are provided to certain staff employed by
the Group. In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, the Group’s Hong Kong employees enjoy
retirement benefits under either the Mandatory Provident
Fund Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORS0Q”) Scheme, or the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under which employer contributions have to be made. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. The Group’s
contributions to both schemes are at a maximum of 10% of the
monthly salaries of the employees. When an employee leaves
employment prior to his or her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing ORSO Scheme
contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the
relevant amount of the forfeited contributions, in accordance
with the rules of the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted
ORSO Scheme. However, in respect of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme, only the employer voluntary
contribution amounts are refundable to the Group when the
members leave employment prior to their contributions vesting
fully. The Group’s mandatory contributions vest fully with the
employees when the employees leave employment.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the relevant authorities of the provinces or
the local municipal governments in Mainland China in which
the Group’s subsidiaries are located. The Group contributes to
this scheme in respect of its employees in Mainland China and
such costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible
for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance in the event of termination of their employment.
The Group is liable to make such payments in the event that
such a termination of employment meets the circumstances
specified in the Employment Ordinance.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits (continued)
Employment Ordinance long service payments (continued)

A provision has not been recognised in respect of such
possible payments, as it is not considered probable that the
situation will result in a material future outflow of resources
from the Group.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section
of the statement of financial position, until they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 A B

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends by
certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules enacted
in the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the plan of the
distribution of dividends.
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2012 was
HK$1,727,752,000 (2011: HK$1,727,793,000). More details
are given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, investment
properties are revalued at the end of the reporting period on an
income capitalisation approach by independent professional
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ
from the actual results. In making the judgement, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period
are used. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties at 31 December 2012 was HK$86,637,000 (2011:
HK$82,361,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2012 was HK$109,582,000 (2011: HK$4,639,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2012 was
HK$257,007,000 (2011: HK$457,970,000). Further details
are contained in note 30 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale. When
the fair value declines, management makes assumptions
about the decline in value to determine whether there is
an impairment that should be recognised in the income
statement. The carrying amount of available-for-sale assets
was HK$203,103,000 (2011: HK$203,104,000).

Impairment of receivables

Impairment of receivables is made based on an assessment
of the recoverability of accounts and other receivables and the
timing of their recovery. The identification of impairment of
receivables requires management judgement and estimation.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying value of the accounts and other receivables and the
amount of impairment/write-back of impairment in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed. Net impairment
of receivables of HK$7,029,000 (2011: HK$2,616,000) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year.
The aggregate carrying amount of the accounts and bills
receivables, and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
as at 31 December 2012 was HK$4,217,219,000 (2011:
HK$3,391,389,000).

3.
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimation of fair value of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are stated at fair values less
point-of-sale costs. This requires an independent valuer’s
assessment of the fair value of the biological assets. Changes
in conditions of the biological assets could impact the fair
value of the assets. The carrying amount of the Group’s
biological assets at 31 December 2012 was HK$184,427,000
(2011: HK$165,833,000). More details are given in note 23 to
the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
businesses based on their products and has five reportable
operating segments as follows:

(a) the beverage segment is engaged in the processing,
bottling and distribution of sparkling beverage products
and the distribution of still beverage products;

(b) the wine segment is engaged in the production, sale and
trading of grape wine and other wine products;

(c) the kitchen food segment is engaged in the distribution
of retail packaged cooking oil and seasoning products;

(d) the confectionery segment is engaged in the production
and distribution of chocolate and other related products;
and

(e) the “others” segment is engaged in the distribution of
other consumer food and beverage products that are not
categorised under the aforementioned segments.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
dividend income, finance costs, share of profits of associates,
as well as unallocated head office and corporate results are all
excluded from such measurement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEHSTER (F)
(continued)
Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, prepaid tax, DEPEETBIEELERIBEE « TBA
restricted bank balances, pledged deposits, cash and cash TI1g - ZRBIIRITAES - HIRFR -
equivalents, available-for-sale investments, equity investments RekBAeSEEE AHEER
at fair value through profit or loss, investments in associates & BATEIAER I EREE
and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as RESE R R 218 E RH AR 5 AL &
these assets are managed on a group basis. RRAREE BAAZFEAERSEHAE
HEEE -
Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other DEEETBEETERITERREM
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other B ENHRIE ECHEABRRE
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these AP EBBRARERE  BAEZSE
liabilities are managed on a group basis. BEREEEEEE -

Year ended 31 December 2012 Beverage Wine Kitchen food Confectionery Others Total
#Z2012F12A31ALEE BB BE HERR  ARM At &t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR FER FER TER FER FTER

Segment revenue: 2
Sales o external customers ~ SHE TINIEP 11,109,622 3,886,116 14,974,813 725,660 182,179 30,878,390
Other revenue Hit s 112,492 77,638 15,773 9,614 38,235 253,752
11,222,114 3,963,754 14,990,586 735,274 220,414 31,132,142

Segment results PHEE 579,364 535,678 (229,724) (56,612) 3,783 832,489
Reconciliation: I -
Interest income FIBBA 30,861
Dividend income BREBA 49,041
Finance costs BEKA (70,241)
Share of profits of associates  FE(GHEE 2 A& 67,319
Corporate and other DR LA

unallocated expenses AOWzH (125,447)
Profit before tax BB A H 784,022
Segment assets PHEE 6,236,463 5,027,310 5,078,243 501,327 78,967 16,922,310
Reconciliation: i
Investments in associates ~ NESE AR ZIRE 637,013
Corporate and other AAREM

unallocated assets APEBE 2,652,858
Total assets EERE 20,212,181
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PR R MY RE

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, %
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2012 Beverage
BZ20125 12831 ALLERE #rRl BE HERM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T TET
Segment liabilities AHEE 2,621,639 866,786 4,516,513
Reconciliation: 1 -
Corporate and other AR REM
unallocated liabilities FHlEE
Total liabilities BiEBE
Other segment information: ~ H1 2 HEH
Net impairment losses NGO e
recognised in the RZTME
income statement FEE 1,024 2,643 1,351
Loss on disposal of items of ~ \HEHE - HE
property, plant and SEBEEZ
equipment B 9,782 420 62
Loss on disposal of HEAMEEL
biological assets Fi - 265 =
Fair value gains on EYEEZAYE
biological assets Yogm - (5,741) -
Provision/(write-back of FERE/
provision) against inventories (/g 2 &(@l) 9,543 (5,378) 4,355
Depreciation and amortisation 78 % & i 311,388 117,296 7,189
Unallocated amounts KkgE
Capital expenditure BRAY 698,631 440,326 49,253
Unallocated amounts ROBEE
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *

Wine Kitchen food Confectionery
KERE

equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums.
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HK$'000
TR

141,335

2,011

637

2,519
23,666

30,148

Others
Hity
HK$'000
TEx

Total
At
HK$'000
TET

8,146,273

3,367,922

11,514,195

7,029

10,901

265

(5,741)

11,039
459,539

17,162

476,701

1,218,358
9

1,218,367*
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2011 Beverage Wine  Kitchen food Confectionery Others Total
HE2011£12A31BILEE e BE  BRERm  WHERA Hity Ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET TAT TET TAT
Segment revenue: AHKE :
Sales to external customers  SEE FINREF 10517250 3,693,489 13,140,573 659,449 - 28,010,761
Other revenue Hit Mz 78,653 67,459 14572 9818 - 170,502
10,595,903 3,760,948 13,155,145 669,267 - 28181263
Segment results DEEE h31,411 633,110 162,273 (94,612) - 1,232,182
Reconciliation: -
Interest income FIBBA 30,397
Dividend income BN 37,269
Finance costs BEKA (37,043)
Share of profits of associates  JE(RELE A AT R 65,437
Corporate and other AAREM
unallocated expenses AoEYH (120,140)
Profit before tax BB A A 1,208,102
Segment assets PEHEE 7,097,198 5,516,375 3,105,889 537171 - 16,256,633
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment i $47) &5
receivables A GNE] (5,837,810)
Investments in associates ~ REEE AR ZIRE 567,934
Corporate and other NG
unallocated assets AOWBE 7,343,226
Total assets EEBE

18,329,983

20125 % FEIRMAMRALT 145



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR R MY RE

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REHTER (EF)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2011 Beverage Wine Kitchen food Confectionery Others
HE211F12R31 BILFE Rt R BERERER  HRE Hith
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Segment liabilities PHEE 5063433 2804015 3,276,207 484,544 - 11,628,199
Reconciliation: i -
Elimination of intersegment #4725
payables JEfTR (5,837,810)
Corporate and other AR REM
unallocated liabilities AORGRE 4,025,797
Total liabilities BiEBE 9,816,186

Other segment information: ~ Hf 2 HEH :
Net impairment losses RN #ER

recognised/(reversed) REFEE/
in the income statement (BE) 447 1,817 816 (142) - 2938
Loss on disposal of items of ~ HEWE - HE
property, plant and REEEEZ
equipment BiE 5,340 1,713 14 205 - 7,272
Provision/(write-back of FERE/
provision) against inventories (/& 2 &) 6,569 7,905 (1,211) 14,062 - 27325
Loss on disposal of HEEMEREL
biological assets BB - 14,073 - - - 14,073
Fair value gains on EMEEL
biological assets AFEKE - (33,510) - - - (33,510)
Depreciation and amortisation #7& & i 239,914 128,840 5,001 25,872 - 399,627
Unallocated amounts AOEEE 16,210
415,837
Capital expenditure BARHY 368,828 224,337 2,057 3,147 - 598,369
Unallocated amounts xR 5,235
603,604*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BERFAXBRERENR - BB R&
equipment, other intangible assets and prepaid land premiums. B HEPEEREN LIS -
Geographical information i E R
Over 90% of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers 838 90% 2 78 £ B W AR S HR B K e
operating in Mainland China and over 90% of the Group’s non- FENER  UNKREM T ANREE
current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred RIBEEN - NEBERBIBEIO0% KIET
tax assets, are situated in Mainland China. BB EH A BIARE -
Information about a major customer FEEFER
During the vear, there was no customer which individually EARFEE WERBRE—RKFP2HK
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2011: ANEEB 22 FHWAR10% (2011
Nil). FE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns

and trade discounts, during the year.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

WA - HA R K&

WA (REE ERE) THERARER
MBRSRESFNENEELES
BETE -

HWA R WSS

Group
AEE
2012 2011
2012 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Other income Hiug A
Gross rental income WA mREE 9,475 7,104
Bank interest income SRITHLEMA 22,587 24,442
Interest income from held-to-maturity BEZIERE 2
investments FLEMA 2,269 5,955
Interest income from financial products SRLEm 2 M EWA 6,005 -
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHERE 2
investments A B A 48,807 36,926
Dividend income from equity investments ¥R EFIABE 2 xR
at fair value through profit or loss TE 2 RBWA 234 343
Government grants * AT Bh * 106,318 62,240
Compensation income AEWRA 23,733 28,823
Sale of by-products and scrap items HERIEmNRELRIEE 20,697 10,194
Commission income EERON 82,304 44,520
Others Hith 3,459 13,367
325,888 233,914
Gains Yz
Foreign exchange differences, net EHZR - F5 4,477 -
Fair value gains on equity investments BAEHAEZE
at fair value through profit or loss R E 2 AT ERES 3,730 -
Fair value gains on investment properties ~ RE& Y% 2 X FEWE
(note 15) (Fft5E 15) 4,292 4,610
12,499 4,610
338,387 238,524

Various government grants have been received for investments

in certain provinces in Mainland China in which the Company’s
subsidiaries operate. There are no unfulfilled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.

* AEBCRBSZARGHE - BE
REARRNAMBRRLERELD
BN ETHD - AREMBILEE
AHARTE Z R AEE
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

* At 31 December 2012, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in

future years (2011: Nil).
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBiADRF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBEZBRBADEF T (GEA)
(crediting): TF|&IE -
2012 2011
2012F 20114
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET
Cost of inventories sold EHFERAE 24,383,013 21,340,488
Provision against inventories FERE 11,039 27,325
Loss on disposal of biological assets EMEERBIERX 265 14,073
Fair value gains on biological assets HEENFEKS (5,741) (33,510)
Cost of sales HEMAK 24,388,576 21,348,376
Auditors” remuneration e 2,652 2,744
Depreciation e 14 457,031 397,672
Amortisation of other intangible assets HinER & EEH 18 11,777 10,585
Recognition of prepaid land premiums EREM LS 16 7,893 7,580
Minimum lease payments under operating leases AT RETHEE
in respect of land and buildings HENFEREFUAR 251,369 119,262
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ EBERFFSY (BEES
and chief executive " s remuneration) RATEBHE )
(note 8): (FI7E8) :
Wages and salaries I8k%e 1,453,483 1,155,288
Equity-settled share option AR A 4 B A
expense ERER S 12,211 10,357
Pension schemes contributions * RIRFHEI 5 152,985 116,037
1,618,679 1,281,682
Foreign exchange differences, net ERER  FE (4,477) 5,292
Other expenses include the followings: Hih A BEATEE
Loss on disposal of items of LENE  BEK
property, plant and equipment REER BB 10,901 7,272
Impairment of an available-for-sale investment AHNEREZRE = 322
Fair value losses on equity BATENABRL
investments at fair value through BRREZ
profit or loss AVHESE = 4,183
Impairment of accounts receivable AR FRI(E 25 8,210 2,372
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of HtEKFIERE /
other receivables ORERE) (1,181) 244

* M2012512 A31H - NEE &
BB AR ALK AR S8 E R R SR F
RIRETEIMMR (20114 - ) -
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BREKARDITAT -
Group
REE
2012 2011
2012 F 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Interest on: FE
Bank loans wholly repayable TFRNEHEERZ
within five years RITER 42,180 20,844
Loans from a fellow subsidiary —MRZAMEARZ
(note 38) B3R (M5 38) 23,514 756
Others Hh 4,547 15,443
70,241 37,043
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTHARME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to KEERN  RBEEBHEZSHAR
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock NElFEAEETRE ([ ERHA]) &F
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and BRARKFIE IR BETHEZES
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as BlewmT -
follows:
Group
REE
2012 2011
2012 F 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Fees: e
Executive directors HITES - 100
Independent non-executive directors BN IEHITES 1,019 1,080
Non-executive directors IEBMITES - 139
1,019 1,319
Other emoluments: Emie -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥&  JE2BIREWFZ 5,889 6,079
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 3,133 2,620
Equity-settled share option expense A EE B ER 2,209 2,198
Pension scheme contributions IRIRET SR 165 150
11,396 11,047
12,415 12,366
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTHARME (&)

REMUNERATION (continued)
RARIEE - RIEARQ B BERER

In prior years, certain directors were granted share options of

the Company, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details of
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the
income statement over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial

g ATESHREAAKEREH]
MRAG MR T AR BIBAE - HeFE
R EMRMEI2 - ZREBERELZ
AFE (EREBBERARERAE
R) DRREBHEE - HE®|etA
AERFPBHE YR EABEERTT

BAAE N & R EE -

statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.

(@) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FARBLIFATES I 248
during the year were as follows: ST

2012 2011
2012% 2011 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark WINIESEE 300 360
Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells* BRI A * 119 -
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TR E 300 360
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis RRAAEE 300 360
1,019 1,080

* Mr. Paul Kenneth Etchells was appointed as an * BRNEEREERBIIENITE

F - B2012F8A9RBERK °

independent non-executive director with effect from
9 August 2012.

FR - WEABIIFATEENE
fBiE (20114 : &) o

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2011: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and
the chief executive

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits

in kind

Fees H& 2R
e REWAR
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

8. EERTHARME (&)

(b) HITESE - FHATEBRIT
BARE

Equity-settled
share option Pension
expense scheme
Discretionary BRALHE  contributions Total

bonuses BRE RIKGTE  remuneration
META BX 3 ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR FEL FEL

2012 2012%

Executive directors: ~ 1{TEF:

Mr. Chi Jingtao ERREE = 2,600 = 328 = 2,928
Ms. Luan Xiuju @ 2x5ate = 2,190 2,430 328 165 5,113
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE = = = 328 = 328

Mr. Mak Chi Wing,
William BEREE = 775 260 266 - 1,301
Mr. Zhang Zhentao*  RIRESL A+ = 324 443 161 - 928
= 5,889 3,133 1,411 165 10,598

Non-executive directors; FFE{TES :
Ms. Liu Ding MTxt - - = 266 - 266
Mr. Ma Jianping SRTEE - - = 266 = 266
Ms. Wu Wenting R - - = 266 - 266
- - - 798 - 798
- 5,889 3,133 2,209 165 11,396
e Ms. Luan Xiuju is also the chief executive of the @ BER R LT INABARR B TREE,

Company.

Mr. Zhang Zhentao resigned as an executive director
with effect from 9 August 2012.

* RIRAB L ER2012F8 A9 R B (£
BITES -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and
the chief executive (continued)

8. EERTHAIME (&)

(b) HITES - FHATESERIT
HRE (%)

Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances share option Pension
and benefits EXpense scheme
inkind  Discretionary RAEHE  contributions Total
Fees bonuses = RINETE]  remuneration
ik Higfear 3R BHe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T Tir
2011 0114
Executive directors: ~ BAfTE2%:
Mr. Ning Gaoning ERELE 100 - - 333 - 433
Mr. Chi Jingtao ERELE - 1,517 - 250 - 1,767
Ms. Luan Xiuju @ gABILe - 2,696 2,052 316 100 5,164
Mr. Mak Chi Wing,

William BEREE - 725 142 279 - 1,146
Mr.Zhang Zhentao ~ FIRERE - 758 426 269 50 1,503
Mr. Qu Zhet HER e - 256 - - - 256
Mr. Wang Zhiying' T7BRHE" - 127 - - - 127

100 6,079 2,620 1,447 150 10,39
Non-executive directors; JEH{TES -
Ms. Liu Ding 0T &t 26 - - 203 - 229
Mr. Ma Jianping SRYEE 50 - - 279 - 329
Ms. Wu Wenting RYERt 50 - - 269 - 319
Mr. Wang Zhiying’ TrREE 13 - - - - 13
139 - - 751 - 890
239 6,079 2,620 2,198 150 11,286
e Ms. Luan Xiuju is also the chief executive of the @ HERY T T NMANRARITERE
Company. o
& Mr. Qu Zhe resigned as an executive director with effect # H e AR 201142 A10H

from 10 February 2011.

Mr. Wang Zhiying was appointed as an executive director
with effect from 15 April 2010 and re-designated as a
non-executive director with effect from 10 February 2011
and resigned as a non-executive director with effect from
28 March 2011.
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERTHARME (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HITEE - FHTESRIT
the chief executive (continued) AR (&)
There were three (2011: three) non-executive directors RER - =fI3EHMITES(2011
and one executive director (2011: one) who agreed F =) M—BTESE(2011
to waive their entitlements to directors’ fees totalling F:—) RAEDBIBEMME
HK$300,000 (2011: HK$150,000) and HK$200,000 =F300,000/8 7T (20114 : 150,000
(2011: HK$100,000), respectively, for the year. Other BJT) #200,0007 7T (20114 :
than the aforementioned, there was no arrangement 100,000/87T) WESEE ° B
under which a director or the chief executive waived or MBHRIN - FAMEMEBENT
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2011: TR 4B 15 1t T A 3R ok [B) B AT
Nil). A& 2 ZeHE (201148 : £8) o
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IEREHMZES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FANhERRTNoEE  BEME
two directors which included the chief executive (2011: EE (BETEREH) (2011F : &
two directors which included the chief executive), details of FEFR (BRITBEYR))  ENe
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the BEREXHFES FRN - H#p=%
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2011: three) (20115 : =%F) &R FHMW 2 IERAF]
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief BE=YTHBHEE CFEMWEHT
executive of the Company for the year are as follows: I
Group
AEE
2012 2011
20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FiBTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥& ~ 2B R EWHIES 5,230 3,522
Discretionary bonuses E)IETEAL 3,319 2,612
Equity-settled share option expense A EE AR 933 709
Pension scheme contributions IRIRETEI R 262 172
9,744 7,015
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. EEBESHFM2ER (&)
(continued)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest BaFiEE GEESRITHREH) 2%
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following AR T HIAB R 2 ABIT -

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEHE

2012 2011
2012 20114

1,500,001 &%

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2,000,000 7T - 1
2,000,001 &t E
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,500,000 7T - 1
2,500,001 BT E
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
3,000,001 TE
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,500,000 7% 7T 3 -
3 3
In prior years, the non-director and non-chief executive highest RBEFE  FESRITBERES
paid employees were granted share options of the Company FTNEEREEEAEFIRBEIRS
in respect of their services to the Group, further details of WETARATRERE  BRAFEH
which are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The R BHRERMTE2 - ZFHBRERN
fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the N EE R EB RN KA RR N #E
income statement over the vesting period, was determined as 7 RIR L B HIEE E LA R AN B RS R
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial XPEENeBEEeEN LliEES
statements for the current year is included in the above non- RITHBRHE=EMES OIS 3R
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ A e

remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX 10.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2011: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

Frig st

BEMNEGHBRBCDENAFENEE
LM ERTBUR A 16.5% (2011
F 1 16.5%) MTRIEH - HibibE 2
FER B M Z IR RIB AR EE S
ZRVEHERZ BITHENE

2012 2011
20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fix FAET
Group: AEE -
Current-Hong Kong BNER - B
Charge for the year RAFE R 1,106 335
Current-Mainland China BNER — A B R e
Charge for the year RAEE R 321,113 339,701
Underprovision in prior years BEFENERE 4,669 1,702
Current-Elsewhere BNER - H b [&
Charge for the year RAFEE R 2,330 753
Deferred (note 30) IRAE (B 5E30) (137,354) (1,680)
Total tax charge for the year FEEBR 191,864 340,811
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. 5% (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/ UTAEFBAAR - EXBHHEBER
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in A AT AR < EE R R E i
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are BARBARR (F18) 2BHEX
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and B RREAMETE 2 AEHEE
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax ANGERBE (AVAERE) BHA M
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: R7HENIER ¢
Group — 2012 AEE - 2012 F

Hong Kong Mainland China Elsewhere Total
B HE AR HithE At

HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000
TiEgn FiEn TiEn FiEgn

Profit/(loss) before tax HEnER/ (B%8)  (31,403) 773,518 41,907 784,022

Tax at the statutory tax rates RETHENEZHE  (5,182) 16.5 193,379 25.0 8,147 19.4 196,344 25.0
Lower tax rate for specific {ERl& Tt HikiE

provinces or enacted by HITE ORIE

local authority * ik - - (9,998) (1.3) = - (9,998) (1.3)
Profit not subject to tax due R BERM

o concessions ** BARW RN - - (1,167) (0.1) - - (1,167 (0.1)
Profits attributable to associates  #& A alfE (5 & 7 - - (16,830 (2.2) - - (16,830) 2.1)
Income not subject to tax BIEFHZUA (1,268) 4.0 (26,975) (3.5) (2,686) (6.4) (30,929) (3.9
Expenses not deductible for tax R A IRz 52 7556  (24.0) 25,580 33 = - 33136 42
Adjustment in respect of B HEESREE

current tax of previous periods 2 3% - - 4,669 0.6 - - 4,669 0.6
Effect of withholding tax at 10%  RIREMALI 10%

on the dividend income RFER & = - 48570 6.3 = - 48570 6.2
Tax losses utilised from HEBIEEL

previous periods it - - (65,782 (8.5) - - (65,782 (8.4)
Tax losses not recognised KRB - - 33,264 43 587 14 33851 43

Tax charge at the Group's RERANHEHE
effective rate ZHENH 1,106 (3.5 184,710 23.9 6,048 144 191,864 24.5

156 CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 R Y o

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FTiS#H (8&)

Group — 2011 AER -2011F
Hong Kong Mainland China Elsewhere Total
B o ARE Hitp/E Bt
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$000
THT Ti5n TR BT
Profit/(loss) before tax wanasl/ (B8)  (651,278) 1,297 501 (38,121) 1208102
Tax at the statutory tax rates REEHEHEZRA  (8461) 165 324375 250 (8,485) 2.2 307429 254
Lower tax rate for specific {ERIE gt HkE
provinces or enacted by HIEHRE
local authority = - - (11,181) 09) - - (11,181) 0.9)
Profit not subject to tax due B BEIMEE
to concessions By Ay - - 2%]) 0.2) - - 2% 0.2)
Profits attributable to associates B4/ BIFE(G 7 - - (163%9) (14) - - (16,359 (14)
Income not subject to tax EERH A (179) 03 9,677) 0.7) - - (9,856) 0.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax R a] 1% 2 it 8975 (175 19,121 15 5761 (151) 33857 28
Adjustment in closing RETEHXEE M
deferred tax due to change fELEERA
in deferred tax rate EHAE - - 1,097 0.1 - - 1,097 0.1
Adjustment in respect of BRI AR
current tax of previous periods 7 F8% - - 1,702 0.1 - - 1,702 0.1
Effect of withholding tax at 10% % 84U\ 4 10%
on the dividend income RImER T2 - - 15072 12 - - 15072 12
Tax losses utilised from HRREEE
previous periods i - - (24832 (19) - - (24832 2.0)
Tax losses not recognised REZHIE - - 43937 34 2906 (76) 46843 39
Tax charge at the Group’s REEEUHETE
effective rate ZHEN 335 0.7) 340,294 26.2 182 (05) 340811 282

RIFPBEMEHUE - BEEAL25%
BV RS ([ REME
Bl e AW AEEETHBERA
TH AR B K P B A 1) B R 3 [ AR A
X% AHERERTZEWNBEA
Al 15% KB B L EMSHE -

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a rate of 25%. However,
certain of the Group’s subsidiaries are operating in specific
development zones in Mainland China, and the relevant
authorities have granted these subsidiaries a preferential CIT
rate of 15%.

oy **

B A = B o 7 o B K BE O 35 T Y I8
REERBELEMSHREIN - A
MERERTRENBAR RN
H - BNAEPN B 1 B & W E A F 2
WHREHMMEEMRED - WREER
B = {8 7 /2 1258 AR R B — B
ERMAEH

In addition to the preferential CIT rate granted to the Group’s
certain subsidiaries in Mainland China, tax holidays were
also granted by the relevant authorities to these subsidiaries,
where CIT is exempted for the first two profitable years of the
subsidiaries and is chargeable at half of the applicable rates for
the subsequent three years.
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

11.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$19,609,000 (2011: HK$18,881,000) is included in “Share
of profits of associates” in the consolidated income statement.

Since 2009, the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation have issued a series of regulations
and rules, with retroactive effect on 1 January 2008,
concerning group restructuring (collectively, the “Group
Restructuring Tax Rules”). During the year ended 31
December 2008, the Group undertook certain intra-group
restructuring activities (the “Restructuring”). Should the basis
set forth in the Group Restructuring Tax Rules be adopted,
there might be relevant tax exposure to the Group. After giving
due consideration of key factors including the relevant legal
interpretation and opinion about the Group Restructuring Tax
Rules and the prevailing tax practices, the Company considers
that it is more likely than not that the Restructuring will not
give rise to the relevant tax exposure to the Group, if any.
Accordingly, no provision thereon has been made in these
financial statements.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the year ended 31 December 2012 includes a loss of
HK$39,295,000 (2011: HK$34,516,000) which has been
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note
33(b)).
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10. Fri&% (&)

11.

Bk 42 N B JE 1R 5 TH 32 35 19,609,000 7
7T (20114 : 18,881,0007T) » Jyat
LYo R I
A e

H 20094 - B BER K BRI 48 B8
T AN SEBEAN — RIERD R AR
Al(mEAIEEEAMBHA)
B200851 A1 REEAEBHHN - &
Z2008F12A31RIEFE  A&H
ETTETEERNEEEZY (&
A1) o firl [SREEAETBRA] ATt
EERERG - ANKE R EE AN
HRk KEERZEIERE (%
[REEARGRL ] WREEERE
RERNARRITRBER) & AR
ARA - EAT ARSI BAKER
MRS EE (HA) - Fit - BHEsL
BEREZ F B SRR P B

BRAHEE ABLET

HZE201212A31 B IEFERN A A
BB AREGAENBRERAALTRT]
Z 81 7% R A Z 5 18 39,295,00078
7T (20114 : 34,516,000 7T) (Mi5E
33(b)) °



12.

13.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS

Interim — HK6.11 cents
(2011: HK4.07 cents)

R - SRR
6.1178(l (20114 :

12.

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

3=\

2012
2012 §F

2011
20114
HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TR

per ordinary share 4.07 L) 170,764 113,673
Proposed final — Nil EEARE - IREER
(2011: HK4.25 cents) T8l (2011 4F -
per ordinary share 4.25781) = 118,698
170,764 232,371
At a meeting held on 26 March 2013, the Board did not M2013FE3 26 BRT2 8% &

recommend any final dividend for the year.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$381,931,000 (2011:
HK$645,609,000), and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,794,663,465 (2011: 2,792,666,792) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

13.

FETEFRBEMNAFE 2 KRR

B o
N

DA ERERFEAE
EERER

BREABANEENRE QA
TEREZFBEARGEREE
% A381,931,000% 7T (20114 :
645,609,00087T) * ARAFED %
TINAETE SRR 2,794,663,4650%
(20114 2,792,666,792k%) 51 & -

BRESENBEDRE QAR EEK
BaERBARGAFERRNE - 5t
BRRIEFSERRIAFER
BTEBRERERONEE - TARESKR
EXBNMGE  RERAAELEH
BEBERRRETELBRSL AR
MATREETZ EBAEFIE -
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 13. B RATEEER %%ﬁﬁﬁk@
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE EERER (&)
PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are SREAREERFOTENT -
based on:

2012 2011
2012 2011 4

HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TAET

Earnings

Profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders
of the parent, used in
the basic earnings
per share calculation

27

RARETE iﬁﬁg$7§’ﬂ
N SYNSIESElies £
T%ﬁ)\ﬁ’éfﬁiﬁ?ﬁﬂ 381,931 645,609

Number of shares
BB

2012
2012 F

Shares

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue
during the year, used in
the basic earnings
per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average
number of ordinary shares:
Share options

A

AREREABTFTEN
AEFBBITEBER

IR 88 2,794,663,465  2,792,666,792
WALE - WK

AT

R 10,572,983 2,129,258

2,805,236,448  2,794,796,050
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERRE

Group Company
P3| NG
Plant,
machinery
Freehold and
land equipment  Construction Plant and
KA Buildings BB+ inprogress Total  equipment
£ R BF BERRE EBIR & BERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET T#x TR TR T#x
31 December 2012 M2012512A31R
At 31 December 2011 and 2011412 A31H
at 1 January 2012: R012E1A18:
Cost AR 99,276 2,214,656 3,877,742 236,820 6,428,494 2,799
Accurnulated depreciation ZHE
and impairment RmfE - (534,502) (2,004,592) - (2,539,094) (2,221)
Net carrying amount RHFE 99,276 1,680,154 1,873,150 236,820 3,889,400 578
At 1 January 2012, net of R2012F1818
accumulated depreciation HG2sE
and impairment NRfE 99,276 1,680,154 1,873,150 236,820 3,889,400 578
Additions RE - 22,163 399,829 746,085 1,168,077 -
Disposals e - (650) (30,769) (3,984) (35,403) -
Depreciation provided FRTE
during the year BE - (79,096)  (377,935) - (457,031) (248)
Transfers B - 118,150 252,375 (370,525) - -
Exchange realignment [E 5 A% 5,500 1,646 2,005 211 9,362 =
At 31 December 2012, netof #2012 128318
accumulated depreciation MR EGHTE
and impairment NRfE 104,776 1,742,367 2,118,655 608,607 4,574,405 330
At 31 December 2012; W2012€12A318 :
Cost KA 104,776 2,352,708 4,377,021 608,607 7,443,112 2,799
Accurnulated depreciation ZiiE
and impairment RmfE - (610,341) (2,258,366 - (2,868,707) (2,469)
Net carrying amount EHFE 104,776 1,742,367 2,118,655 608,607 4,574,405 330
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BMEKRE (&)
(continued)

Group Company
REE VYN
Plant,
machinery
Freehold and

land equipment  Construction Plant and

KA Buildings i« inprogress Total  equipment
FELH BF HWkEk - ERIR Bt BRERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT Tir TiHr TiHr THr

31 December 2011 R2011%12A31H

At31 December 2010and ~ F2010%F 12 A31 B

at 1 January 2011: 20111818
Cost A 68523 1971843 3485136 112293 5,637,795 2,799
Accumulated depreciation  Z3tiE

and impairment PaEAED - (436129) (1,653,628) - (2,089,757) (1,973)
Net carrying amount FRFE 68523 1535714 1831508 112293 3548038 826

At 1 January 2011, net of R2011F1A18
accumulated depreciation  FIBREEHTE

and impairment LA 68,523 1,535,714 1,831,508 112293 3,548,038 826
Additions RE - 73,994 277,654 194,748 546,396 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ WEE—FIH B LA

(note 34) (Hi5E34) 38,998 19,661 2,730 - 61,389 -
Disposals & - (7.313) (14,900) - (22,213) -
Depreciation provided FAME

during the year s - (67,586) (330,086) - (397,672) (248)
Transfers L b 57,271 21,151 (78,422) -

Exchange realignment EHE (8,245) 68,413 85,093 8,201 153,462 -

At 31 December 2011, netof 720114 12A318 -
accumulated depreciation B 2iHTE

and impairment L& 99,276 1,680,154 1,873,150 236,820 3,889,400 578
At 31 December 2011: 20115128318 :
Cost XA 99,276 2214656 3877742 236,820  6,428494 2,799
Accumulated depreciation ~ Z3HTE
and impairment LAE - (534,502)  (2,004,592) - (2,539,094) (2,221)

Net carrying amount REFE 9,276 1,680,154 1,873,150 236,820 3,889,400 578
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14.

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

All of the Group’s buildings are situated outside Hong Kong.

At 31 December 2012, certain of the Group’s buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$190,517,000 (2011:
Nil) were pledged to banks to secure the bank loans granted
to the Group (note 29).

At 31 December 2012, certificates of ownership in respect
of certain buildings of the Group in Mainland China with an
aggregate net carrying amount of HK$63,225,000 (2011:
HK$67,069,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

14. 9% - BERHRE (&)

REEHER 2 BFHULR BB AN
& o

M20126 12 A31 8 - A&EEEEF
fE#) % 190,517,000% 7T (2011 : f&%)
ZEBF  DRAKEERRITERM
ERTIRIT (5E29) -

M20126F 12 A31H » REERH
K B Bk | % 8 & #£63,225,0007% 7T
(20114 : 67,069,000 7T) K& THE
F AR B LA RS -

. REWE

Group

REH
2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEEE 82,361 73,966

Net gain from a fair value AR ERFAEmMEE

adjustment Wz F58 4,292 4,610
Exchange realignment PE W AR (16) 3,785
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 B Z28RmEE 86,637 82,361

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated outside
Hong Kong under medium term leases.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on
31 December 2012 by Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers,
at HK$86,637,000 (2011: HK$82,361,000) using an income
capitalisation approach. The investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 36(a) to the financial statements.

AEBEREE ZREMEBRERIAI
HEARET BEARE °

R2012F 128318 BUEELEE
BEEME - ATRENEEREE
FERARATIEBAERLEH AR E
B 2R E Y E 418 586,637,000
BT (2011 4F : 82,361,000/87T) ° 3%
EREMEABRBLEEHNMBETE
=7 - EE BB B A IR R M R
36(a) °
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

16. PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS

16.

At LiE

Group
REE
2012 2011
2012 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T F&TT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1BZEEE 315,243 253,392
Additions NE 49,258 55,664
Recognised during the year FNTER (7,893) (7,580)
Exchange realignment M X (62) 13,767
Carrying amount at 31 December M12 A31 B Z28RmEE 356,546 315,243
Current portion included in prepayments, BIERIERNIE - HE &
deposits and other receivables HAb UG I8 2 BIEAER 5 (7,917) (7,165)
Non-current portion JEBNHEAER 19 348,629 308,078

The leasehold land is situated in Mainland China and is held
under medium term leases.

At 31 December 2012, certain of the Groups land use rights
with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$17,789,000
(2011: Nil) were pledged to banks to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group (note 29).

At 31 December 2012, certificates of land use rights in
respect of certain land of the Group in Mainland China with
an aggregate net carrying amount of HK$157,061,000 (2011:
HK$122,788,000) had not been issued by the relevant PRC
authorities.
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M20126 12 A31 A - REEEREF
BE497317,789,000% 7T (20114 : &)
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17. GOODWILL

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

17. &

Group
REH
2012 2011
2012 & 2011 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT THET
At 1 January: KR1A1H8:
Cost RS 1,727,793 1,680,015
Accumulated impairment REHRE - -
Net carrying amount BRHEFE 1,727,793 1,680,015
Cost at 1 January, net of R1A1IBZKA
accumulated impairment Ik EaHmE 1,727,793 1,680,015
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) WEEH B~ a) (BI3E34) = 7,483
Exchange realignment bE X (41) 40,295
Cost at 31 December, net of MN12 A31 B 2K
accumulated impairment Nk 2ETRE 1,727,752 1,727,793
At 31 December: M12A318:
Cost B 1,727,752 1,727,793
Accumulated impairment ZERE = -
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,727,752 1,727,793
Impairment testing of goodwill BEZRENR

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

o Beverage cash-generating unit
o Wine cash-generating unit
o Confectionery cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating
units has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections ranged
from 11% to 15% and cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using growth rates ranged from 3% to 4%.

BREGEHAMBEZAE B0
EUTReELEN (AIT2HD )
ERERIE -

s  HMREELEM
s ERREEAEM
s HERBRESELEM

AR EL BN 2 AIRERER
DiREEREEEE - ®£REERR
ReREREMERERFHEMK
BETERRSRERENE - B
MEREMERZUBEENFR1L%
£15% - MAFHE RSN
3% 2 4% 2 BRET AR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR R MY RE

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units are as follows:

17.

g (%)
BEZRENR (&)

SREERSELEN Y HEREE
o

2012 2011

2012 20114

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT T

Beverage et 1,206,924 1,207,018
Wine i) 509,218 509,165
Confectionery KER M 11,610 11,610
1,727,752 1,727,793

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the cash-generating units for 31 December 2012 and
31 December 2011. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the years immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.
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18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2012

At 31 December 2011
and at 1 January 2012:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 R Y o

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

Computer
software

BB

HK$’000
FER

20124 12H31H

MR20114F12 A31H
K20129F1 /18 :

18. Htt L& E

Water rights
ke
HK$’000
FHET

Total
ait
HK$’000
FET

Cost BN 76,893 10,006 86,899

Accumulated amortisation BT (26,161) (349) (26,510)

Net carrying amount BRTEFE 50,732 9,657 60,389
Cost at 1 January 2012, net of R2012F1A1H

accumulated amortisation AR B RETE#SY 50,732 9,657 60,389
Additions NE 1,032 - 1,032
Amortisation provided FRNEH

during the year B (11,619) (158) (11,777)
Exchange realignment VE 5 fEE (8) 746 738
Cost at 31 December 2012, net of A 2012 12 A31 H

accumulated amortisation RS - MBR2ETEE 40,137 10,245 50,382
At 31 December 2012: MR2012F 12 A31H :

Cost B 77,910 10,785 88,695

Accumulated amortisation BT (37,773) (540) (38,313)

Net carrying amount BREFE 40,137 10,245 50,382
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
p e e

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. EttEIEE (&)
Computer
software Water rights Total
B IKHE A&f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TFHET
31 December 2011 201112 H831H
At 31 December 2010 201012 A31 H
and at 1 January 2011: &2011F1A1H8 :
Cost (BN 71,812 11,153 82,965
Accumulated amortisation BT (15,010) - (15,010)
Net carrying amount BRMEFE 56,802 11,153 67,955
Cost at 1 January 2011, net of R2011F1A1H
accumulated amortisation RN B BETES 56,802 11,153 67,955
Additions NG 1,544 - 1,544
Amortisation provided FNEEH
during the year B (10,218) (367) (10,585)
Exchange realignment [E 5, = 2,604 (1,129) 1,475

Cost at 31 December 2011, netof 201112 A31 H

accumulated amortisation RS - MBR2ETEEE 50,732 9,657 60,389
At 31 December 2011: M2011F12A31 8 :
Cost D %N 76,893 10,006 86,899
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (26,161) (349) (26,510)
Net carrying amount BREFE 50,732 9,657 60,389
19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. RMIB AT Z’RE

Company
PN
2012 2011

2012 F 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Unlisted shares, at cost LTI - BERAE 2,106,711 2,106,711
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
HK$4,639,273,000 (2011: HK$4,407,291,000) and
HK$369,511,000 (2011: HK$87,511,000), respectively, are
unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2012 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

HiEREFE

Share of net assets

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

19. RMB AR ZRE (&)

HAARRRRBEERRBARGZ
BB AR KRR KKK BRARFES
Bl /A4,639,273,000/% JT (20114 -
4,407,291,0007% Jt) K& 369,511,000
7T (20114 : 87,511,000/87T) » 5
BEEE - RERIREREE -

ARG FEMEARR20125F 12 A
31 B 215 - BRI BHmARMFESIS -

20. RIFERFZRE

Group

rEE
2012 2011
2011 4
HK$'000

2012 §F
HK$’000
FHET THET

637,013 567,934

The amounts due from and to associates included in
current assets and current liabilities of HK$4,411,000
(2011: HK$1,551,000) and HK$256,618,000 (2011:
HK$292,150,000), respectively, are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their
management accounts or financial statements:

Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Revenue A
Profit bl

AARBEEMARBABZHER
AIRAEREERBRED R
4,411,000% 7t (20114 : 1,551,000
77T) 256,618,000 7T (20114
292,150,000 7T) * ¥ AJER - %
BRImERER -

TREAMBFEAEEBERRZE
BREXPHRRCHHFENRE

2012 2011
20125 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TR
10,179,616 10,744,283
6,728,166 7,434,668
15,233,338 17,480,253
433,277 447,784

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at
31 December 2012 are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements.

BBAAREEN2012€ 128312 F
TEEE N RS - SR SRR T
40 °
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

22.

23.

170

Unlisted equity investments, at cost

ELmERRE

21.

AHHERE

Group
rEH
2012 2011
20114
HK$'000

THET

2012 F
HK$’000
FHET

203,103 203,104

The unlisted equity investments were outside Hong Kong.
They were stated at cost less impairment because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be
measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of
them in the near future.

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

The held-to-maturity investments consisted of debt investments
with fixed maturity dates and coupon rates, carried at
amortised cost, all of which became mature and were
redeemed during the year.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

22.

23.

FEEMREDRR BN T BHE 2 -
HREENAHERTHEER &
R LR E 2 A EEA
A SERTE - BUARAMEHIRRRED
R o AEBEYWESIMAREHE -

FEZIMRE
BEZHMREABEAETEHA

H - SRTEM 2R Ko DA 5H 18 BN B R EY
BEHIE - GRERELELD -

EYEE

Group
REH
2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FBTT
At 1 January R1A1H 165,833 119,263
Decrease due to harvest A U A (13,781) (7,213)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W EE — M B A A
(note 34) (FfisE34) = 14,426
Additions during the year FANE 12,992 12,953
Disposal during the year FARE (265) (14,073)
Gains arising from changes in fair value AEEEFHSNFE
attributable to physical changes IR S BRI E A 2 Wan 19,522 40,723
Exchange realignment PE 5 a2 126 (246)
At 31 December M®12A31H 184,427 165,833
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 23. £YEE (&)

During the year, the Group harvested approximately 1,607,000 RAEAFE XEEBHE WKL

kilograms (2011: 1,192,000 kilograms) of grapes, which had a 1,607,000~ /T (20114 : 1,192,000

fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of HK$13,781,000 D) ERATERGETHEERKA A

(2011: HK$7,213,000). The fair value of grapes was 13,781,000/ T (2011 4 : 7,213,000

determined with reference to their market prices. BIL) c BEZAFENDNIEMEmME

= o

Significant assumptions made in determining the fair value ERRERNBZEZECEMEELR

of the biological assets based on discounted cash flow FERAEHCEE/\IRAT :

projections are as follows:

(i) the grape vines will continue to be competently managed () BEBBESERLER K&
and remain free from irremediable diseases in the Tz et AR AT E g
remaining estimated useful lives; and 2R

(i) the expected prices of grapes are based on the historical (i) BB TEFHEE IR EE L
average district prices. FAGEBIERLE -

24. INVENTORIES 24. 78

Group

AEE
2012 2011
2012 % 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Raw materials =& 2,182,747 2,754,112
Work in progress EES 73,449 62,013
Finished goods UK 2,818,819 2,885,619
5,075,015 5,701,744

25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 25. EWBRF R E

Group

rEEH
2012 2011
2012 2011 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHEx FBTT
Accounts and bills receivables FEWRFR R EE 2,550,398 1,972,100
Impairment TE (34,073) (27,493)
2,516,325 1,944,607
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally for one to
three months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s accounts receivable relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Accounts and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its accounts and bills receivable balances.

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of impairment, is as follows:

25. BUWIRARRRE (&)

BRIEFI AEEETF 285K
RBEBREER YL —RAEHE
FEAMNK - EEH-—KRNTF—ZE=
@A -BREFPHREEEELR -
AEBSKGEREREFEREER
R MR B EEREHIEE - BREE
ERBREREK 2REEEEHE
ZamMEe - ERX Ll - ARAKE
WERRETRTR 2 BBERR - &RI5
ERRcETREELTEE - BUK
RREZB/TER - AEELEHE
FEW R M R B AR A T EA @
SEMEAERTA -

4 e 35 RS ER 5 2 B BRI TR R
BB R B IR E R B E S T
T

Group

rEH
2012 2011
20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T T
Within 3 months =EAR 2,097,276 1,336,664
3 to 12 months —EAAZE+=—@AR 352,725 597,316
1to 2 years —FEMFNA 65,999 7,735
Over 2 years A F 325 2,892
2,516,325 1,944,607

The movements in provision for impairment of accounts
receivable are as follows:

FEURSORE B ENIN T

Group

rEH
2012 2011
20114
HK$'000
FAT

2012 4
HK$’000
FTERT

At 1 January R1A1H 27,493 24,638
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BERREEE (M:E6) 8,210 2,372
Amount written off as uncollectible P BIE AR < 8 (1,624) (779)
Exchange realignment PE W FAEE (6) 1,262
At 31 December M12A31H 34,073 27,493
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25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of accounts
receivable is a provision for individually impaired accounts
receivable of HK$21,807,000 (2011: HK$20,071,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of HK$21,807,000 (2011:
HK$20,071,000).

The individually impaired accounts receivable relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

The aged analysis of the accounts and bills receivables that
are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired
is as follows:

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

25. BWERARRREE (&)

it e B BB E B B B 1R A R R
BEREWER 2 EHEL 21,807,000
T (20114 : 20,071,000 7T)
ZERRERBENZEEEBNA
21,807,000 7T (20114 : 20,071,000
I °

B M R Bl (8 < e 5 P 3R % B BR 1 B IR
RE 2 wFARM  FEEZEWERRE
EBinRESmURE -

FEME RN 2 KR R EIRAE 2 FEM AR &
RERZEREDITT

Group

REH
2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FiBT
Neither past due nor impaired FEHTARRE 2,383,098 1,764,955
Less than 1 month past due WHEILEA A 16,004 20,183
1 to 3 months past due BEI1 =31 A 23,215 9,745

More than 3 months but BHEA3E AL

less than 12 months past due BALR12{MEA 10,445 53,364
More than 1 year but less than 2 years 1F A EBDRRF 54,618 -
2,487,380 1,848,247

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

RBH I ARBEZ BRI RS &
MY |BEBRBREAZSEETFE
Ea o

EEHMERRE 2 BRI EZ £
BEEAAEBRRFCLHRFZBIE
FER - ENNERSR  ARAES
R BRRSREBZEEERLE
HIBEEAE B DR A A BB
B - B R F R RE
B
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Financial assets that are not derecognised in their
entirety

At 31 December 2012, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Endorsed
Bills”) with a carrying amount of HK$152,679,000 to certain
of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to
such suppliers (the “Endorsement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and
rewards, which include default risks relating to such Endorsed
Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated
trade payables settled. Subsequent to the endorsement, the
Group does not retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed
Bills, including sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Bills to
any other third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the
trade payables settled by the Endorsed Bills during the year to
which the suppliers have recourse is HK$152,679,000 as at
31 December 2012.

Financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2012, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the “Derecognised
Bills™), to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade
payables due to such suppliers with a carrying amount in
aggregate of HK$258,024,000. The Derecognised Bills
have a maturity from one to six months at the end of the
reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are
not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss
on the date of transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or
losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both
during the year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has been
made evenly throughout the year.
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RAEHEHBRAZEHEE

M20124F 12310 KR&EE [ &
ATHERFEEPHETEMNERR
{8 A 152,679,000/ T 2 #& T EW E
BIEEZR])  WEEBRMNZSH
FEENERESER(EE]) - &#
ERE AEBEEREAIHRER K
El3f BEEZESEZRFENE
HER - Bt HEERIASEZE
MEEEEEEMNE SRR E8R
HfE - BE%  AEBEIERBFEH
BEZRZEMER - BEREE
—HHE ERIEREEERE - B
2012412 A31 8 © EANAHBE R
MBEEZRRBZEZENESERZE
E{E42%8 5 152,679,000 7T °

EEHEERRZEMEE

M20124 12 A31H » "EEAHE
TFHEmMmBZERRRITEMANE TE
WEE ((BUBEREE]) - WEER
NZEHEENESESERER kA
{8 48 58 /5 258,024,000 7T « MR &
HiR BUBRREZENERBN T —
ZRMER - BBEFRBEZEEE WS
RERITHER - BUBMERZEEA A
HASERGERE ([HEF K] -
BEERA AEECDEBRABEIUERE
REERAI DR KB - F Lt
HEBUEERZIUEERZIE K8
ENESERNEHEEEE - ~5&H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group
F£E
2012

20125
HK$'000
FHET

EELTRE
EAF(E

Listed equity securities in

Hong Kong, at fair value 18,746

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

26. fé’&%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ)\?ﬁéZ%é&

Company
PN
2012
20125
HK$'000
TET

2011
20115
HK$'000
TR

2011
20114
HK$'000
BT

15,016 13,696 10,283

The above investments at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were
classified as held for trading and were, upon initial recognition,
designated by the Group as financial assets as at fair value
through profit or loss.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

27.

20126 %2011 12 431 H » kit
RERBAA/RZMTA - AN
HERR  GWAKREEE/RATE
AAABEZEREE °

ReREASEEER - ZR
HRITHEBRR B EFFR

Group Company
P-4 | EAF]
2012 2011 2012 2011
2012% 20114 20125 20114
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TAT FAET FTRT FET
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTES 1,923,160 1,770,983 25,665 12,302
Time deposits THER 137,254 157,819 - 187
2,060,414 1,928,802 25,665 12,489
Less: Restricted bank balances * i : SR HI$R1T 4584 # (22,199) - = -
Pledged time deposits: BT BEN
Pledged for short term FLEHSRTER
bank loans (note 29) AR (FiE29) (116,273) (117,590) = -
Pledged for bills payable FENEE
(note 28) AR (FiE28) (20,648) (21,415) - -
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR eSEEE 1,901,294 1,789,797 25,665 12,489
# The amounts were restricted solely for the purpose of the 5 ZECHERREEREREEE Y

acquisition of 100% equity interest in an entity.

2 ERRRHE o
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances and pledged deposits
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$1,892,169,000 (2011: HK$1,728,564,000). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of within one year depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances,
restricted bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

28. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the accounts and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

27. BEREETSHEHEE - ZR
HRITHE R R B IR AERK

&

RBERR AEEUARE ([ A
RE])) s BN RS
BY  SERHIRITEGUNE KT
73X 4 1,892,169,000% 7T (2011 4F -
1,728,564,000%% 7T) - ARBRATH
RAERABHEMEY A - BIEREH
K BeE HINGE B I 6 K 45 B ~ ST EE I B
EEEMATE  AEEEESBFTE
TONE TS 2 RITIEAREE K A5
bﬁé} °

FRRRITZREHREBRITER
R E 23 BFRREAE - RF
AEEANFZREFLME - RAE
HERNE—FATE 2 HEER
3 2 % 58 B 7 BT BN R BRERF 2, o
RITHER - XRHBITHBKRCHEN
FREAROL BENCERIEER
b2 IRAT e

28. B ERARREE

4 o0 2 0 B 2 B B
R AT -

Group

REE
2012 2011
2012 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FT F&TT
Within 3 months =EAR 1,685,228 1,288,808
3to 12 months —EAZE+=@AR 93,914 263,213
1to 2 years —FEMFENAN 10,067 5,972
Over 2 years BB 2,597 715
1,791,806 1,558,708

The accounts and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and EABEREEEATE  — RN

are normally settled in one to three months and one to six
months, respectively.

Certain of the Group’s bills payable are secured by the pledge
of the Group’s bank deposits amounting to HK$20,648,000
(2011: HK$21,415,000).

176 CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012

RN A—E=EAR—=/EA -

AEEBOENEBUAESER
20,648,000 7t (20114 : 21,415,000
BITL) X AERBIRITIF R T LAELR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 R Y o

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. it EHRITERREMER
BORROWINGS
Group RE
2011
20115
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
BB Matwity  HK$'000 B Maturity  HK$000
FIZ (%) 2R T HZ (%) 2EH BT
Current ke
Bank loans - secured RITER - BEA 0.66-6.00 2013 288410 075463 2012 116,428
20136 20124
Bank loans - unsecured ROEH - BHA 0.98-5.38 20130r 1,465,655 061-1.34 20120r 1,345,000
on demand on demand
2013F 20124
HREA YREA
Other loans - unsecured Hi B - A 5,04 2013 246,655 6.10 2012 55,508
20136 20124
2,000,720 1,516,936
Non-current E3)
Bank loans - unsecured ROEH - 2L E 0.98-1.48 2014 1,100,000 093 2014 300,000
2014 % 2014%
1,100,000 300,000
3,100,720 1,816,936
Analysed into: Gril
Bank loans repayable: BREZBIEN:
Within one year or —EREH
on demand RRNEE 1,754,065 1,461,428
Inthe second year FoF 1,100,000 -
I the third to fifth years, F-FRERE
inclusive (BIEBEME) - 300,000
2,854,065 1,761,428
Other loans; HpET:
Within one year —EREH 246,655 55,508
246,655 55,508

3,100,720 1,816,936
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a)  Certain of the Group'’s bank loans are secured by:

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s buildings, which
had an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$190,517,000 (2011: Nil) (note 14);

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s land use
rights, which had an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$17,789,000 (2011: Nil) (note 16);
and

(i)  the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits
amounting to HK$116,273,000 (2011: HK$117,590,000)
(note 27).

(b)  Except for bank loans of HK$310,752,000 (2011: HK$311,428,000)
denominated in United States dollars and HK$665,968,000
(2011: HK$55,508,000) denominated in RMB as at 31
December 2012, all other borrowings were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

(c) Included in the Group’s bank loans repayable within one
year or on demand at 31 December 2012 is a term loan of
HK$195,000,000, which will mature in 2015, with an on-
demand clause.

The other loans represent the loans of HK$246,655,000 (2011:
HK$55,508,000) from COFCO Finance Corporation Limited
(“COFCO Finance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO
Corporation. These balances are unsecured and bear interest
at the rate of 5.04% (2011: 6.1%) per annum.
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(a)

(b)

AEBZMORITERTIAATE
RVEHELR:

() HERAEEEERBFHR
190,517,000/ 7T (20114 :
&) 2ETBT(MEL4):

iy EFEAEBEERENA
17,789,000/ 7T (201 14F : )
ZET AR 16):
3

(i) AL ESE A 116,273,000
B (20114: 117,590,000
BL) 2aTEREFER(ME
27) e

B 20124 12 A 31 H 310,752,000
77T (20114F : 311,428,000/ 7T) K
HR1TEFIAZITTAHE I 665,968,000
77T (2011 4F : 55,508,000 7T) A
ARBEEHEIN - FRAEMEFIAE
TCAHE -

R2012412A318 - "&EE—4F
AL BANEEBRTERBE -2
MERBNEEERRNEHER
2 F B E 3 £ % 5195,000,000
7T - W 2015 F FH

HpER PR RS2 2 AN E
ARRIEIBBREEAT (IR
7% 1) B3246,655,000/8 7T (20114F :
55,508,000/ JT) © 3 % 4 #5 /5 5 45
- B F504E (20114 : 6.1/F)
CLIESCE
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. sTESRITERRHEMER
BORROWINGS (continued) (4&)
Company RAFE]

Current
Bank loans - unsecured

Non-current
Bank loans - unsecured

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or
on demand
In the second year

In the third to fifth years,
inclusive

Effective
interest
rate (%)
ER Maturity HK$'000
I (%) 28R FET
k
ROEH - EEA 1.06-1.91 Ondemand 519,000
B
519,000
E3)
RITET - BEH 0.98-1.48 2014 700,000
2014
700,000
1,219,000
Gl
HERZRTER:
—ERE|Hs
RRNEER 519,000
REZF 700,000
REZFRERF
§25
BEME) -

1,219,000

Effective
interest
rate (%)
ER Maturity
7% (%) i

HK$'000
TAL

061-1.34 2012 or 745,000
on demand
0124
iR

745,000

093 2014 300,000
20145

300,000

1,045,000

745,000

300,000

1,045,000
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEZERIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the REBNECHIEBEREEC#
year are as follows: LU
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE
Group REE
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
investment
properties
and
biological
assets
REMER Withholding
EMEEEE taxes Total
ZAFEAE SR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FAEL FET
At 31 December 2010 and R2010F 12 A318 %
at 1 January 2011 2011%F1A1H 26,920 - 26,920
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) WE—EMERR (K3E34) 13,823 - 13,823
Deferred tax charged to the income RAFFERARE AR
statement during the year (note 10) ZIEFERIE (M3 10) 8,227 - 8,227
Exchange realignment BE F AR 1,162 - 1,162
At 31 December 2011 and R2011F12A318 %
at 1 January 2012 2012F1A1H 50,132 - 50,132
Deferred tax charged to the income RAFZRAIRE AR
statement during the year (note 10) ZIEFERTE (B35 10) 7,349 38,202 45,551
Exchange realignment B H AR 423 - 423
At 31 December 2012 R2012%F12A31H 57,904 38,202 96,106
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. JREEHE (&)

Deferred tax assets BEEHEEE
Group IREE
Losses
available
for offsetting
Impairment against future
Provision of taxable profits
against  receivables  WRIRMESH Unrealised
inventories Bl ARERH  Accruals profits Others Total
HERE  UERE NENEE  BRER AEREN A fit
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
i i i B Thr i Thr
At 31 December 2010 and R010E12A318R
at 1 January 2011 N11%1A18 2,714 6,453 154 20 544 (1,634) 4772 35,003
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
{0 the income statement REEERARRAGA /
during the year (note 10) (fB) ZERERE (EE10)  (1,930) 673 4369 9,142 19% (4,342) 9907
Exchange realignment AR 87 37 116 1,346 (32) 129 1,983
At 31 December 2011 and RONERA3IAR
at 1 January 2012 N12F1A1H 871 7,463 4,639 33,032 329 559 46,893
Deferred tax credited/(charged)
fothe income tatement REERMABRRNGA/
during the year (note 10) (1) ZERHE (fiE10) (712) 662 104,885 9,625 60,666 1,779 182,905
Exchange realignment ERHE - (1) 58 0l - 5 55
At 31 December 2012 RO12E12A31H 159 8,124 109,582 42,650 60,995 8343 229,853

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$246,440,000 (2011: HK$449,164,000) that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum
period of five years of the companies in which the losses
arose. The Group also has tax losses arising in France of
HK$10,567,000 (2011: HK$8,806,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
company in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

NEE B3R 5 Hh B A e 2 i 48 246,440,000
BT(20114: 449,164,000/ 7T)
HEAEEZ AR EBRRRE
AFEZHM AR KRR ERH R
F o REBAEE KRB AR ZHIES
10,567,000 7T (20114 : 8,806,000
BT AHELABIBZAREBRET
AR A RERTEF - AR
ZEBHBRACEREERE B
MzMBAR > MATREEERE
wmA AT E AR SRS - MW ERZ
EERERELHBEE
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30.

31.

182

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2012, the Group recognised deferred
tax liabilities in respect of the aforementioned withholding
tax amounting to HK$38,202,000 (2011: Nil) which was
attributed to certain of the Group subsidiaries established
in Mainland China with a plan to distribute dividends in the
foreseeable future. No other deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
other subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the board, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$478,401,000 at 31 December 2012 (2011:
HK$367,275,000).

SHARE CAPITAL 31.

Authorised: JETE
FIMEEO.10E LY
4,000,000,000 (2011: 4,000,000,000) @M% 4,000,000,000 A%

ELER IR ()

RIBHEMEERMETE - EFEX
BER S 2 INE R R RSN E EE IR
BB BEBEABMI0% 2 A
B o R E M 2008F 1 A1 H AR
EAM2007F12A31 B2 - ERFZ
&7 - HPBEEZFIIEREEME
AR B R BB - AT
WA T THE - Bt - AEE A
PR BIAPER S 2 % FH B R F Bt
200841 A 1 A 2 Fr 1 & 7 2 Ik A
BELEZTE

M20124 12 A31 H » AREE 7t Futt
£ %8/538,202,000587C (20114 : ##)
ZENMBRRAECHERE  SBR
REERP B AR BB EIfEA
FERERKERENETHEBRR -
WK BB 7E A B R BER S 2 A
M B A R ESANTEIE 2 R ES B F
MM 2 BN ERELERHE - EE
EREBZENBERAREAER KD
KB ARFIFEE TR - R20124F 12
A31R  RNELEREAEMRERLZ
PEAKEARIRE G T
ZRREEER /478,401,000 7T (2011
F : 367,275,000/87T) °

N

2012
2012 &

2011
20114
HK$'000
FHET

HK$'000
TERT

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (2011 4F : 4,000,000,000 %) 400,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAR
ERREEIETL L
2,797,191,396 (2011: 2,792,891,756) TN 2,797,191,396 %
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (20114F : 2,792,891,756 i%) 279,719 279,289
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

During the year, the subscription rights attaching to
4,299,640 share options were exercised at the subscription
price of HK$4.952 per share (note 32), resulting in the
issue of 4,299,640 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total
cash consideration, before expenses of HK$60,000, of
approximately HK$21,292,000. An amount of HK$6,719,000
was transferred from the employee share-based compensation
reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of
the share options.

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference
to the above movement in the Company’s issued share capital

31.

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

R (#8)

REE + 4,299,640 17 B AR #E AT Mt 2
RIERLARBESR4.952;8 7T (HFE
32) EEITE - EEITT 4,299,640 k&
BREEO0.10B T2kt - BIRER(E
(FNBR F 177152 60,000 B TT 2 Al) K943
21,292,000 7T © 6,719,000 T ETT
EREBEM R EERAEEH MR
BRERMDRER -

BERARNERTRAZ L8
% PR BB

is as follows:

Share

Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERITRIOEE ERITRE  ROLER #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT TET
At 1 January 2011 R2011F1A1H 2,792,459,756 279,246 6,879 286,125
Share options exercised BT E 432,000 43 2,771 2,814

At 31 December 2011 and R2011F12A31H
1 January 2012 K2012€1H1H 2,792,891,756 279,289 9,650 288,939
Share options exercised BT 4,299,640 430 27,521 27,951
At 31 December 2012 R2012%12A31H 2,797,191,396 279,719 37,171 316,890
Share options R

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 32 to
the financial statements.

RAERERER 8 R EARIRA 8181 T
MR IR BRI M S AR M E 32
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 21 November
2006, the Company conditionally adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The Scheme became effective on 21
November 2006 (the “Effective Date”) and unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate
senior management personnel and key employees of the
Company, and provide eligible participants with an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage eligible participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the issued shares
of the Company at the date of the adoption of the Scheme.
The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
granted to each eligible participant pursuant to the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of its
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the relevant time or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer. The exercise periods of the
share options granted commence subject to the applicable
vesting schedule and in any event end on a date which is
not later than seven years from the date of acceptance of the
share options, subject to early termination thereof as provided
in the Scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price shall be determined by the board and shall
be the higher of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the date of the
offer; (b) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; or (c) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 27 September 2007, a total of 20,619,000 share options
were granted to certain directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group (the “2007 Options”). The exercise price of the 2007
Options is HK$4.952 per share. The closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before the date of grant was
HK$4.85 per share.

The following 2007 Options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

32. BRAERTE (&)

TEEREFEEE  LARNKT=
Hekm®E  QRENERETEHS
RHAARAT ([B2H]) BERE
KRB ETE : (OREERZNHE
I AEEXABIMERRERM
R 2 FHWTHE : () ki@
B-

B B TR A ARRABREKE
SRBERASRE 2R -

MN2007E9 A27 B © RRBIFART]
ETEERASEETEERASEHE
REREME LA 20,619,000 17 8
B4 ([2007 FEEPMRHE ) ° 522007 FF
BRENTTEERTIRAG2ET -
SREIR BB A HE B AT AR RIS &Y
Wi EAE4.858TT °

FA - RIFZFEIT 51 2007 F 5 A
fRIARTTHE -

2012 2011
2012 F 20114

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise price Number  exercise price Number
TREF 15 of options I of options

TRE  BREHA IEE  BREHE

HK$ '000 HK$ {000)
B T5 BT T

per share per share

Bl 511
At 1 January K1A1H 4.952 15,044 4.952 16,344
Lapsed during the year FRRM 4.952 (949) 4.952 (868)
Exercised during the year FRITE 4.952 (4,300) 4.952 (432)
At 31 December ®12HA31H 4.952 9,795 4952 15,044

The weighted average closing price of the shares at the dates
of exercise of share options during the year was HK$8.19
(2011: HK$6.43).

FARTTERREES B /- F1H
U B /R8.19% T (20114 : 6.43
BIL) e
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price and exercise periods of the 2007 Options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Number of options granted to

RBREHR

Directors Employees Total Vesting period

R BEH
‘000 '000 ‘000
5 FH  TH

32. B E ()

PR & BR i1 R 1T 2 2007 B i
ZATEERITERMT -

Exercise price* Exercise period
TEE* 1T
HK$ per share
BRET

646 1,038 1,684  27-9-2007 to £ 26-9-2009
914 2,391 3305  27-9-2007 to £ 26-9-2010
1,280 3,526 4806  27-9-2007 to £ 26-9-2011

2,840 6,955 9,795

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

On 29 March 2011, a total of 30,880,000 share options
were granted to certain directors of the Company and certain
employees of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group (the “2011 Options”). The exercise price of the 2011
Options is HK$4.91. The closing price of the Company’s
shares immediately before the date of grant was HK$4.80 per
share.
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4.952  27-9-2009 to £ 26-9-2014
4952  27-9-2010 to £ 26-9-2014
4952  27-9-2011 to & 26-9-2014

* AR AT HAR - BITAMRSE
PR IR A AR N B - AR A iE
ZITEBATHE -

M2011493 298 » KARGHARDF
ETEERASEETEERNASE
R RIS M 4 £ 30,880,000 17 B
RE#E ([2011 FBERR#E]) - 2011 FF BB
PRERNITEBHBLIOBT - BRERH
BRERSARIRONKHES
FH 4808 TT
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. BEARAESTE (&)
The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the FN - RIEZETEI TS 2011 FEE AR E
Scheme during the year: AT
2012 2011
20124 20114
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number  exercise price Number
TREF 15 of options I of options
TEE BREHA TRE  BREHE
HK$ '000 HK$ ‘000
per share T4 per share T
BT BT
BB ik
At 1 January R1A1H 4.910 30,480 - -
Granted during the year FHET 4,910 = 4910 30,830
Lapsed during the year FRERR 4.910 (1,900) 4910 (400)
At 31 December R12A31H 4910 28,580 4910 30,480
The exercise price and exercise periods of the 2011 Options R EHRMARITE 2 2011 FHERE
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as ZITHEERITEHRNT
follows:

Number of options granted to

REBREYE

Directors Employees Total Vesting period Exercise price* Exercise period
Bx =] &t e ThEE Cigcd
'000 {0/00] {0/00] HK$ per share
T T T BT ER
924 4,792 5,716 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2013 4910 29-3-2013to £ 28-3-2018
924 4,792 5,716 29-3-2011 to = 28-3-2014 4910 29-3-2014 to & 28-3-2018
924 4,792 5,716 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2015 4910 29-3-2015to = 28-3-2018
924 4,792 5,716 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2016 4910 29-3-2016 to = 28-3-2018
924 4,792 5,716 29-3-2011 to & 28-3-2017 4910 29-3-2017 to = 28-3-2018

4,620 23,960 28,580

£ The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * i S &) #E 1T HE A% . BEITAIAR S &
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in BRAH IR H A R BB & - BB AR
the Company'’s share capital. ZITEEATHE -
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. ER#ERE (&)

The fair values of the 2007 Options and the 2011 Options of
the Scheme granted during the years ended 31 December
2007 and 31 December 2011 were HK$32,227,000
(approximately HK$1.563 each) and HK$47,124,000
(approximately HK$1.526 each), respectively, of which
the Company recognised a share option expense of
HK$12,211,000 (2011: HK$10,357,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2012.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the years ended 31 December 2007 and 2011 were estimated
as at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing model and a binomial option pricing model,
respectively, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

RIEZ BN B E 2007 F 12 A31H
&2011412 31 L E &K H
2007 FEEMRE R 2011 FEERE L A
FE 5 Rl 7 32,227,000% 7T (815 4
1.5637% JT) & 47,124,0007% 7T (
M#1526/87T)  HRARRBRE
Z20126F 12 A31 B It FE#RE R
R X /12,211,000% 7T (20114 :
10,357,000 7T) °

MELZE 2007 12 A31 B &k 2011 F A
ROABRAER 2 BIE 2 A FHETS
RIETRBREE B RIAE 5 - &F
BT EEEA R A RRETEE
BAEHEET - XEZ R OBEE
IR RGN o TRINMZRA 28
AHE

2011 Options 2007 Options

2011 FERE 2007 F iRk

Date of grant A E 29 March 2011 27 September 2007
201143 H29H 20079 A27H

Dividend yield (%) PREE (%) 2.109 0.8
Expected volatility (%) TEHRR 18 (%) 33.716 30.570
Historical volatility (%) BERIE (%) 33.716 30.570
Risk-free interest rate (%) 3 1 (%) 2.40 4.102
Expected life of options (year) FERSETRRT R () 7 5
Weighted average share price (HK$) HIIEFHIRMDER (GBT) 4910 4.952

The expected life of the options is determined with reference to
the vesting term and original contractual term of the Scheme
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that
may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 4,299,640 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 4,299,640 ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of HK$430,000 and share
premium of HK$27,521,000 (before issue expenses of
HK$60,000), as further detailed in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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FESEHEYS -

R E N7 184,299,640 B A% #E - &
AR |)E174,299,640 I 18 I &
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32.

33.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, a total of 38,375,480 (2011:
45,524,000) share options remained outstanding under the
Scheme. The 2007 Options and the 2011 Options outstanding
at 31 December 2012 had remaining contractual lives of
1.74 years (2011: 2.74 years) and 5.25 years (2011: 6.24
years), respectively. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 38,375,480 (2011:
45,524,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of approximately HK$3,838,000
(2011: approximately HK$4,552,000) and share premium
of approximately HK$184,997,000 (2011: approximately
HK$219,605,000) (before issue expenses).

RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 95 to 96 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-
foreign joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits
of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
in Mainland China has been transferred to reserve funds
which are restricted as to use.

The Group’s capital reserve includes:

(1) the differences between the consideration and the
book value of the share of net assets acquired/
disposed of when there is a change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control; and

32.

33.

BRI
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RS (&)

RBER - BB HRTHE
R BB RG4S $£38,375,48017 (2011
%F:45,524,00010) ° 2007 F &
2011 FEERER 2012F 12 A 31
BEARITENBRERSE LHHAR
DRIAE1.74E (20114 2.744)
T 5.25F (20114 6.24%F) - A
ARBEENERAEETEZEITER
RITERBREE B AR QR BT
38,375,480/% (20114 : 45,524,000
) BANZE B KSR ALY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB R = P R

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

33. RESERVES (continued)

(@) Group (continued)

(2) the contributed surplus which represents:

(i)

(ii)

the excess value of the shares acquired over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor under the group
reorganisation in 1991, less the goodwill
arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates which remains eliminated against
the capital reserve; and

the excess value of the shares acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor under
the reorganisation completed during the year
ended 31 December 2006.

On 15 April 2008, the board passed a resolution in
relation to a share premium cancellation pursuant to
Section 46 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
which was approved by shareholders on a special
resolution on 19 May 2008, and was later approved
by the registrar of companies of Bermuda on 3 June
2008. Accordingly, the share premium accounting for
approximately HK$3,660,432,000 was transferred to the
contributed surplus during the year ended 31 December

2008.
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(b) Company

33. RESERVES (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 R Y o

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

33.f#% (&)

(b)

RRNF

Employee Retained
share-based profits/
Share  compensation (Accumulated
premium reserve  Contributed deficit)
account ESRA suplus ~ RERR/ Total
RRER SEHMGEE BB  (RAEHR) &t
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz THr THr THr THr THr
At 1 January 2011 W2011E1A1H 6,879 23943 4,878,675 363,701 5,263,198
Total comprehensive loss ~ AEEZHEEE
for the year s - - - (34,516) (34,516)
Exercise of share options {TEEERE 31 2,771 (675) - - 2,096
Equity-settled share RAEEERE
option arrangements T 3 - 10,357 - - 10,357
Interim 2011 dividend paid ~ EJE 2011 F RS 12 - - - (113673)  (113673)
Proposed 2011 final dividend #2011 ERER &, 12 - - (118,698) - (118,698)
At31 December 2011and 2011412 A31H
1 January 2012 R2012F1R18 9,650 33,625 4,759,977 205,512 5,008,764
Total comprehensive loss ~ AEEZHEEE
for the year o - - - (39,295) (39,295)
Exercise of share options {TfFasmRE 31 27,521 (6,719) - - 20,802
Equity-settled share RAGE B
option arrangements ZH 32 - 12,211 - = 12,211
Transfer of employee RERES M
share-based compensation 82| £6%
reserve upon the forfeiture or  E3E(E SRR
expiry of share options EEGBHE - (2,437) - 2,437 -
Adjustment on 2011 dividend 2011 iz 8 35% - - - (79) (79)
Interim 2012 dividend paid Bk 2012 EF RS 12 - - - (170,769)  (170,769)
At 31 December 2012 20124 12A31H 37,171 36,680 4,759,977 (2,194) 4,831,634

2012%F 3k PEREERAHE
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

33. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Company (continued)
The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i)  the difference between the underlying net assets
of subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor
under a group reorganisation in 1991; and

(i)  the difference between the consideration payable
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange therefor under the reorganisation
completed during the year ended 31 December
2006.

On 15 April 2008, the board passed a resolution in
relation to a share premium cancellation pursuant to
Section 46 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
which was approved by shareholders on a special
resolution on 19 May 2008, and was later approved
by the registrar of companies of Bermuda on 3 June
2008. Accordingly, the share premium accounting for
approximately HK$3,660,432,000 was transferred to the
contributed surplus during the year ended 31 December
2008.

In addition, the Company’s final dividends were
distributed out of the contributed surplus of the
Company.

The employee share-based compensation reserve
represents the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in
the accounting policy for share-based payments in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will
be transferred to the share premium account when
the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or be
forfeited.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Company (continued)

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution
to its shareholders. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
its contributed surplus, if:

(i)  the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii)  the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate realisable value
of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combination in 2011

In February 2011, Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the 100%
interest in Société Du Chéateau de Viaud SAS (“Chéateau de
Viaud SAS”) from Philippe Raoux SAS, an independent third
party, at a cash consideration of EUR8,253,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$85,714,000) (the “Acquisition”).
The Acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy
to diversify its vineyards and production bases in different
regions.
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34. ¥E 4t
2011 FXK A/t

M2011F2 R - KRAR2EME AT
Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS
& ¥8 37 25 = 5 Philippe Raoux SAS U
f# Société Du Chateau de Viaud SAS
([Chateau de Viaud SAS) 100% A& #&
(TiE=1E]) - BLMRER 8,253,000
BT (FBE R 485,714,000/ 7T) ° U
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

34. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 34. A6 (E)
Business combination in 2011 (continued) 2011 FEKES 0t ()
A summary of the fair values of the identifiable assets and Chateau de Viaud SAS 7AUgEE B Hi > 7]
liabilities of Chateau de Viaud SAS as at the date of the HABENBBE AFEMENT ¢

Acquisition was as follows:

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
1 B B
BRZATE
HK$'000
FiBT
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) YIE - BB MR (FiEE14) 61,389
Biological assets (note 23) EEE (K13E23) 14,426
Inventories FE 16,098
Accounts receivable FEUBR TR 102
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFOE « e R HAEWEIR 213
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTHE 8 800
Accounts and bills payables R ERE (522)
Other payables and accruals HEtEfIEREaE (407)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEIRITER (45)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 30) BRIEFIIEAE (3E30) (13,823)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BANFEERZ A H#REEFEE 78,231
Goodwill on acquisition (note 17) U EgRsE A 2 i (FsE17) 7,483
Satisfied by cash RE AT 85,714
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisition is as BB EREE 2 REROTWOT -
follows:
HK$'000
FiBT
Cash consideration paid BNRERE (85,714)
Cash and bank balances acquired Frig AR € RIRTTAE &R 800
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents MUEEBEMEEA RS
in respect of the Acquisition kKBS EERRLEFE (84,914)
Since the Acquisition, Chateau de Viaud SAS contributed WEEETE% - H{E20114F12A31H
HK$7,137,000 to the Group’s turnover and a profit of 1F%FZ Chateau de Viaud SAS [EI AN E
HK$174,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended H& R B EL7,137,0008 7T M A4S
31 December 2011. BHERE R A ERUE R 174,000 7T ©
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31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. HAREE
Save as disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements, at MBAFSSRERMITE I0OWEE SN - NIRE
the end of the reporting period, the Group had no significant HR - AKBEWEBEMERNSIABE -
contingent liabilities.
At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s contingent RIREHR - BB HRRAREE Z A
liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as NEIABENT ¢
follows:

Company
¥ /N
2012 2011

2012 F 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET

Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ #t—EIME A RIER 2

with facilities granted to a subsidiary BhE M R THR A 2 IR 387,500 387,500
At the end of the reporting period, the banking facilities RIEHR - REBEAR G RRITRME
granted to a subsidiary subject to guarantees given to banks ZHERMBTFHEB AR ZRTRE
by the Company were not utilised (2011: Nil). RENA (20114 : ) o
36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. KEHENZHE
(@) As lessor (@) fERHMEA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) REERBLEEROLHENHER
under operating lease arrangements, with leases WEWE (K:E15)  &£Hmz
negotiated for terms ranging from three to twelve years. HBPR=Z21+=F1T% - — KM
The terms of the leases generally also require the T MA BRI ERP T
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic e - WEIAIEMREERT
rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market MARHEE ©
conditions.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RBERAR - NEBEIREHEEH
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable PRI 2 DRI BH A A FE IR
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: ZARREEESBEENT :
Group
REE
2012 2011
2012 % 2011 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Within one year —F R 6,682 4,979
In the second to fifth years, F_EERF
inclusive (BiEEEMT) 22,354 20,821
After five years AFE 20,132 20,136
49,168 45,936
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36. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 36. KREHFNZH (&)
(continued)
(b) As lessee (b) 1ERBEBEA
The Group leases certain of its office properties under REBERBEEHOLHERSE
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are TFHAEYE - MERLLHR
negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years. B —FETETE -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RWEIR - AEEREBETAH
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable SHACE A EN 2 AR KRS
operating leases falling due as follows: BT -
Group
rEH
2012 2011
20124 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fix FAT
Within one year —FR 66,521 61,068
In the second to fifth years, F_EERF
inclusive (BIEEREMF) 65,105 50,371
After five years TFi& 53,275 73,440
184,901 184,879
37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. EREIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed Bri b STHIRE 36(b) F il 2 48 & 0 4975
in note 36(b) above, the Group had the following capital BN REBRBRERREUATER
commitments at the end of the reporting period: AE
Group
rEE
2012 2011
2012 2011 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER F&TT
Property, plant and equipment: LZ/ES ;Jﬁ?ﬁ%&%ﬁ :
Authorised but not contracted BIREBRETH 26,610 13,403
Contracted, but not provided for BRT#MERHRE 275,719 139,901
302,329 153,304
At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no REEHR - AR F W MHEERAE
significant commitments (2011: Nil). (20114 : £®) -

196 CHINA FOODS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2012



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 R Y o

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

38. HEALRS

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

(a) Apart from the transactions and balances disclosed (a) BREBmMREMMFFAIFEE 2R
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the DREEBIN - REBREFE
following material transactions with related parties during NEREATHETZEARAZ SN

the year: ™

Group
XEE

2012

2012 %
HK$'000
FER

2011
20115
HK$'000
TET

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries: HEZHE
RAlZRS
Sales of goods * HEEMR™ (i) 101,128 81,302
Purchases of goods ** BEER™ (i) 8,776,182 7,789,342
Service fee income * PRISERA * (i) 42,595 18,988
Rental expenses * Hesd () 30,790 32,874
Service fee expenses * RisES > (i 4,476 -
Interest expenses FEZH (ii) 23,514 704
Transactions with the ultimate a8 Ser Sy
holding company: RDAZRS
Sales of goods * HEEM® (i) 9,864 2,379
Purchases of goods ** BEEMR (i) 198,871 19,419
Rental expenses * Hexim: 0) 20,223 2313
Service fee expenses * R B (i) 2,913 -
Transactions with associates: el /NG|
RS
Sales of goods HEEW () = 14,708
Purchases of goods ** BEER* 0) 2,124,494 2,316,894
Compensation income BEBA 0) 2,101 -
Commission income fAElA (i) 19,542 -
Transactions with related companies*: HEE AT
ZRH:
Sales of goods * HEER® 0) 54,945 11,636
Purchases of goods ** BEEM 0) 2,849,957 2,900,978
* These related party transactions also constituted * ZEBEATRZIRIE ETARR

connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions discloseable in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

*x A certain portion of these related party transactions
are connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions discloseable in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

i Related companies are companies under significant
influence by the Group’s ultimate holding company.

* %

E o TERATREZHER S
RHEMERS -

MOZEMEALZZRE TR
AIRE RATHBEZHERHH
FHERERS -

BERR AR AEERKZERAT
EAFEZIRTA] °
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31 December 2012
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)
Notes:

(i) These transactions were carried out in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.

(ii) Interest expenses arose from the loans from COFCO
Finance, which are unsecured, bear interest at rates
ranging from 5.04% to 6.1% (2011: 4.59% to 6.10%)
per annum (note 29).

Transactions with the ultimate holding company

Pursuant to certain licensing agreements entered
into between the Group and COFCO Corporation, the
Group was granted the exclusive rights to use certain
trademarks for its kitchen food business. The licensing
fees for the current year and the prior year were waived
by COFCO Corporation.

Commitments with related parties

On 1 August 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a three-year agreement ending 30 October 2014
with COFCO Plaza Development Co. Ltd., a subsidiary
of COFCO Corporation, to lease properties as its office.
The amount of the total rental expenses paid to COFCO
Plaza Development Co., Ltd. for the year is included
in note 38(a) to the financial statements. The Group
expects the total rental expenses payable to COFCO
Plaza Development Co., Ltd. from 2013 to 2014 to be
approximately HK$14,933,000.

Outstanding balances with related parties and
non-controlling shareholders of the Group’s
subsidiaries

Except for (1) the loans of HK$246,655,000 (2011:
HK$55,508,000) from COFCO Finance, the terms of
which are detailed in note 29 to the financial statements,
and (2) the amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
of the Group’s subsidiaries of HK$27,675,000 (2011:
HK$27,680,000) which are not repayable within
one year, the remaining balances with the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries, associates, related
companies and non-controlling shareholders of the
Group’s subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.
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38. BEALXRS (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(%)
Wi

) ZERZHVERBEE2ENE
HERETE 2 R BRI ETT -

(i FERIEERRTREMBZ
B 2ZEREEEERIE
FEB5.04EZE6.1E (20114 :
459[EZ6.10/2) 5T 8 (M
29) °

HEERERARETZRS

REAKEEPEABRI L ZHE
THEF = - ARBEERIBEET
A AIREBRERMEBER
ETEE MAFEBEFE
ZERTEERETREARRE -

EBREE A 2GR

MR201148A1H » AREE—[H
M AR LR AR —EHBA
AFRESERER ARG
—=FEE - AHEYEES
HBAE  ZiHER 20145 10
A30BEM - FAENFEE
HERARARCHERT R
FIA BT R M 7E38(a) « A%
B85t 8 2013 5 = 2014 F &S
FRRESERARARZHERH
ST #AFEH) 14,933,00058 7T ©

AEALTRASENERTE
FERRR 2 R EBERE

B (1) 181 75 B 38 246,655,000
BT (20114 : 55,508,000/
JC) v EGEREE LR B 7 R R
29 R Q)X AEEH B A A
eI AR SR FR0E 27,675,00078 7T
(20114 : 27,680,000/ 7T) (&
FERIFREE) S KEBEH
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(e)

(f)

Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

38. BEALXRS ()

(e)

AEEFEEE AR Z RN

Group

REE
2012 2011
2012 & 20114
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FiBT
Short term employee benefits HEERET 10,041 16,150
Equity-settled share option expense A% 7N 45 & BE RS FE R 2 2,209 2,906
Pension scheme contributions IRIRET B 165 323

Total compensation paid to NFEEEEAER

key management personnel 2 RBNEEE 12,415 19,379

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

Transactions and balances with other state-
owned enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government through its
numerous authorities, affiliates or other organisations
(collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). During the
year, the Group entered into extensive transactions
covering, but not limited to, sales of goods, purchases of
raw materials, property, plant and equipment and other
assets, receiving of services, and making deposits and
borrowings with certain State-owned Enterprises, other
than COFCO and its affiliates, at terms comparable to
those with non-state-owned enterprises. The directors
consider that transactions with those State-owned
Enterprises were entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, and that dealings
of the Group have not been significantly or unduly
affected by the fact that the Group and those State-
owned Enterprises are ultimately controlled or owned by
the PRC government. The Group has also established
pricing policies for products and services, and such
policies do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises.

(f)

EENTBREEMeNE—TF
BEN T IHRRMFES ©

BEHEMEALENRZ RE
23

AEEELNKLBERETND
ERZRTEBRFBBERS
HRE - BB EMARE
EREREASENNEE (R
MIBEELRE])  ANFEEAKE
HRLEEMEETHNERZRS
BRETRNFEEER  BER
MEL S W2 RS MRS R LA
BE  BXRE  LHETERF
NEBBRRIAINEEEER
FAMER - LR ZHFREIE
BAECERZHEFAEU - EFR
R BEMBEACENR I RE
AEE B EERBBETETHE
8 BASEEBLHBERTR
RIEHIEANEERENES
WREXBTEXE - AREE
B m A RS O E BER - M
BEBRITERREFZE R
BARE -
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 39. XEMBLARIZFHE
SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 AR EEMBARIEE2012F12
December 2012 are as follows: A3l BZFBWT :
Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company Principal
MR BRITZER AP FEL activities
AR R A i B TEMEAREE RAE 2 FEXK
China Great Wall Wine Co., Ltd. * The PRC/Mainland China RMB180,000,000 100 Production and
HERNEEBEERAR B ARE AR 180,000,000 7 sale of grape wine
and beverage
products
EEREEEER
REMER
Yantai Greatwall Wines and The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Sale of
Spirits Co., Ltd. * R/ R B AR ARH1,000,0007T grape wine
BARBBEHERRDA" HEREE
Qinhuangdao Huaxia Greatwall The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100 Wholesale of
Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. * R/ R E AR AR 1,000,0007T grape wine
REEEERWEEBRAA" HEEED
COFCO Greatwall Winery The PRC/Mainland China RMB146,900,000 100 Production and
(Yantai) Co., Ltd. * Wt ARE AR 146,900,000 7T sale of grape wine
FERNEEE (Es)BERAR" EEREEEER
COFCO Huaxia Greatwall The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100 Production and
Wine Co., Ltd. * R/ R E AR AR 200,000,0007T sale of grape wine
FREERNESEERAR" EEREEEER
COFCO Huaxiahong Wines & The PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 80 Wholesale of
Spirits (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ** R/ B A B AR 3,000,0007T grape wine
FIREBALRE (RY)BRAE HESED
COFCO Junding Vineyard Co., Ltd. **  The PRC/Mainland China RMB140,000,000 55 Production and
hEETEEEAR AR WA RE A 140,000,0007T sale of grape wine
EEREETER
COFCO & Arrive Vine Plant The PRC/Mainland China EUR500,000 58.38 Plantation of vine
(Yantai) R&D Co., Ltd. ** W/t E A RE 500,000 BT and production of
FlERBMAEREEE A related products
(B8 HEBRAR BEEER
EEREER
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

COFCO Wines & Spirits Co., Ltd. *
FRAEERAF"

COFCO Foods Penglai Co., Ltd. *
FRRRERERAF

Shandong COFCO Junding
World Famous Chateaus
Club Co., Ltd. **

IWERPEETAT REH
RERBR AR

COFCO Shaoxing Winery Co., Ltd. *
FiEREEER AR

Huailai Greatwall Vine Base
Development Co., Ltd. **

BRERBAEENARERAR

Huailai COFCO Greatwall
Sungod Chateau Co., Ltd. **
ERPRRAZTEIEERAE

COFCO Greatwall (Zhuolu)
Wines Co., Ltd. *
FiERE (A%) §8BEERAR"

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operations
ML,
AR AR i 5

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE B AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE B AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE /R E AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE/ REARE

The PRC/Mainland China

VN

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE /B AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE REARE

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

39. FEMB AR ZH1E (&)

Nominal value

of ordinary issued/
registered capital
ERTEER
EMEAHE
RMB11,760,000
AR 11,760,000 7T

RMB1,000,000
AR 1,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007C

RMB68,670,000
AR%68,670,0007T

RMB6,860,000

AE#6,860,000 7

RMB1,000,000
AR 1,000,0007T

RMB1,000,000
AR 1,000,0007T

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company Principal
NG 3 activities
[ NE s TEEK
100 Wholesale of
grape wine
HEEER
100 Wholesale of
grape wine
HEEER

55 Sale and distribution
and storage of

grape wine, spirits,

and other related

products

HEE  JER
EtHBERNHE

Rp iR

100 Production and sale
of Chinese yellow
rice wine
EEREE
FEIERE

75 Plantation of vine

BEEE

100 Production and
sale of grape wine
EERHERER
100 Wine processing
and bottling, sale
and distribution of
wine products
BEENIR
Kl HER
AIEBEER
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 39. FEMB AT ZF1E (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company Principal
MR BRTLER KT activities
AR R A i B TEMEAREE RAE 2 TEEK
COFCO Greatwall Wine The PRC/Mainland China US$16,080,000 100 Import and export of
(Ningxia) Co., Ltd. * BB ARE 16,080,000 7T grape wine and
FRERBEEE(ZE)ERAE" related materials
EHOEEER
EEm
Shenzhen Le Conté Marketing The PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 90 Distribution of
Services Co., Ltd.** R R B AR AR 15,000,0007T chocolate products
AT eSeHBRAR AR NER
COFCO Le Conté Food The PRC/Mainland China US$24,994,370 100 Production and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. * BB AR 24,994,370 57T distribution of
FlEEFRA ORI BRAR " chocolate products
KERDETRN
Em
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 65 Investment holding
FIEA A A EE B RA A B HK$2,463,217,002 REZR
LER
2,463,217,002787C
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 65 Investment holding
(China) Investment Ltd. * hEl /Bl ARE 30,000,000% 7T REER
IR ORI SRR (R R A
BRAF*
Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverages The PRC/Mainland China US$15,500,000 325¢ Beverage bottling
Co., Ltd. ** R/ R E AR 15,500,000 %7 production, sale
RETOTLHHBRAF and distribution
ERRRERE
B RHE
Hainan COFCO Coca-Cola The PRC/Mainland China US$11,700,000 65 Beverage bottling
Beverages Limited * R/ R E AR 11,700,000 7T production, sale
BERRIOALHNERAR" and distribution
ERRRERE -
B RHE
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Hunan COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Company Limited *
AR DTSR BRAR

Zhanjiang COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited *

TR AR ARAR

Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola

Beverages Limited *
HETRIATERHERAR "

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Xinjiang) Limited **
RIRT ORI LERE (3T ) BRAR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Jiangxi) Limited *
IR DA E O ) BRAR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Shandong) Limited **
HIER AR (LK) BRAR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Jinan) Limited **
IR ORI L8RE () BRAR

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operations
ML,
AR AR i 5

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE B AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HE R AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HE B AKE

The PRC/Mainland China
RE/REARE

The PRC/Mainland China
HE B AR

The PRC/Mainland China
HE B AKE

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE R AR

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

39. FEMB AR ZH1E (&)

Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company
KARE
RABAL

Nominal value

of ordinary issued/
registered capital
ERTEER
EMEAHE

Principal
activities

US$8,000,000 65
8,000,000t

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
SRERIREE

ok R 3HE

RMB23,000,000 65
AR 23,000,000

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
ERRHE AR -

FlxRiEE

US$5,000,000 65
5,000,000%7T

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
BB -

Blix RiHeE

RMB60,000,000 52
AR 60,000,0007C

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
ERIRRERE -

ok JR3HE

RMB40,000,000 65
AR 40,000,000

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution

ERRHE AR -

X REE

US$12,500,000 48.75¢

12,500,000 % T

Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
R AR

xR iHE

US$5,000,000
5,000,00057T

48.75¢ Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
SRIRIRERE
ok R3HE
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Beﬂng Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. **
L RA A AR AR AR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Inner Mongolia) Limited **

PRI OALHEH(NRE)
BRAA

COFCO Food Sales & Distribution
Co., Ltd. *
FIERMEEERAF"

COFCO Foods Management Co., Ltd. *
FRERERERAR"

Vina Santa Andrea Limitada

COFCO Wines & Spirits
(Huailai) Co., Ltd. *
RREX (ER) HEERAR

39. FEMBAR 2T (&)

Place of

incorporation/ Nominal value
registration of ordinary issued/
and operations registered capital
EMKL BERTZER/
AR A 2 M EAREE
The PRC/Mainland China US$19,500,000
hE AR 19,500,000 %7
The PRC/Mainland China RMB48,000,000
B ARE AR 48,000,0007C
The PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000
R B AR A 200,000,0007
The PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000
hEl /B ARE 10,000,000%7¢
Chile CLP7,750,000,000
BH 7,750,000,000 & F|LL R
The PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000
/AR ABRH 1,000,000
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Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company
ANR
RABAL

Principal
activities

EFREH

48.75¢ Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
BB E -
R REE
43.55¢ Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
SREEIRAE -
R REE

100 Distribution of
consumer pack

edible oils and other
consumer food

products

A EERAA
LEMBEERR

100 Research and
development in

food, wine and

beverage,

management and

consulting services
RERFAERR

BREE - BEER

AR

100 Exploitation and
operation of

vineyards,

production and

sale of grape wine

BEE HER
HEBEE

100 Sale of grape
wine, brandy
and beverage
HEBEE
B R
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

COFCO (Ningxia) Vine Plantation
Co., Ltd. *
TR (2R ) BEBEERAR "

Jinan Junding Hua Yue

Hotel Management Co., Ltd.**
ERERENAEERERAR

Beijing Junding Hua Yue
Hotel Management Co., Ltd.**
EREREREEERERAR

COFCQ Coca-Cola Supply Chain
(Tianjin) Limited*

IR DA (R)2)
BRRAE"

Top Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS

Société Du Chateau de Viaud SAS

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Hebei) Limited **
AT O TR (T3E) BRAT

Place of
incorporation/
registration

and operations
ML,
AR AR i 5

The PRC/Mainland China
HE/ R EARE

The PRC/Mainland China
BB AR

The PRC/Mainland China
RE /R EARE

The PRC/Mainland China
HRE R AR

France

EE

France

EE

The PRC/Mainland China
RE /R EARE

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

39. FEMB AR ZH1E (&)

Nominal value

of ordinary issued/
registered capital
ERTEER
EMEAHE

US$7,040,000
7,040,000 7T

RMB2,890,000
AE 2,890,000 7T

RMB2,890,000
AE#2,890,0007C

RMB10,000,000

A& # 10,000,000 7T

EUR4,150,000
4,150,000 BT

EUR3,920,000
3,920,000 &7t

RMB83,000,000

AR 83,000,0007T

Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company
KARE
RABAL

Principal
activities
100 Plantation and
sale of vines,
production and
sale of grape
BERHEE
BEEA - £E
REEEE

55 Hospitality and
conference service

EIEREHERY

55 Hospitality and
conference service

BEReE RS

65  Retails of bulk foods
and relevant materials,
information consulting

and management

HERSRIEN
FRHTE
EemRER

100 Investment holding

RAER

100 Exploitation and
operation of
vineyards,
production and
sale of grape wine
EEYS e
HERERE
32,5 Beverage bottling
production, sale
and distribution
BRI
fx REHE
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 39. TEMB AT Z5F1E (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Percentage
incorporation/ Nominal value of equity
registration of ordinary issued/ attributable to
and operations registered capital the Company Principal
MR/ BRTLER KD TR activities
SR R AT B HEMEAHE BAEA TEER
Tibet COFCO Coca-cola The PRC/Mainland China RMBZ,OO0,0(p 65 Beverage sale
Commerce & Trade Limited* E B AR AKH2,000,0007C and distribution
AETEAT O EEEBRAR" BRAE R B
Jinan Junding Hua Yue The PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000 55 Wholesale of
Wine Co., Ltd.** i, hEIARE AR 100,0007T packaged foods
BEEREENBEERAR HEERERSR
Beijing Junding Chateau Wine Sales The PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000 55 Sales of Wines
Co,, Ltd.** /AR AR 800,0007C HEESER
ERBBETEEHERRAR
COFCO Greatwall Winery The PRC/Mainland China ‘RM838,900,0(p 100 Production and
(Xinjiang) Co., Ltd. * HE B AR AR 38,900,0007C sale of grape wine
RERNEEE 18 BRAR" KERHEETER
2 Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises * INTEERE
**  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures > hHNEERE
# These are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the * EZ%HEZF?E??F%EWE:D\EZ
Company. Accordingly, they are accounted for as subsidiaries W%’AET; I BREARR R HZER
by virtue of the Company’s control over them. AIBESIEmS BB AR o
s The company name changed to “COFCO Greatwall Sungod A ’\Aﬁj%ﬁﬁ\ml?{%? A20RBEE
Chateau (Huailai) Co., Ltd.” with effect from 20 March 2013. AEEMETER (%) BRA
Ej °
All of the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the N EFMBEXZEWBRRHBAARTM
Company. 58 -
Except for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited, Top Glory BrepfEn] O Al R AR AR - Top
Wines & Spirits Europe SAS, and Société Du Chateau de Viaud Glory Wines & Spirits Europe SAS &
SAS, the statutory audits of the above subsidiaries were not Sociéte Du Chateau de Viaud SASSh -
performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member tﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?%k%%ﬁﬁﬂi
firm of the Ernst & Young global network. FHAMRZOKBIRBEO MK B R
AETT AT HZ o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, £§§'JE_X¢§EZWE’D\§ CMEE
in the opinion of the board, principally affected the results for SR Eijﬁﬁ%’&ﬁjﬂﬁﬁ%f?%
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BE Ei??&%ﬁ%ﬁzﬁ%ﬁ@@
Group. To give details of all subsidiaries would, in the opinion BEZEEBEH M EFTLRE EE?'JEFr
of the board, result in particulars of excessive length. EMBARZFBEHEEIBARTBR
T °
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2012412 A31 H

40. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL 40. TEBE AR ZHE

ASSOCIATES

AEEFEBE AT N2012F 12 A
31RZFHBIT

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31
December 2012 are as follows:

Percentage

of ownership

Nominal value Place of interest

of issued share capital/ incorporation/ attributable
registered capital registration to the Group Principal
BRTRE TR FEBEGESRE activities
HEfMEREE it 2 BEEAL TEER
Nanjing BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$19,000,000 The PRC 13 Beverages
BRPERRERLF 19,000,000% 7T H processing
ORI
Hangzhou BC Foods Co., Ltd. US$20,000,000 The PRC 13 Beverages
MNP ERRBRAH 20,000,000 7T o processing
ERNT
CBPC Limited Ordinary HK$10,000 Hong Kong 16.3 Procurement of
LAY 10,000/ 7T N raw materials
for Coca-Cola
bottlers in
Mainland China
TEHERES
QIERES 3
RERA
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Ordinary HK$29,000 Hong Kong 13.7  Investment holding
Holdings Limited LiEAk 29,0007 7T BB REER

ERIHEZERRIEFEARE
REREEXTCRASEEEFEL
REMD 2 AEEBERR - EFTER
7o HIRABERRZFERE
HARBELEK °

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the board, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of all associates would, in the opinion of
the board, result in particulars of excessive length.

EXeRR ARZFRRICESS

In the opinion of the board, the Group is able to exercise

significant influence over the above companies as the boards
of these companies comprise representatives of the Group,
who participate in the policy-making processes. Accordingly,
they are accounted for as associates of the Group.

All of the above associates are indirectly held by the Company.
The statutory audits of the above associates were not

performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

TEAKEZAR  2EBERGES
B AEERmERE L RRTTE
EXFE At BEREFEAKE

ZHEAT -

A EFTEHEE R R B AR B RER
E o

B L e ARG IR TR L KE
At EBM =75 P R 2 ok 2 BRAB A% B EL A AK
BRAETEERX °
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41. ZRAIB D 2 EMT A
R|EMR - SRR SR T ARE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BT :
follows:
2012 Group
Financial assets rER
Financial
Available- assets at fair
for-sale value through
financial Loans and profit or loss
assets receivables BAYE
AftHE EXK SIARE 2
SHEE i CREE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FThEx FiEx FTiEx
Due from associates [ UNCIUNE = 4,411 = 4,411
Due from fellow subsidiaries RZHBATIRER = 588,635 = 588,635
Due from the ultimate S Sy YN
holding company R - 78,961 - 78,961
Due from the immediate HRERAA
holding company R - 165 - 165
Due from non-controlling D) YNTE
shareholders of subsidiaries eV = 19,687 = 19,687
Equity investments at fair value ~ IZAFEF A B
through profit or loss ZHERIRE = = 18,746 18,746
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 203,103 = = 203,103
Accounts and bills receivables  JEUBEZ R 24E = 2,516,325 = 2,516,325
Financial assets included in STATBNRUE - B2
prepayments, deposits and RE A B IR
other receivables JEREE = 927,926 = 927,926
Restricted bank balances SR HIRITAE S = 22,199 = 22,199
Pledged deposits BHEAER = 136,921 = 136,921
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRe&SEER = 1,901,294 = 1,901,294
203,103 6,196,524 18,746 6,418,373
2012 Group
Financial liabilities REE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
RBIHASE
ZEmans
HK$’000
FHET
Due to associates YN YNCIENE] 256,618
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNEEY ) VNGIE R 2,093,245
Due to the ultimate holding company REERAFIFRIE 58,211
Due to related companies KB N AR 769,944
Due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries /R P& 72 A 3E42 A% A% R Z0E 65,403
Accounts and bills payables NS 1,791,806
Financial liabilities included in other payables STARMEMEREEE
and accruals ZEREE 2,109,769
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SRR ITERMEMER 3,100,720
10,245,716
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

B RS SR YRR

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

41. ®ERIB S 2EM TR (&)

(continued)
2011 Group
Financial assets AEH
Financial
assets
Available- at fair value
for-sale Held-to- through
financial  Loans and maturity profit or Ioss
assets receivables investments
AfEHEE g3k BEZE Total
SREE EUEIE  DIERE EhL: FEe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ OOO HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET THET
Due from associates BENRIRR - 1,551 - - 1,551
Due from fellow subsidiaries R ZMIB AR - 69,390 - - 69,390
Due from the ultimate S Sy YN
holding company R - 22,056 - - 22,056
Due from the immediate HRERAA
holding company R - 165 - - 165
Due from related companies  B:E@ A AR - 4,076 - - 4,076
Due from non-controlling B T?FT’*
shareholders of subsidiaries PR ER R - 9,510 - - 9,510
Equity investments at fair value 32 A FEFIABE
through profit or loss ZIERRE - - - 15,016 15,016
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 203,104 - - - 203,104
Accounts and bills receivables EEHSZEE?K&%‘%E - 1,944,607 - - 1,944,607
Financial assets included in st AJARTRUE « %%
prepayments, deposits and &ﬁ@ﬁguﬂlmlﬁ
other receivables JEREE - 965857 - - 965857
Held-to-maturity investments ~ #8Z5|HHLE - - 58,044 - 58,044
Pledged deposits BEAER - 139,005 - - 139,005
Cash and cash equivalents BeReSFEER - 1,789,797 - - 1,789,797
203,104 4,946,014 58,044 15016 5,222,178
2011 20114 Group
Financial liabilities TRIBE ZKEI
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
. ~ cost
R SER AT (B
ZEmAasE
HK$'000
T
Due to associates NN B G 292,150
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGEINEINGIE ¢ 1,057,344
Due to the ultimate holding company REBEAERR A B FRIE 41,031
Due to related companies U VNGRS 884,130
Due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries /& B /& A 713 E1E AL A% B8 7008 58,498
Accounts and bills payables EREREAREE 1,558,708
Financial liabilities included in other payables EJrJKH\’rHJF’ﬂ HIEREFTEE
and accruals ZERas 2,157,813
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =T BIRTT Eﬁk HEMER 1,816,936
7,866,610
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. RERIE s 2EM T A (&)
(continued)

2012 Company
Financial assets VNN |
Financial
assets at fair
value through

Loans and profit or loss
receivables RAYE
BRR FIABEZ Total
P RE SMEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FExT FE&T
Due from subsidiaries ISIEVNEIVES 4,639,273 = 4,639,273
Due from the immediate HEERAA
holding company R 165 = 165
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEIAR 25,665 = 25,665
Equity investments at fair value BATEYABZE
through profit or loss ZHETIEE — 13,696 13,696
4,665,103 13,696 4,678,799
2012 Company
Financial liabilities RAH
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
BB KA FIE
Zemas
HK$’000
FExT
Due to subsidiaries KB R R FRIE 369,511
Financial liabilities included in other payables FFAEMENFIENETEE
and accruals ZE@AasE 90,303
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ETERITENK 1,219,000
1,678,814
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. RERE s 2€MIT A (&)

(continued)
2011 20114 Company
Financial assets PREE VN
Financial
assets at fair
Loans Held-to-  value through
and maturity profit or loss
receivables investments N ]
Xk BEE  JABHZ Total
FEMIE 3R E EREE w5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THIT THT
Due from subsidiaries )= YNGIUSA 4,407,291 - - 4,407,291
Due from the immediate ERERAT]

holding company KR 165 - - 165

Financial assets included in

SIABNOR - 28

prepayments, deposits and R H bl R
other receivables ZEREE 3115 - - 3,115
Cash and cash equivalents BeKReFEER 12,489 - - 12,489
Held-to-maturity investments BEERERE - 58,044 - 58,044
Equity investments at fair value ~ RAFEFIAER
through profit or loss ZREGRE - - 10,283 10,283
4,423,060 58,044 10,283 4,491,387
2011 20114 Company
Financial liabilities EHEE RAF]
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R SER AT B
ZemafE
HK$'000
FBT
Due to subsidiaries RSB R RFRIE 87,511
Financial liabilities included in other payables FTAHMENRIENETEE
and accruals ZemasE 61,640
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHESRITER 1,045,000
1,194,151
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42. AFERATFERER
M2011412H31H K 20124124 31

42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
As at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2012, the

carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments approximated to their fair values largely due to the

short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,

other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and

disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which any inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Assets measured at fair value:

Group

As at 31 December 2012

RN2012%12H31R

Equity investments at fair value &2 F(EFT ARBH
through profit or loss ZERBE

Level 1
Ea=lz
HK$’000
FTEx

18,746

B AEERALAESHTAZRE
EREQXFERSE  T2ARZFL
BB HEAREE o

TREENRBBZAFERZTAR
BRR 57 (MIFREIERHEE) &
AR5 NZAIR S EEBAK

DNHERR

NEBFRAATEREEMHES R
TAZRAYE:

C RRASEEXABENERET
B2 HmE (RERE) HE
ZAVE

L REERGAEZAYE
M FHERTTZAEBA
BEEEXEE/AUEBEREH
B UHEARQXFERS
EARE

BAEERDHEZAFE
M FhHERLDZAEHA
B IFERE A BRTISEE
(TAIBERBAE) B - I
HE ARQAFEABEAY
25

BATEFEZEE
A5

Level 2
B=E
HK$'000
THET

Level 3 Total
EZE et
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THER

18,746

As at 31 December 2011 2011412 A31H

Equity investments at fair value 122 FEzT AR
through profit or loss CHERIRE

Level 1
E—J=Z

HK$'000
Fb7t

15,016

Level 3 Total
F=E st
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT

Level 2
Eo[E
HK$'000
FAT

15,016
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. A FHERAFERER (&)

(continued)

AT

Company

R2012%12H31H

As at 31 December 2012
Level 1

E—I=

HK$'000

FTET

Level 2
BB
HK$’000
THET

Level 3 Total
E=[E @st
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET

Equity investments at fair value #RAFET AR

through profit or loss 2R 13,696 - - 13,696

As at 31 December 2011 MN2011F12A31H
Level 3 Total
F=E fmEt
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHL

Level 2
F_E
HK$'000
FAT

Level 1
=

HK$000
THET

Equity investments at fair value 122 F(EzT ABZ
through profit or loss 2R E

10,283

10,283

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2011: Nil).

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, and cash and bank
balances and time deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on minimising potential adverse effects of these risks,
with material impact, on the Group’s financial performance.
The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

FRN TVETMNBEF—EREE [
BAFEHEZENEE  RITES
“EEMNEARER (20114F : £) -

43, B EREEEREREE

AEBzETESR T ABETRRT
ERREMER - ARBRE RRITHE
HBEEHER - ZEeMTATEH
MR AKREZEBERES - &K
BEAETHEMEREERAE
W R M N AR (BEREAE X
BmEL) -

AREEzeMTAMEL 2 T ERE
RANERE  SNERR - FERR
ERBECRR AEEREBRARE
EBEFgETREER I ZFRAR (B
AEBZUBREBKRERTE) 2
BEMNEE BEFTEERLREE
BZFRRCHBOR - T o
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. Eﬁﬁ@pﬁﬁéfi BERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Interest rate risk == b
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest REBARZHOMSNEES 2 AkE
rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term and short term LY RAEBIRZEHFNEGE 2 K E
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates. FEHE EBHRITEE - AEEH 2 R E
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of the long FEHGERITEECERMERE
term and short term interest-bearing bank borrowings of the REA B TSR T 52 29 4% 5% -
Group are disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRETERA LM EEARSRES
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held TNEZIBERTARERTANERN (F
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact BEEEECHE) MK LG
on floating rate borrowings): BEE)  BURIEE -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
LENT in profit
points before tax
2B EH BATEF
(TB&)  #in CRD)
HK$'000
FHIT
2012 2012 %
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (17,692)
United States dollar ED 100 (3,712)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 17,692
United States dollar ETT (100) 3,712
2011 20114
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (14,500)
United States dollar ETT 100 (3,098)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 14,500
United States dollar ETT (100) 3,098
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. Eﬂﬁ@@%fiﬁ ERBUER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Foreign currency risk ShiE = b
The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and Hong KEBETERPRERERESEE -
Kong with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and MAEBEBREOEKEE BFE
transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, ERXSAEEET - ARBKET
Renminbi and United States dollars. The Group has not used HE - AEBEWENAEATEED
any derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk. SRS EL AT TE ¥ < AN B g o
The following table indicates the approximate change in the TRIR EEMEBEETENENR
Group’s profit before tax in response to reasonably possible T - ARG 2 B A ) BE FE 2 ] g8
changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has SEEF (AEERLEAREARE
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period with all FeEARER) <BHAOEE)E :

other variables held constant:

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
basis in profit
points before tax
=Y BArEF
R (THE) i (GRS
HK$'000
F&T

2012 2012 F
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BETAARE

against Renminbi Era =] 5 (45,450)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens EBTTREARE

against Renminbi HE (5) 45,450
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BEBILRETT

against the United States dollar 2B 5 (10,527)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens EBILHET

against the United States dollar FE (5) 10,527
2011 20114
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BEBTHARKE

against Renminbi BB 5 6,734
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens BETAARE

against Renminbi & (5) (6,734)
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BEBITLRET

against the United States dollar I 5 (14,262)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens BAETLAET

against the United States dollar & (5) 14,262
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit before tax measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.
The carrying amount of the accounts receivable represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policies are to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and to have available funding through bank and
other borrowings to meet its working capital requirements.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group
including interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts
due to fellow subsidiaries, an amount due to the ultimate
holding company, an amount due to the immediate holding
company, amounts due to related companies, amounts due
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and amounts
due to associates have been disclosed in notes 29, 38, and 20
to the financial statements. For accounts and bills payables,
they are generally on credit terms of one to three months
after the invoice date or the date of the six months after the
bills were issued. For the financial liabilities amounting to
HK$2,109,769,000 (2011: HK$2,157,813,000) included in
other payables and accruals disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position, there are generally no specified
contractual maturities for these liabilities, and they are paid on
a regular basis or upon the counterparty’s formal notification.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. Eﬂﬁ@@%fiﬁ ERBUER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESEE (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at RB|ERAR - AEEERELHRTE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual Nz e E&BERNT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group rEE
2012
20125
Less than l1to5

On demand 1 year years Total

BEA 1ER 1E5% &5t

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FHET FHET FHET

Due to associates Y A=YNCIE Q] 256,618 = = 256,618

Due to fellow subsidiaries RAZKEABRE 2,093,245 = - 2,093,245
Due to the ultimate holding RS A E]

companies R 58,211 = = 58,211

Due to related companies NGRS 769,944 = = 769,944
Due to non-controlling N IEVNGIE 32

shareholders of subsidiaries ~ FRARER A 37,728 = 27,675 65,403

Accounts and bills payables ~ FEfTERF R EE 77,706 1,714,100 - 1,791,806

Financial liabilities included in ~ FTAEMRERFIEK

other payables and accruals ~ EFTEEZEREE - 2,109,769 - 2,109,769
Interest-bearing bank and STERITERR

other borrowings HipEH 519,000 1,561,230 1,125,571 3,205,801

3,812,452 5,385,099 1,153,246 10,350,797
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Group (continued)

43. AR EEEEREE

(&
nEBESERE ()
AEE (H)

2011
20114
Less than 1to5

On demand 1 year years Total

G RAl 1ER 1E5% =5

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TET TET &L

Due to associates Y NETE 292,150 = = 292,150

Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGES=YNSIF/ el 1,057,344 = = 1,057,344
Due to the ultimate holding R A E]

companies RO 41,031 = = 41,031

Due to related companies Y NGIE R 884,130 = = 884,130
Due to non-controlling U IEVNGE 2

shareholders of subsidiaries ~ ARAX R IR 30,818 = 27,680 58,498

Accounts and bills payables ~ ERERFRREE 76,480 1,482,228 = 1,558,708

Financial liabilities included in st AR AN FRIBE K

other payables and accruals ~ fEFTEEZSFRARE - 2,157,813 = 2,157,813
Interest-bearing bank and STEBITERR

other borrowings Hi &% 545,000 688,732 614,664 1,848,396

2,926,953 4,328,773 642,344 7,898,070
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

ISR M

31 December 2012
2012412 A31 H

43. PHEBEEEEREE

(&

RBESEE (HF)

RBEHRR - ARBEERGHIRTRNR
ZEBAEIMERNT

Company ¥ NN
2012
20125
Less than l1to5

On demand 1 year years Total

BEA 1ER 1254 &5t

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FHET FHET FHET

Due to fellow subsidiaries ~ REIZHIEAAIFIE 369,511 = = 369,511
Financial liabilities included in &t AEL AR TRIE K

other payables and accruals EEtEEZEFAE = 90,303 = 90,303

Interest-bearing bank sHRERTT
borrowings g% 519,000 = 718,642 1,237,642
888,511 90,303 718,642 1,697,456
2011
20114
Less than 1tob

On demand 1 year years Total

ZEA 1FR 1555 =)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T TAT FAT

Due to fellow subsidiaries RARKIBABZRE 87,511 - - 87,511
Financial liabilities included in ~ &T AEARERFRIE K

other payables and accruals ~ EFTEEZ&RAE - 61,640 - 61,640

Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t S HRITER 545,000 200,602 312,138 1,057,740

632,511 262,242 312,138 1,206,891
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. Eﬁjﬁﬁlpﬁﬁéﬁﬁ BERBUR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for capital management
during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December
2011.

(&

AEBEEREANEZARIRER
SENBELLER N RBEFBRNE
AEE  UXEREEHEREEAL
BREE -

AEESRREEREZCEERLE
BREARRE  AEEXSHABINT
BRI B REEAR TR
BATHRD - BLE2012F 12 A31 H
R2011F12A31BILFEAN - BH#
BEAEENBR  BRIEEALEML

Group
REE
2012 2011
20125 20114
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =+2#R17TE R M HE R 3,100,720 1,816,936
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RENIRESEER (1,901,294) (1,789,797)
Net borrowing position FEEMR 1,199,426 27,139
Net assets attributable to owners of SARIEE AFEL
the parent FEE 6,805,135 6,669,623
Net gearing ratio R X 17.6% 0.4%
44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 44, BEHR 2 HE

STATEMENTS

IEHMARMN2013F3I A6 AKEFS
HUAE R SR AT -

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board on 26 March 2013.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFPBRE

AEEBEREMBRFECRENEE &
BRI EEMZ IREAE TR LR

S A

as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial TR e MW - BERNAEHNTX

statements, is set out below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILLEE

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
2012 F 20114 20104 2009 % 2008 F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET FET FHET FEIT
REVENUE KA 30,878,390 28,010,761 19,955,984 16,823,475 14,240,283
PROFIT FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES R RF 786,944 1,179,708 862,435 943,190 662,716
Finance costs BhE KA (70,241) (37,043) (45,425) (53,927) (31,382)
Share of profits of associates ~ JE{REEE A A% F 67,319 65,437 64,038 60,438 124,996
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREL AT SR 784,022 1,208,102 881,048 949,701 756,330
Income tax expense TSR Y (191,864)  (340,811)  (260,326)  (229,396)  (136,251)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERA 592,158 867,291 620,722 720,305 620,079
Attributable to: (R -
Owners of the parent SRRIER A 381,931 645,609 427,567 568,081 483,427
Non-controlling interests IR 210,227 221,682 193,155 152,224 136,652
592,158 867,291 620,722 720,305 620,079
ASSETS, LIABILITIES 5E - AffH
AND NON-CONTROLLING IR RS
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BmEE 20,212,181 18,329,983 14,974,970 12,495,840 10,447,863
TOTAL LIABILITIES mes (11,514,195) (9,816,186) (7,425,560) (5,610,701) (4,122,889)
NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS R RS (1,892,851) (1,844,174) (1,602,516) (1,402,240) (1,232,674)
6,805,135 6,669,623 5,946,894 5,482,899 5,092,300
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
B35 B 58

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS

Tuesday, 26 March 2013

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the
Annual General Meeting: Monday, 3 June 2013 to Tuesday, 4 June
2013 (both days inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Tuesday, 4 June 2013

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend: HK6.11 cents per share

Final Dividend: NIL
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